INVESTIGATING THE SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON CARDIOVASCULAR HEALTH

by

DAMSARA NANDADEVA

DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy at The University of Texas at Arlington August 2022

Arlington, Texas

Supervising Committee:

Paul J. Fadel, Supervising ProfessorR. Matthew BrothersRhonda D. PrisbyDaniel W. TrottFlorence P. Haseltine

ABSTRACT

Investigating the Short-term and Long-term Impact of COVID-19 on Cardiovascular Health

Damsara Nandadeva, Ph.D. The University of Texas at Arlington, 2022

Supervising Professor: Paul J. Fadel

Recent data indicates that the risk of developing cardiovascular disease (CVD) is augmented following coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Moreover, emerging data indicates that almost 50% of individuals who had COVID-19 experience persisting symptoms which are often debilitating, beyond the acute phase of the illness. This condition that is given the diagnosis post-acute sequalae of COVID-19 (PASC), also appears to be associated with cardiovascular complications. However, it is unclear what factors contribute to CVD risk following COVID-19 and PASC. Accordingly, the aim of this dissertation was to investigate potential factors that may contribute to adverse cardiovascular outcomes following COVID-19 with a focus on several key determinants of cardiovascular health, namely peripheral and cerebral vascular function, arterial stiffness, and blood pressure (BP). Given that young adults between 18 – 29 years account for almost 25% of the COVID-19 cases in the United States, study 1 and 2 focused on this population. In study 1, we tested the hypothesis that young, otherwise healthy adults who are beyond 4 weeks from a COVID-19 diagnosis would exhibit blunted peripheral and cerebral vasodilator function and increased central arterial stiffness compared with those who did not have COVID-19. The major novel findings from this study are that 1) peripheral macro- and microvascular vasodilator function are blunted in young adults still symptomatic from COVID-19, but not in those who were asymptomatic beyond the acute phase, and 2) cerebral vascular function and central arterial stiffness are unaffected beyond the acute phase irrespective of COVID-19 symptomology. Extending our findings, and those of others demonstrating detrimental effects of COVID-19 on vascular health in young adults, in study 2 we aimed to perform a comprehensive assessment of BP using ambulatory and laboratory techniques in this population. Findings from this study demonstrated that ambulatory and laboratory BP are higher in those closer to a COVID-19 diagnosis compared to those who are further out from diagnosis, suggesting a transient effect of COVID-19 to elevate BP in young adults. Finally, study 3 aimed to evaluate vascular health in PASC with a focus on investigating a potential link between cardiovascular health and symptomology. We show for the first time that patients with PASC have higher BP and central arterial stiffness whereas peripheral and cerebral vasodilator function appears to be unaffected. Moreover, although there were no associations between total symptom burden and measures of vascular function, we found that resting cerebral blood flow was inversely correlated with the severity of brain fog with those with the greatest severity of brain fog having the lowest cerebral blood flow. Collectively, the work described herein provides novel insight into the impact of COVID-19 on key determinants of cardiovascular health that may contribute to the greater CVD risk following COVID-19 in young adults and in PASC.

Copyright

by

Damsara Nandadeva

2022

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my mentor, Dr. Paul Fadel for his continuous support and the opportunities he provided me with during my time in his lab. His guidance and mentorship have been instrumental to my accomplishments during the past 4 years.

My sincere thanks go to my committee members, Drs. Matt Brothers, Rhonda Prisby, Dan Trott, and Florence Haseltine for their support and feedback on my dissertation. I would also like to thank all the other faculty of the Department of Kinesiology. The knowledge, inspiration, and insights I gained from them will no doubt advance my carrier as an academic.

Many thanks go to all the past and present lab members and colleagues for not only their intellectual contribution, support, and feedback on my work but also for making my time here fun and enjoyable. I will always cherish their friendships.

A special note of appreciation goes to our collaborators on this project Dr Angela Middleton from the UTA Health Center, Dr. Surendra Barshikar and Stephanie Georgoudiou from UTSW COVID Recover Clinic for their efforts in participant recruitment and Dr. Yaewon Seo from the College of Nursing and Health Innovation for her assistance with data collection.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my family back home in Sri Lanka, especially my father, who made me what I am today, and all the friends and family here who made me feel at home in Texas. Of course, a special note of appreciation goes to my loving husband Venura for his unwavering support throughout this journey.

Last but not the least, I wish to thank all those who volunteered their time to participate in the studies.

v

Table of Contents

List of Abbreviations	viii
CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF LITERATURE	4
Determinants of Cardiovascular Health	4
Vascular Function	5
Arterial Stiffness	14
Blood Pressure	17
Cardiovascular Health and COVID-19	20
Cardiovascular Health During the Acute Phase of COVID-19	22
Cardiovascular Health Beyond the Acute Phase of COVID-19	24
Post-Acute Sequalae of COVID-19/ Post-Covid Condition/ Long COVID	26
Cardiovascular Health in PASC	28
Conclusion	30
CHAPTER 3: BLUNTED PERIPHERAL BUT NOT CEREBRAL VASODILATOR	ł
FUNCTION IN YOUNG OTHERWISE HEALTHY ADULTS WITH PERSISTEN'	T 21
Abstract	32
New and Noteworthy	32
Introduction	3/
Methods	35
Results	30
Discussion	57
Conclusion	۲۲ 12
Tables and Figures	4 5
CHAPTER 4: IMPACT OF COVID 10 ON AMBLIL ATORY BLOOD PRESSURE	тт INI
YOUNG ADULTS: A CROSS-SECTIONAL ANALYSIS INVESTIGATING TIME	Ē
SINCE DIAGNOSIS	48
Abstract	49
	50

Introduction	51
Methods	52
Results	57
Discussion	59
Perspectives and Significance	62
Tables and Figures	64
CHAPTER 5: CARDIOVASCULAR HEALTH IN POST-ACUTE SEQUALAE OF	
COVID-19 (PASC) AND THE INFLUENCE OF SYMPTOM BURDEN	70
Abstract	71
New and Noteworthy	72
Introduction	73
Methods	75
Results	80
Discussion	82
Conclusion	86
Tables and Figures	87
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	94
References	99

List of Abbreviations

ACE	Angiotensin Converting Enzyme
ACE2	Angiotensin Converting Enzyme-2
AIx	Augmentation Index
ANCOVA	Analysis of Covariance
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ARB	Angiotensin Receptor Blocker
ARV	Average Real Variability
ASYM	Asymptomatic
AT1R	Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor
AT2R	Angiotensin Type 2 Receptor
AUC	Area Under the Curve
BH ₄	Tetrahydrobiopterin
BMI	Body Mass Index
BP	Blood Pressure
CA	Cerebral Autoregulation
CBF	Cerebral Blood Flow
CO ₂	Carbon Dioxide
COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease 2019
CV	Coefficient of Variation
CVCi	Cerebrovascular Conductance Index
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
CVMR	Cerebral Vasomotor Reactivity
DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure
eNOS	Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase
ET-1	Endothelin -1
ETA	Endothelin A
ETB	Endothelin B
FMD	Flow-Mediated Dilation
GMP	Guanosine Monophosphate
GTP	Guanosine Triphosphate
HCO ₃	Bicarbonate
HDL	High Density Lipoprotein
HR	Heart Rate
hsCRP	High Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein

IL	Interleukin
INF-γ	Interferon - gamma
LDL	Low Density Lipoprotein
LLFDI	Late Life Function and Disability Instrument
MAP	Mean Arterial Pressure
MCA	Middle Cerebral Artery
MERS	Middle East Respiratory Syndrome
MET	Metabolic Equivalent
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
NDRI	Norepinephrine–Dopamine Reuptake Inhibitor
NO	Nitric Oxide
O ₂	Oxygen
OTC	Over the counter
PASC	Post-acute Sequalae of COVID-19
$P_{\text{ET}}CO_2$	Partial Pressure of End-tidal Carbon Dioxide
PWA	Pulse Wave Velocity
PWV	Pulse Wave Analysis
QOL	Quality of Life
RAS	Renin-Angiotensin System
RBD	Receptor Binding Domain
RH	Reactive Hyperemia
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RT-PCR	Reverse Transcription-Polymerase Chain Reaction
SARS	Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome
SARS-CoV-1	Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-1
SARS-CoV-2	Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure
SD	Standard Deviation
SF-12	12 Item Short Form Survey
SNRI	Serotonin and Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitor
SNS	Sympathetic Nervous System
SSRI	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor
SYM	Symptomatic
TCD	Transcranial Doppler
TMPRSS2	Transmembrane Serene Protease 2
TNF- α	Tumor Necrosis Factor - alpha

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus -2 (SARS-CoV-2), was first reported among humans in December 2019 (1), and declared a global pandemic by March 2020 (2). As of July 2022, over 560 million cases and more than 6 million deaths from COVID-19 have been reported globally (3). Under the assumption that the pandemic would be considerably under control by fall 2021, the overall direct and indirect cost of COVID-19 in the United States was anticipated to be over \$16 trillion, a number that is likely to have far exceeded today given the ongoing nature of the pandemic. Importantly, due to improved treatment strategies for the acute illness, vaccines that reduce the severity of illness, and emergence of less virulent variants, over 98% of those infected with COVID-19 survive the acute illness (4). However, recent data has shown that individuals who had COVID-19 and are beyond the first month after infection are at an elevated risk for development of cardiovascular disease (CVD) including heart disease, cerebrovascular diseases, and peripheral vascular diseases (5). Importantly, CVD is already the leading cause of morbidity and mortality globally (6), and in the United States (7). Thus, there is an urgent need to better understand the impact of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health and its potential to become a novel risk factor for CVD.

An important prerequisite to development of CVD is compromised vascular health (8–10). Notably, it has become increasingly apparent that SARS-CoV-2 can cause detrimental effects on the vasculature (11). Indeed, although first identified as an acute respiratory illness, early clinical and autopsy reports revealed that COVID-19 is a systemic illness which also affects the cardiovascular system (12–19). Cardiovascular complications such as thrombosis, myocardial infarction, and stroke were frequently observed during the acute phase of the illness even in young otherwise healthy individuals (12–19). However,

whether the potential detrimental effects of COVID-19 on the vascular system persists beyond the acute illness is not yet fully understood.

Accumulating data indicates that up to 50% of individuals, including those who had only mild-moderate acute illness, experience new, ongoing or returning symptoms from COVID-19 for months to years (20). While this condition still lacks a universal definition, it has been referred by several terms including "long COVID", "post-COVID condition", and a diagnosis of "post-acute sequalae of COVID-19" (PASC) (21). Many of these patients experience debilitating symptoms that affect their daily activities and quality of life (22–25). Notably, cardiovascular symptoms and complications are also reported among many PASC patients (24, 26). However, whether vascular health is compromised in PASC and the potential link between cardiovascular health and persistent symptomology is yet to be determined.

In summary, the burden of COVID-19 extends beyond the health effects of the acute illness. Almost half of those who had COVID-19 continue to experience ongoing health complications that impact their daily life, and moreover, those who had COVID-19 are at a higher risk for developing CVD. Given the substantial number of individuals who have had COVID-19 and the continuing endemic nature of the virus, it is important to begin to understand the possible factors that may contribute to the long-term health consequences of COVID-19, and factors that may increase the risk of CVD following COVID-19. Herein, the overall goal of this dissertation is to explore the potential persistent impact of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health. In order to achieve this, in chapter 2, several key determinants of cardiovascular health that are being explored in the subsequent studies in this dissertation [i.e., vascular function, arterial stiffness and blood pressure (BP)] are discussed. Factors that influence above determinants of cardiovascular health and methodologies used to evaluate them in the dissertation studies are discussed in detail. The

latter half of Chapter 2 will discuss the current literature on the impact of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health and these key determinants of cardiovascular health. The studies in this dissertation are focused on young healthy adults who had COVID-19 and patients with PASC. Notably, given that COVID-19 initially appeared to be affecting predominantly older individuals and those with comorbidities, early studies investigating the health effects of COVID-19 were primarily in this population. However, young adults between the ages of 18-29 years account for almost one-fourth of the COVID-19 cases in the United States (27). Thus, Chapter 3 and 4 are focused on this age group that has been understudied. Specifically, Chapter 3 investigates the persisting effects of COVID-19 on peripheral and cerebral vascular function and central arterial stiffness in young otherwise healthy adults. Given the importance of high BP as a risk factor for other CVDs, Chapter 4 will explore the influence of time since COVID-19 diagnosis on ambulatory and laboratory measured BP in young adults. Lastly, Chapter 5 explores the impact of PASC on cardiovascular health with an emphasis on the relationship between measures of vascular health and persistent symptomology. Collectively, findings from these studies will provide novel information that is pertinent to understanding the impact of COVID-19 and PASC on longterm cardiovascular health.

CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

CVD including coronary heart disease, heart failure, hypertension, and stroke affects almost 50% of the population over the age of 20 year, and is the number one cause of death globally as well as in the United States (7). Traditional risk factors for the development of CVD are numerous and are categorized as modifiable (e.g., smoking, physical activity) and non-modifiable (e.g., age, sex, family history) factors. Beyond traditional risk factors, accumulating research in the past few decades has identified that certain infections may lead to a greater risk of CVD (28). In this regards, recent data suggests that individuals who had the novel viral infection coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus -2 (SARS-CoV-2), are at an elevated risk for development of CVD (5). This review will focus on discussing several key determinants of cardiovascular health that may contribute to augmenting the risk of CVD following COVID-19, and the current evidence on the impact of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health.

Determinants of Cardiovascular Health

Emerging evidence suggests that a potential first step in the development of CVDs through any risk factor is a pathological insult on the vasculature that causes alteration in normal vascular function (i.e., vascular dysfunction) and structure (8). The general constituents of a blood vessel are similar throughout the arterial tree although changes are observed in the relative amount and arrangement of these constituents based on the functional demand. Notably, each of the different cellular elements possess different

function. For example, the structural proteins collagen and elastin provide tensile strength and elasticity. Vascular smooth muscle cell contraction and relaxation cause vasoconstriction and dilation respectively, which maintains vascular tone. Connective tissue harbors the nerve endings and vasa vasorum for extrinsic control of blood vessels and nutrition, respectively. One of the most important component of the vascular wall is the endothelium, which is addition to its barrier function, is capable of responding to various physical and chemical signals and produce molecules that are vital for the regulation of vascular tone, inflammation, and also cause structural remodeling (29).

Vascular Function

Although blood vessels serve a multitude of functions, dysregulation in the intricate balance between vasodilators and vasoconstrictors that maintain vascular tone is often referred to as vascular dysfunction. Thus, for the purpose of this review, vascular function and dysfunction will refer to normal and altered vascular tone, respectively. Together with vascular smooth muscle cells, the vascular endothelium plays a crucial role in regulating vascular tone by responding to chemical and physical stimuli that activate cellular pathways that produce vasoactive molecules (29, 30). Under basal conditions, vascular tone maintains a slight vasodilatory state that ensures adequate tissue perfusion and maintains vascular resistance and systemic blood pressure (BP). Any adverse insult on the vasoactive agents generally tips the balance in favor of vasoconstriction and thus could compromise vascular health and tissue perfusion. In general, vascular tone is regulated by similar pathways across all vascular beds, although there some specific differences exist depending on the function and metabolic needs of the tissues. (29, 31).

Peripheral Vascular Function

Modulators of Peripheral Vascular Function

One of the most potent regulators of vascular tone is nitric oxide (NO). NO is produced by endothelial cells from the amino acid L-arginine by the enzymatic action of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) primarily in response to shear stress. NO is constitutively produced by the endothelium and freely diffuses to vascular smooth muscle cells. Within the vascular smooth muscles, NO activates guanylate cyclase to convert guanosine triphosphate (GTP) to cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP), which activates a cascade of phosphorylation reaction that ultimately causes smooth muscle relaxation and vasodilation. Under basal physiological conditions, NO is the primary vasoactive molecule that maintains vascular tone in favor of vasodilation, which means that when NO activity/bioavailability is reduced, it results in impaired vasodilation and/or unopposed vasoconstriction by other vasoactive molecules (30, 32). NO bioavailability can be reduced due to unavailability of substrate (L-arginine) or other co factors (e.g., BH₄) in the signaling pathway, reduced expression of eNOS, and/or increased inactivation of NO. Importantly, all of these alterations in NO pathway are known to be caused by inflammation and oxidative stress (10). It should also be noted that beyond its role in maintain vascular tone, NO possesses other vaso-protective properties such as inhibition of smooth muscle proliferation and leukocyte adhesion, and exerting anti- thrombotic, and anti-inflammatory effects (33).

While NO is one of the most important regulators of vascular tone, the endothelium produces other vasoactive molecules that help maintain the balance between vasoconstriction and dilation, among which endothelin 1 (ET-1), produced mainly by endothelial cells, is one of the most potent vasoconstrictors (34). The actions of ET-1 are transduced by 2 distinct receptor subtypes ET_A and ET_B which, depending on the location

can exert opposing effects. ET_A receptors are highly expressed in vascular smooth muscle cells whereas ET_B receptors are found on both vascular smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells, though the latter is the primary site. Activation of ET_A and ET_B receptors on the vascular smooth muscle cells, induce vasoconstriction whereas when ET_B receptors on endothelial cells are stimulated vasodilation results (35, 36). Thus, the net effect depends on the predominant action, which under basal conditions is a tendency towards vasoconstrictions which contributes to maintaining vascular tone together with the vasodilators. Upregulation of ET-1 expression and changes in sensitivity of different ET-1receptors under pathological conditions leads to greater vasoconstriction and vascular dysfunction (37).

In addition to intrinsic mechanism, another important moderator of vascular function in health and disease is the renin-angiotensin-system (RAS). The classical RAS, as was discovered over 100 years ago consists of several steps starting with the enzyme renin that is secreted by the juxtaglomerular apparatus of the kidney primarily in response to reduced renal blood pressure and salt delivery to the macula densa (38). Renin converts angiotensinogen, a glycoprotein secreted by the liver, to the decapeptide angiotensin I (Ang I). Ang I is then converted to active form angiotensin II (Ang II) by angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) found primarily but not exclusively in the pulmonary endothelial cells (39). Ang II is a vasoconstrictor that under basal conditions, exerts a modest effect (38). Notably, recent advances in research in this area has identified alternate pathways in the RAS as well as components of the RAS in different tissues (i.e., the "local" RAS) such as the heart, vessels, and brain with actions that extend beyond regulation of fluid and blood pressure (40). For example, in addition to causing vasoconstriction, Ang II, acting via angiotensin type 1 receptors (AT1R), have shown to increase oxidative stress, inflammation, fibrosis, and remodeling of the vasculature all outcomes that would lead to the development of

vascular dysfunction (40). In animal models, Ang II has also been shown to act via angiotensin type 2 receptors (AT2R) and oppose the deleterious actions of AT1R activation; the role of AT2R in humans is still unclear (39). Importantly, an alternate pathway that counter-regulates the actions of Ang II was also discovered recently, in which angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), a receptor found on many cells including endothelial cells, plays a pivotal role (41, 42). ACE2 converts Ang II to Ang (1-7), a peptide molecule that is anti-inflammatory, antifibrotic, antiproliferative, antiangiogenic, and increases vasodilation, and therefore counteracts the effects of Ang II and acts to promote vascular health (43–45).

A second important extrinsic factor that influences vascular tone in health and disease is the sympathetic nervous system (SNS). The SNS is primarily involved in shortterm regulation of vasomotor tone and thereby BP in the phase of various physiological or pathological conditions via reflex mechanisms, although increasing evidence indicates it is also involved in long-term BP regulation (46). The end result of sympathetic activation is norepinephrine-mediated vasoconstriction by activation of α_1 adrenergic receptors on vascular smooth muscle cells. Hence, heightened central sympathetic activity and/or heightened signal transduction at the level of the vasculature (i.e., sympathetic vascular transduction) leads to augmented vascular tone. Importantly, given the systemic nature of the response, augmented vascular tone due to elevated SNS activity results in not only local but also elevated systemic vascular resistance. Recent evidence indicates that the interaction between other vasoactive compounds and the SNS is highly complex and modulates vascular function via both central and peripheral mechanisms (47). For example, on one hand, NO has been shown to inhibit central sympathetic outflow (48) whereas on the other hand, circulating norepinephrine via endothelial adrenergic receptors can stimulate the release of NO. Experimental evidence also indicates that ET-1 can stimulated

SNS activity both centrally and peripherally, although studies in humans are limited (49). Furthermore, Ang II has also been shown to potentiate SNS activity both centrally and peripherally by direct and indirect mechanisms (50). Collectively, these findings provide clear evidence for the complex interactions between SNS activity and vascular function.

Notably, peripheral vascular dysfunction as evidenced by impaired NO-mediated vasodilation has been consistently detected in populations at risk of CVDs such as patients with hypercholesterolemia (51, 52), hypertension (53, 54), obesity and insulin resistance (55), in smokers (56), in ageing (57), and in those with a family history of premature CVD (53, 58, 59). Indeed, vascular dysfunction is considered to be the primary insult that leads to the development of atherosclerosis. Although NO pathway is the one that has been investigated more frequently, heightened vasoconstriction due to overactive ET-1 system has also been implicated in the peripheral vascular dysfunction observed with some CVD risk factors such as obesity, insulin resistance, hypertension, and aging (37). Moreover, inhibiting the actions of Ang II has been shown to improve endothelial function in hypertension and diabetes (60). Furthermore, studies have shown an inverse relationship between markers of SNS activity and vascular function in healthy adults (61, 62) and CVDs and CVD risk conditions that are characterized by peripheral vascular dysfunction (63) are also accompanied by heightened sympathetic activity (47). These findings collectively provide robust evidence for the role of peripheral vascular dysfunction in the development of CVD.

Assessment of Peripheral Vascular Function

Peripheral vascular function is assessed by invasive and non-invasive techniques that usually involve administration of vasoactive substances or inducing shear stress. One technique that is widely used in the research setting is flow-mediated dilation (FMD) test

using duplex Doppler ultrasound (64, 65). The FMD test involves measurement of brachial artery diameter before and after a shear stress stimulus on the artery induced by rapid inflation of a forearm cuff to a suprasystolic pressure for 5 min (64). Since the method was introduced in 1992 by Celermajer et al. (66), FMD technique has gained popularity due to its non-invasive nature and ability to carry out an *in vivo* assessment of macrovascular and microvascular function. In addition, and probably more importantly, brachial artery FMD% (i.e., the percent increase in brachial artery diameter following cuff release) has been repeatedly shown to be correlated with coronary artery endothelial function (67, 68) and independently predicts future cardiovascular events in those with and without preexisting CVD (69–74). Indeed, on a population basis, a 1% reduction in brachial artery FMD has been shown to increase the risk of cardiovascular events by 9 - 17% (71), highlighting the value of FMD in assessment of vascular health and CVD risk. Notably, it has been demonstrated that the dilation of the brachial artery following release of the cuff is at least in part mediated by NO, the contribution of which is greater with a forearm cuff occlusion compared to a upper arm occlusion though the CVD predictive value is greater with the test performed with an upper arm cuff(75).

In addition to providing the means for assessing macrovascular function, the FMD test can also be used to quantify microvascular function (76, 77). As detailed above, a transient period of ischemia is applied on the forearm during the test, which leads to metabolic vasodilation in the forearm microvasculature and generates a reactive hyperemia (RH) after the ischemia is released (76). With the availability of duplex Doppler ultrasound, this RH can be quantified when recording data post cuff release. To date, it is not clear what the best measure of RH is. Indeed, studies showing impaired microvascular function in clinical populations and/or with exposure to potential risk factors have expressed RH as both the blood flow response (78, 79) and blood velocity response (80–83). Notably

though, RH expressed as the blood velocity response appears to be the measure that is predictive of future cardiovascular disease risk (81–83).

Cerebral Vascular Function

Modulators of Cerebral Vascular Function

Cerebral blood flow (CBF) is tightly regulated by overlapping mechanisms to ensure optimal delivery of nutrients and oxygen and removal of waste products in a tight space within the cranial cavity (84, 85). An important mechanism by which CBF is regulated is via changing vasomotor tone. In this regard, arterial partial pressure of O_2 (PaO₂) and carbon dioxide (PaCO₂) are two primary regulators of cerebral vascular tone (86, 87). In fact, CO₂ is known to be the most potent vasodilators of the cerebral vasculature in humans. Elevated PaCO₂ (hypercapnia) increases cerebral blood flow by causing vasodilation while reduced PaCO₂ (hypocapnia) leads to vasoconstriction (86, 88). This effect is observed throughout the cerebral vasculature including both intracranial and extracranial vessels although with different levels of reactivity (88). Notably, the effect of PaCO₂ on cerebral blood flow is indirect in that CO₂ diffuses across the blood brain barrier, and then is converted to H⁺ and HCO₃⁻ via the action of carbonic anhydrase (89). The resulting change in pH in the cerebral perivascular tissue is responsible for the changes in cerebral vascular tone (90–92).

The exact cellular mechanisms and signaling pathways that are involved in cerebral vasomotor reactivity (CVMR) to CO_2 are complex and appear to show redundancy(87), which is not unexpected given the importance of tight regulation of CBF. Although this complex interplay between different pathways haven't been fully elucidated yet, endothelial dependent mechanisms similar to those involved in regulation of peripheral vascular function have been found to be important in the cerebral vasculature (85, 87). For

example, studies have shown that administration of a NO donor (93) or L-arginine (94) improves cerebral vascular reactivity to CO₂ in humans, indicating a role of NO. Several other signaling pathways including adenosine, prostaglandins, and arachidonic acids, have been implicated to play a role in regulating cerebral vascular tone in studies that utilized primarily in-vitro models or animal models, However, their exact role in humans need to be fully elucidated. (87). In addition to metabolic vasodilation, the cerebral vasculature is capable of responding to changes in intravascular pressure, whereby increased pressure causes an intrinsic myogenic contraction while decreased pressure causes relaxation, thus leading to vasoconstriction and dilation respectively. This response is mediated via stretch sensitive calcium channels, that increase or decrease intracellular calcium concentrations in vascular smooth muscle cells (95). Myogenic regulation of vascular tone is fundamental in cerebral autoregulation, which is another important aspect of cerebral vascular function.

Importantly, cerebral vasodilator function has been demonstrated to be blunted in populations at risk of cerebrovascular diseases such as obesity (96), hypercholesterolemia (97), diabetes (98, 99), hypertension (99), aging (100), and dementia (101), although some inconsistencies in these finding have been reported especially with regards to aging and hypertension (87). However, despite some inconsistencies in findings in certain populations, it is apparent that cerebral vascular function is impaired in most preclinical populations at an elevated risk for adverse cerebrovascular outcomes. It is also well-established that reduced CVMR is predictive of future risk of stroke and mortality in patients with existing steno-occlusive disease (102, 103). Interestingly, to date, these findings have not been replicated in individuals without carotid stenosis (103), which stimulates some discussion regarding the value of assessing CVMR to determine future risk of cerebrovascular events in healthy populations. However, there is little debate over the fact that impaired cerebral vascular function is associated with CVD.

Assessment of Cerebral Vascular Function

While different methods exist to measure cerebral vascular function, given the profound impact of CO₂ on cerebral vasodilator function, CVMR to CO₂ measured as the magnitude of the change in cerebral blood flow or cerebrovascular conductance to a unit change in PaCO₂, is frequently used to quantify cerebral vasodilator function. The methods utilized to induce changes in PaCO₂ and imaging modalities used to measure cerebral blood flow are numerous (87, 104). For example, changes in PaCO₂ can be elicited by administration of acetazolamide (carbonic anhydrase inhibitor) (105–108), breath holding (109–111), administration of a known concentration of CO₂ in inspired air (103, 111, 112), and CO₂ rebreathing (96, 112–117). Given that the equipment required to perform rebreathing-induced hypercapnia are less expensive and readily available compared to some of the other techniques, this technique is quite frequently used to induce hypercapnia (87). In addition, due to the gradual increase in PaCO₂ that occurs with the participant rebreathing their expired air, when used in conjunction with a hyperventilation trial, this technique allows for the exploration of the dynamic relationship between change in CO₂ and cerebral blood flow across a wide range of PaCO₂.

Transcranial doppler (TCD) ultrasound is frequently utilized to measure the blood flow response to CVMR (118, 119). TCD allows the user to measure from large intracranial vessels such as the middle cerebral, anterior cerebral, basilar, and posterior cerebral arteries. One caveat with TCD ultrasound is that current systems allow for the measurement of only blood velocity and not vessel diameter in a B-mode image, and thus is unable to quantify the actual blood flow. Therefore, blood velocity is used as a surrogate for blood flow with the assumption that the diameter of the larger intracranial vessels does not change. While this assumption holds true during small changes in CO₂ (120–123), recent studies with high resolution MRI has shown that the diameter may change with larger changes in CO₂ (120, 124, 125), and therefore it should be kept in mind that cerebral blood velocity measured during hyper- or hypocapnia using TCD may not be proportional to blood flow at certain magnitude changes of $P_{ET}CO_2$.

Arterial Stiffness

Modulators of Arterial Stiffness

Arterial stiffening can be defined as a reduced ability of the vessel to expand and contract in response to pressure changes, or in other words, reduced compliance. Stiffening of vessels occur as a result of complex interactions between structural and functional changes that occur in the vessel, which are influenced by intrinsic and extrinsic factors. (126). Collagen and elastin are the primary constituents that provide tensile strength and elasticity, respectively. By design, the larger central arteries that provide a cushioning effect on peripheral vessels by dampening the pressure oscillation of ventricular ejection (i.e., Windkessel effect) are rich in elastin, and thus have lower stiffness (i.e., greater compliance) compared to peripheral vessels that contain more collagen. However, an imbalance in the amount and functional capacity of these proteins will increase arterial stiffness (126).

In addition to structural changes, vascular function also contributes to arterial stiffness. Indeed, studies from animal models that utilized pharmacological methods to increase or decrease NO bioavailability suggest that NO is a determinant of arterial stiffness (127), although findings from human experiments have been equivocal. For example, administration of a NO donor has been shown to improves artery elasticity (128, 129), while inhibition of endogenous NO-production by an eNOS inhibitor has also been shown to decreased stiffness in the brachial artery (129), indicating a direct effect of NO on stiffness. However, others have shown that in the aorta, the increase in stiffness observed following inhibition of eNOS was abolished when BP was controlled. (130). While these studies assessed changes in arterial stiffness acutely, given the role of NO in vascular remodeling, it is possible that chronic NO deficiency may also influence arterial stiffness by causing structural changes. Moreover, recent studies have identified a role of dysregulated vascular smooth muscle contraction in arterial stiffness (131). Collectively, these data suggest that arterial stiffness in influenced by several factors with a potentially variable outcome in different vascular beds.

Overwhelming evidence indicates that central arterial stiffness, is a strong independent predictor of future cardiovascular events and mortality in high-risk and low risk populations (132, 133). Interestingly though, the relationship between arterial stiffness and common risk factors for CVD such as obesity, hypercholesterolemia, diabetes, and smoking appears to be weak and less consistent, whereas, age and BP have been consistently shown to be strongly associated with stiffness (134). This suggests that the predictive value of arterial stiffness is likely due to factors related to arterial aging and hypertension more than other risk factors. Indeed, it is well-known that aging is the strongest risk factor for arterial stiffening. However, the cause-and-effect relationship between arterial stiffness and BP is still a topic of much debate. For example, acute increases in BP have been shown to increase arterial stiffness under experimental conditions (130) indicating that BP affects arterial stiffness. However, findings from longitudinal assessments on the temporal relationship between central arterial stiffness and incident hypertension indicates that arterial stiffness predates the development of hypertension (135–137). Overall, it is apparent that arterial stiffness and BP are tightly linked and interrelated, and thus both are important aspects of cardiovascular health.

Assessment of Arterial Stiffness

Among several methods used to assess arterial stiffness, two measures that are frequently used are pulse wave velocity (PWV), and pulse wave analysis (PWA). PWV is defined as the time taken for a pressure pulse to travel between two points, is a technique that is widely used both in the clinical setting as well as research setting (138–140). Higher PWV is indicative of greater stiffness. Notably, carotid-femoral PWV which is used as a surrogate for aortic PWV, has been shown to independently predict future risk of cardiovascular events, target organ damage, and mortality in those with and without preexisting risk factors across the lifespan (132, 137, 141). Carotid-femoral PWV is thus considered the gold standard for the assessment of arterial stiffness (138, 140). While the true aortic PWV can be measured using intra-arterial catheters or magnetic resonance imaging (140, 142), these techniques are invasive and/or expensive. However, carotid-femoral PWV can also be measured by other simple non-invasive techniques (139, 140, 143). Importantly, these methods show good reproducibility and have been validated against the direct measures (144–147).

Another parameter that is frequently used as an index of arterial stiffness is the augmentation index (AIx) through PWA. AIx is derived from the ascending aortic pressure waveform, and is defined as the difference between the second systolic peak (caused by the reflected wave) and first systolic peak (caused by the forward wave), expressed as a percentage of the pulse pressure (139). AIx is well known to be affected by heart rate, and thus should be corrected for differences in heart rate between participants (148, 149). Even though AIx is often reported as a measure of arterial stiffness the arterial waveform is affected by not only arterial factors but also cardiac factors (140, 150). Therefore it is recommended that AIx is used as an indirect measure of arterial stiffness (140).

Blood Pressure

Regulation of BP is likely one of the most complex physiological processes of the body and undoubtedly one of the most important. Indeed, in health, BP is tightly regulated to ensure appropriate perfusion of vital organs under different physiological and pathological conditions in the short-term and long-term. A multitude of mechanisms are involved in the regulation of BP, and therefore, there are many different factors that contribute to the pathophysiology of hypertension, all of which are still not well understood (151). However, BP is maintained via a balance between cardiac output and peripheral resistance, thus factors that affect these two components will alter BP. As briefly discussed in the preceding sections, there is a complex interaction between vascular function, arterial stiffness, and sympathetic nervous system activity, and dysregulation of each alone or collectively can lead to elevated vascular resistance, and/or changes in cardiac function. Thus all these derangements in the cardiovascular system have been implicated in the pathogenesis of hypertension (151-154). Indeed, in supporting this hypothesis, endothelial dysfunction (53, 59), arterial stiffness (135-137), and augmented sympathetic activity (155, 156) have been shown to precede hypertension in populations at risk of developing hypertension.

High BP is one of the strongest risk factors for the development of almost all other CVD (7). For example, data from a comprehensive meta-analysis on prospective observational studies of BP and mortality showed that risk of CVD increases in a log-linear fashion starting from BP values as low as 115 systolic BP and 75 diastolic BP in adults 40 – 89 years (157). From this study, it was also revealed that a 20 mmHg higher systolic BP or 10 mmHg higher diastolic BP was associated with at least a 2-fold higher risk of death from CVD in those between 40 – 69 years, and (157). Notably, similar findings have been observed in studies in young adults 18 years and above, in that systolic and diastolic BP

values above normal BP as per the guidelines (158) was found to be associated with a graded increase in risk of CV events (159). Importantly, although many factors can affect BP, if detected early, high BP is a modifiable risk factor. Indeed, a 10 mmHg reduction in systolic BP has been shown to reduce the risk of cardiovascular events by up to 20% and all-cause mortality by 13%, an association that was observed even in the presence of baseline BP below 130 mmHg (160). Collectively, these findings highlight the importance of early detection of high BP and the need to monitor BP over time in all age groups irrespective of the baseline BP.

Although it is usually measured intermittently, BP is a continuous variable that is regulated via complex interaction between internal cardiovascular regulatory mechanisms and external stimuli. Thus, fluctuations in BP, termed BP variability is a physiological phenomenon that maintains cardiovascular homeostasis and can be observed on a beat-to-beat basis as well as over the course of a day (i.e. day to night variability) (161, 162). Notably, beyond the risk of CVD associated with elevated means systolic and diastolic BP values, beat-to-beat and 24-hr BP variability has been shown to be independently predictive of cardiovascular outcome and target organ damage (163–165). Moreover, elevated BP variability has been demonstrated in normotensive healthy individuals at a greater risk for hypertension and CVD such as Black individuals (166, 167), indicating that augmented BP variability may precede the development of high BP. Thus, assessment of BP should include the measurement of mean systolic and diastolic BP as well as BP variability both in the clinical and research settings.

Assessment of Blood Pressure

Laboratory BP

Blood pressure measurement in the laboratory is performed using manual or automated devices and is frequently measured at the brachial artery. Participant should be seated or supine, and relaxed and rested before obtaining measurements. It is recommended that the first measurement is discarded due to possibility of obtaining an erroneous reading, and an average of ≥ 2 measurements taken 1 -2 min apart should be considered as the resting BP (168, 169). In addition to resting intermittent BP measurements, non-invasive beat-to-beat BP monitoring using finger photoplethysmography is a valuable tool that allows for the assessment of dynamic changes in BP at rest as well as during various perturbations used to assess cardiovascular and autonomic control mechanisms (170). However, one important consideration to be aware of is that the non-invasive beat-to-beat BP measurement devices that are widely available (e.g., Finometer) measure the BP at the finger and reconstructs a brachial pressure using a height-correction, the accuracy of which has been questioned (171). Thus, these measurements are more suited for quantifying changes in BP rather than absolute BP.

Ambulatory BP

Ambulatory BP measurement is usually carried out using automated portable BP monitors that are programmed to obtain BP measurements at a pre-defined interval throughout a continuous 24-hr period (172, 173). Measurement of BP over an extended period of time provides important information beyond that can be obtained by BP measurement during a single or multiple intermittent visits. For example, 24-hr ambulatory BP monitoring identifies phenomena such as "white coat hypertension" (i.e., elevated BP only in an office/clinic setting), "masked hypertension" (i.e., normal office/clinic BP

despite elevated ambulatory/home BP), nocturnal hypertension, and nocturnal dipping status, conditions which are associated with elevated CVD risk (172, 174, 175). In addition, elevated mean daytime and 24-hr ambulatory BP, and BP variability are also strongly predictive of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality independent of other risk factors (163, 176–178). Overall, 24-hr ambulatory BP monitoring provides the means for a more comprehensive assessment of BP and BP variability in clinical and research settings.

Cardiovascular Health and COVID-19

Coronaviruses are a family of large enveloped single stranded RNA viruses (179). Based on their structure, they are classified in to four genera: alpha, beta, delta, and gamma, and to date only the alpha and beta coronaviruses are known to infect humans (180, 181). Among seven different coronaviruses known to cause human disease, three have caused severe illness, namely Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus (SARS-CoV) that caused the SARS epidemic in 2002, Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus (MERS-CoV) that caused the deadly MERS outbreak in 2012, and SARS-CoV-2, which is responsible for the current COVID-19 pandemic (182). Some similarities and differences exist between the three viruses. For example, SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV have higher fatality rates than SARS-CoV-2 whereas SARS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2 have high rates of transmission among humans compared to MERS-CoV. Overall, the high transmissibility, relatively lower fatality rate, and high reproductive rate of SARS-CoV-2 led to the unprecedented magnitude of the COVID-19 pandemic (183, 184). Indeed, the spectrum of clinical illness from SARS-CoV-2 infection ranges from asymptomatic to mild and moderate, to severe and critical (185). All these degrees of disease severity have been observed in all age groups and in individuals with and without preexisting comorbidities.

Pathogenesis of COVID-19

Coronaviruses are made up of 4 structural proteins, out of which the spike protein (S), which is made up of two subunits S1 and S2, is essential for the entry of the virus into host cells (181). The receptor binding domain (RBD) on the S1 subunit binds the virus to host cells and initiates infection while the S2 subunit is important in membrane fusion and entry of the virus into the host cells. Importantly, in the case of SARS-CoV-2 (and SARS-CoV-1), the ACE2 receptor in the RAS is the gateway to the cell (186). The virus binds to ACE2 on a target cell and activates a serene protease on the host cell (TMPRSS2) that cleaves and activates the S2 subunit to facilitate fusion of the viral envelope with the host cell (186). A second method of ACE2-mediated viral entry into the host cell involves endocytosis of the viral particle (187). The process of viral binding and entry into the host cells trigger a multitude of responses that leads to the pathogenesis and complications of COVID-19.

ACE2 is a membrane-bound peptidase receptor that is expressed in abundance in the respiratory epithelium, and as such results in a primary respiratory disease when infected by SARS-CoV-2. However, ACE2 has also been identified in many other tissues including the vascular endothelium (188). Therefore, direct infiltration of the virus in vascular endothelial cells and the ensuing local inflammation is one mechanisms that could alter vascular health following COVID-19 (189). Indeed, early post-mortem studies demonstrated the presence of endotheliitis (190, 191), although this has not been a consistent finding in later studies.

Binding of the virus to ACE2 has also been shown to downregulate the receptor (192) and/or release soluble ACE2 into the circulation (193), both of which leads to a reduction in ACE2 activity. As discussed in *"Modulators of Peripheral Vascular*

Function" reduced ACE2 activity reduces the production of Ang (1-7) and elevates the concentration of circulating Ang II (194). These changes would potentially shift the balance in the RAS towards greater Ang II activity leading to increased vascular inflammation, thrombosis, fibrosis, and vasoconstriction (194–196). In addition, severe and critical COVID-19 is associated with a cytokine storm which is also proposed to be a result of increased Ang II and reduced ACE2 activity (197). Notably, the cytokine storm in COVID-19 is characterized by a significant elevation in proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-4, TNF- α , and INF- γ , which are well known to exert a detrimental effect on the cardiovascular system (198) as well as further downregulate ACE2 (199).

Cardiovascular Health During the Acute Phase of COVID-19

Given the pathways involved in the pathogenesis of COVID-19 that cause local and systemic inflammation and RAS imbalance, it is highly plausible to postulate that COVID-19 could exert detrimental effects on the cardiovascular system during acute illness. Indeed, cardiovascular and cerebrovascular complications such as myocardial infarctions, stroke, vasculitis, and venous thromboembolism have been observed during the acute phase of illness in those with mild or severe respiratory symptoms as well as in those with no respiratory symptoms. Further, cardiovascular complications were observed in young and old individuals with and without pre-existing comorbidities (12–19, 184). These clinical observations prompted many researchers to directly explore the impact of COVID-19 on vascular function during the acute phase of the illness (i.e., within 4 weeks from symptom onset/diagnosis) and in those who were hospitalized (200–206). Studies on hospitalized patients have consistently reported blunted peripheral macro (200, 204) and microvascular (205, 207) function. Notably, although some investigators revealed FMD to be predictive of COVID-19 outcome (204), others did not observe similar findings (208). While it might

be expected that patients with severe COVID-19 illness that warranted hospitalization exhibit vascular dysfunction due to a multitude of reasons, surprisingly, several studies have reported significant impairment in macro and micro vascular function in young previously healthy adults who had only mild to moderate symptoms from COVID-19 (202, 203, 206). For example, Trinity et al. (206) reported a 1.3% reduction in brachial artery FMD, reduction in forearm RH, and lower leg microvascular function from pre to post diagnosis in a case report of a 24-year old female while she was still asymptomatic from COVID-19. Similarly, Jud et al. (203) reported blunted brachial artery FMD in a 24-year-old previously healthy female with asymptomatic COVID-19. Findings from these case reports are further strengthened by a study by Ratchford et al. (202) that demonstrated significant impairment in brachial artery FMD and blood flow response to passive leg movement in young adults when tested within 3-4 weeks from mild to moderate COVID-19 diagnosis compared to historical controls. Collectivity, these findings provide strong evidence of impaired peripheral vascular function irrespective of disease severity, age, or previous health status.

Although there has been a substantial number of studies focused on evaluating peripheral vascular function, limited data is available on the effects of COVID-19 on cerebral vascular function. This is surprising given the unexpectedly high incidence of cerebral vascular events that have been reported during the acute illness in previously healthy adults, including young adults (18, 209–212). Furthermore, brain biopsies in patients who had cerebrovascular events showed endothelial injury (213), indicating the potential for SARS-CoV-2 to cause cerebral vascular dysfunction. Indeed, one study reported blunted reactivity to CO_2 following a breath hold test in hospitalized middle-aged patients with COVID-19 during acute illness (214). However, whether these findings extend to other age groups and to those with less severe disease is yet to be fully explored.

In addition to vascular dysfunction, another potential detrimental effect of COVID-19 on the vasculature is elevated arterial stiffness, a strong risk factor for CVD. Indeed, it is well known that chronic low-grade inflammation as well as acute inflammation contributes to arterial stiffness (215, 216). Although no studies to date have revealed a causative relationship between COVID-19 induced inflammation and arterial stiffness, several studies have reported elevated arterial stiffness in hospitalized older patients (217, 218) as well as young otherwise healthy adults with acute mild to moderate illness (202, 203, 219).

Cardiovascular Health Beyond the Acute Phase of COVID-19

Based on the previously discussed evidence of the negative impact of COVID-19 on vascular health during the acute phase, there has been a growing interest in investigating the persistent effects of COVID-19 on the cardiovascular system (200, 203, 220–227). Notably, majority of these studies have been performed in middle to older aged adults who were hospitalized and/or experienced severe or critical illness during the acute phase (200, 220, 221, 223–226). Findings from these studies in individuals with who had severe acute illness indicates persistent impairment in peripheral macro and microvascular function up to 1 year post diagnosis (200, 220, 223, 225, 226). These results are further supported by the finding of elevated cellular markers of endothelial activation and dysfunction several months post infection (228, 229). Notably, endothelial dysfunction was shown to be associated with elevated pro-inflammatory markers, suggesting a role of persistent inflammation in causing ongoing vascular dysfunction (228). Although not investigated in detail, cerebral vascular function has also been showed to be reduced several months post COVID in hospitalized patients (230, 231). Extending the findings during the acute phase of the illness, few studies have reported persistently elevated arterial stiffness in patients who had severe acute COVID-19 (221–223).

Although these findings on patients with complicated acute COVID-19 are important, over 80% of individuals who are diagnosed with COVID-19 experience only mild to moderate symptoms, and therefore it is important to identify long-term effects of COVID-19 in these individuals. However, there is limited data on the persistent impact of COVID-19 on vascular health in this population (220, 223, 224, 226, 232), and findings from these studies are less consistent compared to data on those with severe disease. For example, one study reported no impairment in peripheral vascular function in young adults following mild acute illness (232), whereas another study reported persistently blunted FMD in older adults (223) compared to age-matched controls without COVID-19. Interestingly, when compared to those who had severe acute illness, Riou et al. (226) found that those who had mild acute illness had greater impairment in FMD while Santoro et al. (224) reported less impairment, and Gao et al. (220) reported no difference in the level of impairment in FMD between the different levels of disease severity.

Importantly, some investigators have found promising results of improvement in vascular health over the course of several months (221, 233, 234). However, others have reported vascular dysfunction at one year post diagnosis (220). Collectively, while there have been a substantial number of studies investigating the long-term impact of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health, findings are not unambiguous. Potential reasons for the equivocal findings between studies could be due to several factors including the differences in age of participants (young and old), time since COVID-19 diagnosis at the time of testing (few weeks to beyond a year), and presence or absence of other persistent complications from COVID-19. Thus, further studies are indicated to fully understand the long-term impact of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health.

Interestingly, despite the well-known associations between vascular dysfunction, arterial stiffness, high BP, and CVD risk (135, 152), limited studies have focused on exploring the acute and long-term effect of COVID-19 on BP. One study in middle and older-aged adults with no prior history of hypertension reported only 8% of individuals had elevated BP while hospitalized with COVID-19, while another study reported elevate BP in 12% of the studied group one month post hospital discharge following COVID-19 in middle-aged adults (235). Interestingly, Szeghy et al. (219) reported higher BP in young adults who had COVID-19 during the acute phase compared to those without a history of COVID-19, whereas others have reported no difference (219, 232). However, BP measurement has been performed in the laboratory/hospital setting with the exception of a case report that reported higher ambulatory BP in one patient who was previously normotensive (236), and no difference in ambulatory BP between those with and without fatigue following COVID-19 (237). As discussed under the section "Blood Pressure", since measurement at a single time point does not capture the true BP or the fluctuation in BP in an individual, it is important to perform more comprehensive assessments of BP using both laboratory and ambulatory techniques to determine the extent of COVID-19 on BP.

Post-Acute Sequalae of COVID-19/ Post-Covid Condition/ Long COVID

While it is necessary to understand the long-term effects of COVID-19 in general, a significant proportion of individuals infected with SARS-CoV-2 experience a wide range of symptoms from COVID-19 that persists for weeks to months after initial diagnosis (20, 21). This condition has been referred to by several terms over the past 2.5 years including "COVID-long haulers," "long COVID," "post-acute sequalae of COVID-19" (PASC), or "post-COVID condition". Importantly, based on data from past coronavirus infections such as SARS and MERS, persistence of symptoms or complications following severe acute COVID-19 illness with multiorgan involvement would not be unanticipated (238-241). However, debilitating persistent symptoms have been reported in a large number of previously healthy individuals of all age groups who had merely mild or moderate acute illness (22-25). To date, a universal definition for this condition is lacking. The Center for Disease Control currently defines PASC/post-COVID condition as "a wide range of new, returning, or ongoing health problems experienced by patients at least 4 weeks after initially being infected by SARS-CoV-2" (242), which would include those who have persistent symptoms that may or may not be affecting functionality, whereas the World Health Organization defines it as "new onset, returning, or persistent symptoms, at 3 months from the onset of COVID-19 with symptoms that last for at least 2 months and cannot be explained by an alternative diagnosis, and impacts everyday functioning" (243), which potentially excludes those within the first three months after diagnosis and those who do not have functional impairments. Given the discrepancies in the diagnostic criteria, follow up period, and selection biases such as inclusion of only hospitalized patients or only non-hospitalized patients in studies, the reported incidence of persistent symptoms from COVID-19 varies between 10 to ~50% at 6 months after diagnosis. (20, 22, 25, 244, 245). Female sex, older age, and preexisting comorbidities have been found to be potential risk factors (246, 247), although males and previously healthy individuals across all age groups have been found to present with persistent symptoms. Therefore, given the large number of individuals experiencing persistent symptoms, it is of the utmost importance to investigate the extent, potential contributing factors, and consequences of PASC to be able to identify potential targets for alleviating persistent symptoms and/or minimizing the occurrence of PASC following SARS-CoV-2 infection.
Cardiovascular Health in PASC

Similar to acute COVID-19, symptoms of post COVID condition appears to involve multiple organ systems. Over 50 post COVID sequalae have been reported, out of which fatigue, headache, cognitive problems and shortness of breath, are among the most frequently reported symptoms (20, 24, 245). The mechanisms contributing to this condition is still largely unknown and unexplored. However, based on what is known regarding other post viral conditions, pathogenesis of acute COVID-19, and common post COVID symptomology several theories involving cardiovascular system derangements have been postulated.

One pathophysiological process that has been proposed to contribute to PASC is an ongoing direct or indirect negative impact of COVID-19 on vascular health (248, 249). This theory is supported by several factors. Vascular dysfunction has been implicated to play a pathophysiological role in other post viral conditions such as chronic fatigue syndrome (250, 251), a diagnosis that has also been made in a subpopulation of patients with PASC (252). Furthermore, current evidence indicates persistent endothelial dysfunction beyond the acute phase of COVID-19 illness. However, the symptomology of the participants have been evaluated only in a handful of studies (200, 223, 227), and therefore it is still not fully understood whether PASC is associated with persistent vascular dysfunction. For example, one study reported that microvascular function assessed by peripheral arterial tonometry was impaired in only 30% of PASC patients at nine months since initial mild to moderate infection, compared to those without a history of COVID-19 (227), whereas, another study reported that brachial artery FMD was similar between those with and without a PASC diagnosis at 6 months after hospitalization but lower compare to controls with no history of COVID-19 (200). Improvement in brachial artery FMD was also observed in both groups (i.e., with and without PASC) over the 6 months period in

this study (200). The latter findings may indicate that there is a slow recovery from vascular dysfunction following COVID-19 regardless of symptomology. However, these findings do not provide robust evidence regarding whether peripheral vascular function is affected in PASC. Moreover, although many patients with PASC experience neurological symptoms such as impairments in memory, concentration, and articulation (i.e., brain fog), headaches, and fatigue, no studies have assessed cerebral vascular function in PASC. Interestingly in a recently reported case series (253), two patients with PASC who were treated with a stellate ganglion blockade, a procedure known to improve cerebral blood flow (254), showed improvement in PASC symptoms including brain fog. While these data provide preliminary evidence on potential dysregulation of cerebral blood flow in PASC, further studies are warranted to fully understand the impact of PASC on the cerebral vasculature and brain health.

Importantly, the actual symptoms, number of symptoms, and severity of each symptom varies considerably between PASC patients, as does the disabilities caused by these symptoms. These differences could potentially be leading to the discrepant findings between studies investigating cardiovascular health in PASC. Thus, better characterization of participants based on their symptomology, and evaluating whether there is an association between symptomology and cardiovascular health would be an important and essential consideration for future studies. Furthermore, although it is known that individuals who had COVID-19 are at an elevated the risk of future CVD (5), it remains to be determined if this is driven by PASC, and therefore, should undeniably be a focus of future studies.

Conclusion

Since the SARS-CoV-2 infection was first detected in humans in December 2019, millions of individuals have been affected and continue to be affected by COVID-19. In addition, the extend of PASC has also become an unforeseen challenge for the patients as well as the medical and scientific community. Moreover, potentially adding to the already existing health burden from COVID-19 and CVD, a recent study found that the risk of future CVD is elevated in individuals who had COVID-19. This includes those who had mild-moderate illness, who account for the majority of the survivors from COVID-19 (5). Therefore, it is imperative to identify effects of COVID-19 that may persist and augment CVD risk. Although there has been an immense response from the scientific community to fully understand the effects of COVID-19 and PASC on cardiovascular health, much is still unknown regarding the longer-term effects. The studies proposed in this dissertation explores the impact of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health in two specific populations; 1) an age group that has been greatly affected by COVID-19 (i.e., young adults 18 – 30 years), and 2) patients with PASC, a population that continues to suffer from long-term complications of COVID-19. The findings from the studies in this dissertation provides novel clinically relevant information that will significantly improve our understanding on short and long-term cardiovascular health after COVID-19. These findings will pave the way for future studies to identify potential targets aimed at reducing the long-term burden of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health and CVD risk.

CHAPTER 3: BLUNTED PERIPHERAL BUT NOT CEREBRAL VASODILATOR FUNCTION IN YOUNG OTHERWISE HEALTHY ADULTS WITH PERSISTENT SYMPTOMS FOLLOWING COVID-19

Damsara Nandadeva¹, Benjamin E. Young¹, Brandi Y. Stephens¹, Ann-Katrin Grotle¹, Rachel J. Skow¹, Angela J. Middleton², Florence P. Haseltine³, Paul J. Fadel¹

¹Department of Kinesiology, University of Texas at Arlington, Arlington, Texas
²Health Services, University of Texas at Arlington, Arlington, Texas
³North Texas Genome Center, University of Texas at Arlington, Arlington, Texas

Published in the American Journal of Physiology – Heart and Circulatory Physiology, July 23, 2021, Volume 321, Issue 3, Pages H479-H484. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00368.2021

Used With Permission from the American Journal of Physiology – Heart and Circulatory Physiology

Abstract

Recent findings suggest that COVID-19 causes vascular dysfunction during the acute phase of the illness in otherwise healthy young adults. To date, no studies have investigated the longer-term effects of COVID-19 on vascular function. Herein, we hypothesized that young, otherwise healthy adults who are past the acute phase of COVID-19 would exhibit blunted peripheral (brachial artery flow-mediated dilation (FMD) and reactive hyperemia) and cerebral vasodilator function (cerebral vasomotor reactivity to hypercapnia; CVMR) and increased central arterial stiffness. Sixteen young adults who were at least 4 weeks past a COVID-19 diagnosis and 12 controls who never had COVID-19 were studied. Eight COVID subjects were symptomatic (SYM) and 8 were asymptomatic (ASYM) at the time of testing. FMD and reactive hyperemia were not different between COVID and Control groups. However, FMD was lower in SYM (3.8 \pm 0.6%) compared to ASYM ($6.8 \pm 0.9\%$; P = 0.007) and Control ($6.8 \pm 0.6\%$; P = 0.003) with no difference between ASYM and Control. Similarly, peak blood velocity following cuff release was lower in SYM ($47 \pm 8 \text{ cm/s}$) compared to ASYM ($64 \pm 19 \text{ cm/s}$; P = 0.025) and Control (61 ± 14 cm/s; P = 0.036). CVMR and arterial stiffness were not different between any groups. In summary, peripheral macro- and microvascular function, but not cerebral vascular function or central arterial stiffness were blunted in young adults symptomatic beyond the acute phase of COVID-19. In contrast, those who were asymptomatic had similar vascular function compared to controls who never had COVID.

New and Noteworthy

This study was the first to investigate the persistent effects of COVID-19 on vascular function in otherwise healthy young adults. We demonstrated that peripheral macro- and microvascular vasodilation was significantly blunted in young adults still symptomatic from COVID-19 beyond the acute phase (>4 weeks from diagnosis) while those who become asymptomatic have similar vascular function compared to controls who never had COVID-19. In contrast, cerebral vascular function and central arterial stiffness were unaffected irrespective of COVID-19 symptomology.

Introduction

The novel coronavirus disease – 2019 (COVID-19) has affected over 30 million individuals in the Unites States alone. To date, the prevalence of COVID-19 has been highest in young adults, with almost 1 in 4 cases being diagnosed in those between 18 - 29 years of age (255). Notably, early investigations revealed that SARS-CoV-2, the virus causing COVID-19, infects and damages vascular endothelial cells (190). However, limited studies have directly investigated the effects of COVID-19 on vascular function.

Notably, recent work reported that young adults who had COVID-19 and were within 4 weeks from diagnosis (i.e., within the acute phase of the illness (256)) at the time of testing exhibited attenuated peripheral vascular function (202) and elevated arterial stiffness (202, 219) compared to those who never had COVID-19. However, whether these detrimental effects on the vasculature persist or resolve beyond the acute phase of the illness remains unknown. This becomes quite important because recent evidence showed that up to 1 in 4 young adults, including those with mild symptoms during the acute phase, report persisting symptoms for up to 6 months from diagnosis (22). Also, individuals who have had COVID-19 frequently experience lingering headaches and cognitive deficits (22, 257) suggestive of cerebral vascular impairments. However, despite these observations, to our knowledge, no studies have investigated whether cerebral vascular function is altered following COVID-19.

With this background in mind, we sought to comprehensively assess the potential persisting effects of COVID-19 on vascular function in young adults. We hypothesized that young, otherwise healthy adults who are beyond 4 weeks from a COVID-19 diagnosis would exhibit blunted peripheral and cerebral vasodilator function and increased central arterial stiffness compared to those who did not have COVID-19.

Methods

Study Population

Sixteen young otherwise healthy adults who had a lab confirmed diagnosis of COVID-19 (COVID; SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR or antigen test), were studied. All COVID subjects were a minimum of 4 weeks from their diagnosis and reported being symptomatic at the time of diagnosis. Severity of each symptom was ranked on a scale of 1 - 10 and quantified both for the time of COVID-19 diagnosis and on the date of the study visit. At the time of testing, eight were asymptomatic (ASYM; age: 22 ± 4 years; BMI: 22 ± 4 kg/m²; 12 ± 5 weeks [range: 4 to 21 weeks] from diagnosis; Male/Female: 5/3) (mean \pm SD), while 8 remained symptomatic (SYM; age: 24 ± 3 years BMI: 26 ± 3 kg/m²; 14 ± 4 weeks [range: 7 to 20 weeks] from diagnosis; Male/Female: 1/7). Symptoms reported at the time of testing by SYM subjects were loss of smell and/or taste (n = 7), fatigue (n = 1), and severe muscle pain after exercise (n = 1), and the average symptom severity was 4 ± 1 . All ASYM subjects reported that symptoms resolved within 1 month of their COVID-19 diagnosis. Twelve adults who did not have COVID-19 were also studied and served as Controls (age: 23 ± 3 years; BMI: 23 ± 3 kg/m²; Male/Female: 6/6).

All subjects were non-smokers and were not on any prescription medication. Subjects reported being recreationally active (Control: 280 ± 230 exercise min/week, ASYM: 259 ± 193 min/week, SYM: 227 ± 98 min/week; no difference between groups), and free from any known cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, metabolic, or neurological diseases. All experiments were carried out following an overnight fast in a temperaturecontrolled (20 - 22 °C) dimly lit room. Subjects were instructed to abstain from caffeine and any over-the-counter medication for at least 12-hours and alcohol and exercise for at least 24-hours prior to the study. After receiving a detailed verbal and written explanation of the experimental protocol, subjects provided informed written consent. All experimental procedures conformed to the Declaration of Helsinki and were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Texas at Arlington (2021-0197).

Experimental Measurements

Subjects were instrumented with a standard lead II electrocardiogram (model Q710, Quinton, Bothell, WA) to continuously measure heart rate (HR) and a pneumobelt (Pneumotrace II 1132, UFI, Morro Bay, CA) to monitor respiration. Beat-to-beat arterial blood pressure (BP) was measured via finger photoplethysmography (Finometer PRO, Finapres Medical Systems, Amsterdam, The Netherlands). Automated sphygmomanometer BPs (Welch Allyn, Skaneateles Falls, NY) were obtained for subject characterization and to confirm the Finometer blood pressures.

Experimental Protocol

Subjects rested supine for 20 minutes prior to data collection. For assessment of peripheral vascular function, brachial artery flow-mediated dilation (FMD) technique was performed using current guidelines and as previously described (64, 258). Briefly, the brachial artery was imaged using duplex Doppler ultrasound (GE Logiq P5, Milwaukee, WI) and an 11-MHz linear array transducer. Continuous blood velocity and diameter measures were simultaneously obtained with the sample volume encompassing the entire lumen but not extending beyond the arterial wall edges. Baseline data were recorded for 2 min, following which a rapidly inflating cuff (Hokanson, Bellevue, WA) placed ~2 cm distal to the antecubital fossa was inflated to a suprasystolic pressure (220 mmHg) for 5 min. Blood velocity and diameter data were recorded for 30 sec prior to and for 3 min following cuff release.

Following FMD, central arterial stiffness was assessed by carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity (PWV) and pulse wave analysis (PWA) (SphygmoCor, Atcor Medical, Sydney, Australia) as described previously (258). For PWV, a cuff was placed on the thigh, and carotid and femoral pulses were palpated at the strongest points. Measurements were made between 3 sites (carotid artery to sternal notch, sternal notch to thigh cuff, femoral artery to thigh cuff). An arterial BP waveform was detected using a handheld tonometer placed over the carotid artery while the thigh cuff was inflated. PWV was calculated (XCEL 1.3, Atcor Medical, Sydney, Australia) as the carotid-femoral artery distance divided by the pulse transit time. For PWA, a brachial cuff around the left arm measured peripheral pressure waveforms and generated a corresponding aortic waveform from which augmentation index normalized to a HR of 75 beats/min (AIx75) was derived. PWV and PWA measurements were not obtained in two control subjects.

Next, HR and automated brachial artery sphygmomanometer BPs were obtained during a 5 min quiet resting period. Subjects were then instrumented with a 2-MHz transcranial doppler (Multigon Industries Inc., Yonkers, NY) ultrasound probe placed over the left temporal window to obtain middle cerebral artery blood velocity (MCAv) measurements. The probe was held in place using a headband. A rebreathing protocol was carried out for assessment of cerebral vascular function (96). Briefly, subjects were fitted with a nose clip and breathed through a mouthpiece attached to a 3-way valve (Hans Rudolph Inc., Kansas City, KS,). Oxygen (O₂) was bled into the 5-L rebreathing bag throughout the protocol to ensure normal arterial O₂ saturation (SpO₂) based on the subject's basal metabolic rate as estimated using the Harris–Benedict formula (259). Endtidal carbon dioxide (P_{ET}CO₂) and SpO₂ were measured through a sampling line connected to the mouthpiece, and pulse oximeter on their index finger respectively, which were connected to a capnograph (Capnocheck Plus, Smiths Medical, Dublin, OH). Before the start of the protocol, the rebreathing bag was filled with the subject's own air. A 3 min baseline was then performed while subjects breathed room air. The valve was then switched, and subjects rebreathed from the bag for 3 min or until they reached a $\Delta P_{ET}CO_2$ of at least 15 mmHg from baseline. The valve was then switched back to room air for 3 min of recovery. Two control and one COVID (ASYM) subject did not perform the rebreathing protocol.

Data Analysis

HR, BP, respiration, MCAv, P_{ET}CO₂ and SpO₂ were recorded continuously at 1,000Hz using PowerLab (ADInstruments, Bella Vista, Australia). For baseline subject characterization, HR was averaged over the 5 min resting period, and mean systolic (SBP) and diastolic BP (DBP) was calculated from 3 automated sphygmomanometer readings. A customized offline wall tracking and edge detection software (LabView, National Instruments, Austin, TX) was used to analyze brachial artery diameter and weighted mean blood velocity. For assessment of peripheral artery macrovascular function, brachial artery FMD was calculated as FMD% = (3-beat average peak diameter - baseline diameter)/baseline diameter \times 100. Shear rate was calculated as 8 \times mean blood velocity/diameter. The shear stimulus for FMD was calculated as the hyperemic shear rate area under the curve (AUC) via the sum of trapezoids method to peak brachial artery dilatation. Microvascular function was quantified as the 3-beat average peak blood velocity after cuff release. Central arterial stiffness was quantified using the average of two measures of PWV and AIx75. For quantification of cerebral vasomotor reactivity (CVMR), average values for P_{ET}CO₂ MCAv, MAP and cerebral vascular conductance index (CVCi = MCAv/MAP) were calculated over the last 1 min of baseline. During the rebreathe, 3breath averages of MCAv and CVCi at $\Delta P_{ET}CO_2$ of 3, 6, 9, 12, and 15 mmHg were

calculated. CVMR was quantified as percent increase in MCAv (Δ MCAv%) and CVCi (Δ CVCi%) at each Δ P_{ET}CO₂.

Statistical Analysis

Resting cardiorespiratory and hemodynamic parameters, FMD, reactive hyperemia, PWV, and AIx75 between Control and COVID group were analyzed using Student's t-test for independent samples (SPSS, version 25). Further comparisons between Control, ASYM and SYM were made using one-way ANOVA. When significant group differences were observed, pairwise comparisons were made using Fisher's least significant difference post hoc test. CVMR was analyzed using 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA for effects of group (Control vs. COVID and Control vs. ASYM vs. SYM) and time ($\Delta P_{ET}CO_2$ level). Due to the observation of differences in the shear stimulus for FMD between Control, ASYM and SYM, ANCOVA was performed to co-vary statistically for the impact of hyperemic shear rate on FMD values. All data are presented as mean \pm SD, and the significance level was set at $\alpha < 0.05$.

Results

Control and COVID

Resting brachial artery diameter (Control: 0.34 ± 0.04 cm vs. COVID: 0.34 ± 0.06 cm) and mean blood velocity (Control: 7.3 ± 3.3 cm/s vs. COVID: 6.9 ± 2.3 cm/s) were similar between Control and COVID (P > 0.05 for both). FMD (Fig. 1A) and peak blood velocity following cuff release (Fig. 1B), were not different between groups. Similar results were observed for hyperemic blood velocity AUC to 30 s, 60 s, and 120 s after cuff release (all P > 0.05). Likewise, central arterial stiffness, assessed as PWV and AIx75 were also not different between groups (Fig. 1 C and D respectively). Resting MCAv (Control: $86 \pm$

5 cm/s vs. COVID: 76 ± 4 cm/s) and CVCi (Control: 1.04 ± 0.06 cm/s/mmHg vs. COVID: 0.92 ± 0.05 cm/s/mmHg) were similar between groups (P > 0.05 for both). For CVMR, there was no interaction between group and time (P = 0.503) or main effect of group (P = 0.807) for Δ MCAv% indicating no difference between groups at any level of Δ P_{ET}CO₂. Similar results were observed for Δ CVCi% (interaction: P = 0.505, main effect of group: P = 0.431).

Control, ASYM, and SYM

Resting brachial artery diameter and mean blood velocity were not different between Control, ASYM, and SYM groups (Table 1). However, significant group differences for FMD were observed. Post hoc testing revealed that FMD was lower in SYM compared to both ASYM and Control groups with no difference between Control and ASYM (Fig. 2A). Shear rate AUC to peak diameter was lower in SYM (22501 ± 6633 a.u.) compared to ASYM (34956 ± 15589 a.u. P = 0.034) and Control (34230 ± 9799 a.u. P = (0.029); however, group differences in FMD remained (P = 0.006) after statistically covarying for differences in shear stimulus (SYM: $4.3 \pm 0.8\%$, ASYM: $6.6 \pm 0.7\%$, Control: $6.6 \pm 0.6\%$; P < 0.05 for both comparisons). Likewise, peak blood velocity after cuff release was lower in SYM compared to both ASYM and Control, with no differences between Control and ASYM (Fig. 2B). Similar results were obtained for hyperemic blood velocity AUC to 30 s, 60 s, and 120 s after cuff release. PWV and AIx75 were not different between any groups (Fig.2C and D). Resting MCAv was lower in ASYM compared to SYM and Control. CVCi was lower in ASYM compared to Control (Table 1). However, for CVMR, there was no significant interaction or main effect of group for $\Delta MCAv\%$ or $\Delta CVCi\%$ (Fig. 3). Resting cardiorespiratory and hemodynamic measures for all groups are presented in Table 1.

Discussion

This study was the first to investigate the persistent effects of COVID-19 on peripheral vascular function, central arterial stiffness, and cerebral vascular function in young otherwise healthy adults. The major novel findings are threefold. First, we demonstrate that in contrast to our hypothesis, vascular function was not different between young adults who are beyond 4 weeks from a COVID-19 diagnosis and controls. The second major finding is that peripheral vascular function assessed via brachial artery FMD (i.e., macrovascular function) and reactive hyperemia (i.e., microvascular function) were blunted in those who had COVID-19 and were still symptomatic beyond the acute phase compared to controls. Conversely, FMD and reactive hyperemia were not different in asymptomatic COVID-19 subjects compared to controls. Thirdly, in contrast to peripheral vascular function, we found no differences in markers of central arterial stiffness (i.e., carotid-femoral PWV and AIx75), and cerebral vascular function (i.e., CVMR) between any groups. Collectively, these findings indicate that peripheral vascular function, but not cerebral vascular function and central arterial stiffness is impaired in young adults who had mild COVID-19 illness but are still symptomatic past the acute phase. This impairment appears to be resolved in those that are no longer symptomatic.

A recent study by Ratchford et al. (202) reported that brachial artery FMD was blunted in young adults when tested during the acute phase of COVID-19 illness. The current study extends these findings by demonstrating that the impairment in brachial artery FMD persists in those who continue to be symptomatic beyond the acute phase. However, this impairment appears to be completely resolved in those who become asymptomatic. Notably, all individuals who had COVID-19 in the current study would be classified to have had mild-moderate illness (185), and were on average at 3 months from diagnosis. We also found that reactive hyperemia was blunted in symptomatic individuals. Interestingly, Ratchford et al. (202) reported no impairment in reactive hyperemia during the acute phase suggesting that persistent, but not acute COVID-19 illness may be a primary mediator of microvascular dysfunction. In contrast, we found central arterial stiffness to be unaffected in those who had COVID-19 irrespective of their symptomology, whereas previous work reported that arterial stiffness was elevated in young adults during the acute phase of COVID-19 illness (202, 219). These findings may suggest that the detrimental impact of COVID-19 on central large arteries is an acute and transient phenomenon that resolves overtime. Nonetheless, additional studies are warranted.

Despite the consistent impairments in peripheral vasodilation observed, we found that cerebral vascular function was not impaired following COVID-19 in young adults even in those with persistent symptoms. However, it should be noted that only 2 individuals reported experiencing cognitive symptoms (i.e., 'brain fog') at the time of diagnosis and these symptoms resolved within 2 weeks. Thus, it would be important to perform additional studies to assess cerebral vascular function in those who report persistent cognitive impairments following COVID-19.

It is intriguing that those with persistent symptoms exhibited peripheral vascular dysfunction, whereas those who were asymptomatic at the time of testing had similar macro- and micro-vascular vasodilation to Controls. Moreover, the symptomatic group only reported 1 or 2 symptoms of mild to moderate severity. Nevertheless, while the impairments in peripheral vascular function in those with persisting symptoms were clear, the mechanism(s) responsible remain unclear. Although beyond the scope of this rapid report, some discussion is warranted. One proposed mechanism contributing to persistent COVID-19 symptoms is ongoing and/or a dysregulated immune response to the acute infection (256). In support of this hypothesis, de Melo et al. (260) demonstrated the presence of local inflammation in the olfactory epithelium in those with persistent loss of

smell following COVID-19. Moreover, despite the lack of direct evidence of a link between COVID-19 symptomology, vascular dysfunction, and inflammation, previous investigations have demonstrated a clear link between acute inflammation and impaired endothelial function (261, 262). Notably, improvement in endothelial function following acute viral infection has been shown to be accompanied by a reduction in blood inflammatory markers (261). Given these observations, it is plausible that ongoing inflammation contributes to both the persistent vascular dysfunction and lingering symptoms following COVID-19. Nonetheless, further studies are warranted to directly investigate the link between COVID-19 symptomology and vascular function.

Conclusion

The findings from the current study demonstrate that young otherwise healthy adults who continue to experience symptoms from COVID-19 beyond the acute phase of the illness exhibited peripheral vascular dysfunction. In contrast vascular function appears to be restored in those who are no longer symptomatic. Furthermore, central arterial stiffness and cerebral vascular function were unaffected in COVID-19 subjects beyond the acute phase irrespective of symptomology. Collectively, these findings highlight that the persistence of symptoms following COVID-19 is associated with peripheral vascular dysfunction in otherwise healthy young adults.

Tables and Figures

Table 1. Resting cardiorespiratory and hemodynamic measures

	ControlASYMSYM $(n = 12)$ $(n = 8)$ $(n = 8)$	SYM	D rushu -	
		(n = 8)	(n = 8)	P value
Heart rate (beats/min)	58 ± 8	61 ± 10	65 ± 10	0.259
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	112 ± 9	110 ± 9	111 ± 6	0.923
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	66 ± 4	68 ± 5	70 ± 4	0.188
Brachial artery diameter (cm)	0.34 ± 0.04	0.34 ± 0.05	0.34 ± 0.07	0.971
Brachial artery mean blood velocity (cm/s)	7.4 ± 3.3	7.8 ± 2.7	6.0 ± 1.4	0.368
Middle cerebral artery blood velocity (cm/s)	86 ± 16	$67 \pm 17*$ †	84 ± 11	0.042
Cerebral vascular conductance index (cm/s/mmHg)	1.04 ± 0.20	$0.82\pm0.21*$	1.01 ± 0.10	0.048
End-tidal carbon dioxide (mmHg)	47 ± 2	45 ± 7	44 ± 5	0.297
Respiratory rate (breaths/min)	14 ± 3	13 ± 3	15 ± 4	0.293

Values are mean \pm SD. One-way ANOVA followed by post hoc testing was performed between Control, COVID asymptomatic (ASYM), and symptomatic (SYM) groups. Middle cerebral artery blood velocity, cerebral vascular conductance index, end-tidal carbon dioxide, and respiratory rate data are for n = 10 Controls and n = 7 ASYM. * P < 0.05 between ASYM and Control. † P < 0.05 between ASYM and SYM.

44



Figure 1. Group mean and individual data for flow-mediated dilation (FMD, A), peak blood velocity following cuff release (B) (n = 12 Control and n = 16 COVID for both), pulse wave velocity (PWV, C) and augmentation index normalized to heart rate of 75 beats/min (AIx75, D) (n = 10 Control and n = 16 COVID for both) between Control and COVID groups.



Figure 2. Group mean and individual data for flow-mediated dilation (FMD, A), peak blood velocity following cuff release (B) (n = 12 Control, n = 8 ASYM and n = 8 SYM), pulse wave velocity (PWV, C) and augmentation index normalized to heart rate of 75 beats/min (AIx75, D) (n = 10 Control, n = 8 ASYM and n = 8 SYM) between Control, Asymptomatic (ASYM) and Symptomatic (SYM) groups. * P < 0.05 between SYM and ASYM. † P < 0.05 between SYM and Control.



Figure 3. Group mean (\pm SD) data for percent change in middle cerebral artery blood velocity (Δ MCAv%, A) and cerebral vascular conductance index (Δ CVCi%, B) at increases in end-tidal carbon dioxide (Δ P_{ET}CO₂) of 3, 6, 9, 12 and 15 mmHg from baseline between Control (n = 10), Asymptomatic (ASYM; n = 7) and Symptomatic (SYM; n = 8) groups.

CHAPTER 4: IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON AMBULATORY BLOOD PRESSURE IN YOUNG ADULTS: A CROSS-SECTIONAL ANALYSIS INVESTIGATING TIME SINCE DIAGNOSIS

Damsara Nandadeva, Rachel J. Skow, Ann-Katrin Grotle, Brandi Y. Stephens, Benjamin E. Young, Paul J. Fadel

Department of Kinesiology, University of Texas at Arlington, Arlington, Texas

Published in the Journal of Applied Physiology, June 16, 2022, Volume 133, Issue 1, Pages 183–190. doi:<u>10.1152/japplphysiol.00216.2022</u>

Used With Permission from the Journal of Applied Physiology

Abstract

Previous studies have reported detrimental effects of COVID-19 on the peripheral vasculature. However, reports on blood pressure (BP) are inconsistent and measurements made only in the laboratory setting. To date, no studies have measured ambulatory BP. Additionally, in previous studies, time since COVID-19 diagnosis among participants varied across a wide range, potentially contributing to the inconsistent BP results. Thus, we aimed to perform a comprehensive assessment of BP and BP variability using ambulatory and laboratory (brachial and central) measurements in young adults who had COVID-19. We hypothesized that ambulatory BP would be elevated post-COVID-19, and that measures of BP would be inversely related with time since diagnosis. Twenty-eight young adults who had COVID-19 (11 ± 6 [range 3 to 22] weeks since diagnosis) and 10 controls were studied. Ambulatory daytime, nighttime, and 24-hr systolic BP, diastolic BP, and mean BP were not different between control and COVID groups (e.g., daytime systolic BP: control,122 \pm 12 mmHg; COVID,122 \pm 10 mmHg; P = 0.937). Similar results were observed for laboratory BPs (all P > 0.05). However, ambulatory daytime, nighttime, and 24-hr BPs as well as laboratory brachial BPs were inversely correlated with time since COVID-19 diagnosis (e.g., daytime systolic BP: r = -0.444; P = 0.044, nighttime systolic BP: r = -0.518; P = 0.016). Ambulatory and laboratory measured BP variability were not different between groups nor correlated with time since diagnosis. Collectively, these data suggest that adverse effects of COVID-19 on BP in young adults are minimal and likely transient.

New and Noteworthy

We report for the first time that ambulatory daytime, nighttime, and 24-hr blood pressure (BP), as well as laboratory BP were not different between control and COVID participants. However, a significant inverse relationship with time since COVID-19 diagnosis was found (i.e., greater BP with more recent infection). Ambulatory and laboratory BP variability were unaffected and not related with diagnosis time. These findings suggest that COVID-19 may exert only short-lasting effects on BP in young adults.

Introduction

The number of COVID-19 cases reported to date globally has exceeded 400 million with over 6 million deaths since the first case was detected in December 2019 (255), and it is predicted that COVID-19 will remain an endemic disease for the foreseeable future (263). Notably, the incidence of future cardiovascular disease has been reported to be substantially higher in individuals who had COVID-19, including in those without pre-existing risk factors and those who had only mild-moderate acute illness (5). However, the underlying factors that contribute to a greater cardiovascular disease burden in COVID-19 are not fully understood. Although high blood pressure (BP) is a major risk factor for the development of cardiovascular disease, the short- and long-term effects of COVID-19 on BP remains unclear.

There is a growing interest in investigating the effects of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health in young adults given that this age group accounts for almost one-fourth of the reported cases in the United States (264). Studies have reported greater central arterial stiffness (202, 219), blunted peripheral vascular function (202, 203, 265), and elevated resting sympathetic nerve activity (266) in previously healthy young adults who had mild-to-moderate COVID-19 compared to those who never had COVID-19. In contrast to these findings of negative effects of COVID-19 on the vasculature in young adults, it is notable that reports on BP have been inconsistent. Indeed, while some studies report normal BP (202, 265) others have reported elevated BP (219) following COVID-19. Although the reason for this discrepancy is unclear, one important consideration is that all these studies assessed BP only in the laboratory environment.

Although laboratory BP measurements provide valuable information on cardiovascular health, it does not capture the circadian variation and short-term fluctuations in BP that occur throughout the day (161). Moreover, laboratory BP measurements may be

confounded by phenomena such as "white coat hypertension" (i.e., elevated BP only in an office/clinic setting) and "masked hypertension" (i.e., normal office/clinic BP despite elevated ambulatory/home BP) (174, 175). Thus, a more comprehensive assessment of BP using 24-hr ambulatory BP is warranted to fully capture the potential impact of COVID-19 on BP and BP variability.

Another consideration is that the duration since the onset of SARS-CoV-2 infection at the time participants were studied has been variable between the studies that reported BP. Indeed, some studied individuals within 4 weeks from diagnosis (202, 219), whereas others were beyond 4 weeks at the time of testing (265, 266) including up to 1 year post diagnosis (232). Notably, data from previous studies indicate that central arterial stiffness, which is well-known to effect BP (135), is elevated in young adults within 4 weeks from COVID-19 diagnosis (202, 219), but not when tested after 4 weeks (265). Whether time from COVID-19 diagnosis similarly impacts BP is yet to be determined.

Herein, we sought to perform a comprehensive assessment of BP and BP variability using ambulatory as well as laboratory measurements in young adults who had COVID-19. In this cross-sectional investigation, we hypothesized that ambulatory BP would be elevated in those who had COVID-19 compared to those with no prior history of COVID-19, and that measures of BP would be inversely correlated with time since COVID-19 diagnosis (i.e., greater BP in those closer to their diagnosis).

Methods

Study Population

Twenty-eight young otherwise healthy adults (11 males) who had a laboratoryconfirmed diagnosis (SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR or antigen test) of COVID-19 (COVID

group) and 10 adults (4 males) without a prior history of COVID-19 (control group) were recruited and studied between March 20th and November 1st, 2021. COVID participants were studied between 2 weeks to 6 months from their diagnosis. Sixteen of the COVID participants were unvaccinated against COVID-19 mainly due to unavailability at the time,10 participants were fully vaccinated, and 2 others had received their 1st dose. All except 1 of our control participants were vaccinated at the time of assessment. All participants were nonsmokers, were not on any prescription medications, and were free from any known cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, metabolic, or neurological diseases based on a health history questionnaire. After receiving a detailed verbal and written explanation of the experimental protocol, participants provided informed written consent. All experimental procedures conformed to the Declaration of Helsinki and were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Texas at Arlington (#2021-0197). Participants were instructed to abstain from caffeine and any over-the-counter medication for at least 12-hrs and alcohol and exercise for at least 24-hrs prior to the study visit. All participants completed the long form of the self-administered International Physical Activity Questionnaire to estimate average physical activity (267). Laboratory assessments were carried out following an overnight fast in a temperature-controlled $(20^{\circ}C - 22^{\circ}C)$ dimly lit room.

Experimental Protocols

Laboratory BP

Participants were instrumented with a standard lead II electrocardiogram (model Q710, Quinton, Bothell, WA) to continuously measure heart rate (HR). Resting brachial artery BP was obtained using an automated sphygmomanometer (Welch Allyn, Skaneateles Falls, NY). Beat-to-beat arterial BP was measured via finger

photoplethysmography (Finometer PRO, Finapres Medical Systems, Amsterdam, The Netherlands). Respiratory movements were monitored using a strain-gauge pneumobelt (Pneumotrace II 1132, UFI, Morro Bay, CA) around the abdomen to monitor for respiratory driven fluctuations in BP and HR (e.g., deep breath, sigh etc.). After instrumentation, participants rested supine for at least 20 min prior to data collection. Then, HR, beat-to-beat BP, and respiration were recorded continuously during a 5-min resting baseline. Automated brachial artery BPs were obtained every minute. Participants were instructed to remain quiet and awake during this period.

Central BP and arterial stiffness

For assessment of central BP, a brachial BP measurement was obtained using the Sphygmocor device and software (XCEL 1.3, Atcor Medical, Sydney, Australia), which analyzes the brachial waveform and provides an estimate of central BP (268). In addition, we also measured central arterial stiffness as carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity (PWV) as previously described (265). Briefly, a cuff was placed on the thigh, and carotid and femoral pulses were palpated at the strongest points. Measurements were made between three sites (carotid artery to sternal notch, sternal notch to thigh cuff, and femoral artery to thigh cuff). An arterial BP waveform was detected using a handheld tonometer placed over the carotid artery while the thigh cuff was inflated. PWV was calculated (XCEL 1.3, Atcor Medical, Sydney, Australia) as the carotid-femoral artery distance divided by the pulse transit time. Some of the PWV data used for this study have been previously published (265); however, the hypothesis tested and relationships examined are novel and independent from the previous study.

Ambulatory BP

Following laboratory measurements, participants were fitted with an appropriately sized brachial cuff and Oscar 2 oscillometric ambulatory BP monitor (model 250, Sun Tech Medical, Morrisville, USA) to wear for a continuous 24-hr period. Participants were instructed to perform normal daily activities but not to perform any moderate-vigorous physical activity during the 24-hr period. Measurements were obtained every 20 min during daytime and every 30 min during nighttime. Day and night periods were pre-programmed based on each individual's expected sleep time and wakeup time for the day of the assessment (172, 173, 269). Sleep and wakeup times were also confirmed post-assessment and adjusted if needed via the software, prior to downloading the report. Ambulatory BP was measured in all controls and 24 COVID participants.

Data analysis

All continuous data were recorded at 1,000Hz using PowerLab (ADInstruments, Bella Vista, Australia) and stored offline for later analysis. HR was averaged over the 5min resting period. Brachial artery BP in the laboratory setting was measured and reported as the average of 3 readings. The first measurement during the 5 min baseline period was discarded to avoid potential erroneous readings at the start of data collection. Central BP was calculated as the average of 2 readings. Central arterial stiffness was quantified using the average of two measures of PWV that were within 0.5 m/s of each other (140). For ambulatory BP, following criteria were used to identify a satisfactory assessment per published guidelines: 1) 24-hr recording with \geq 70% of expected measurements, 2) \geq 20 valid awake readings, and 3) \geq 7 valid asleep readings (172, 269). For quantification of daytime BP, 2 hours immediately after waking and immediately before bedtime were discarded from the analysis to avoid measurement artifacts during the transition period. Likewise, for quantification of nighttime BP, 1 hour immediately after bedtime and immediately before waking up was removed (172, 269). Adequate number of readings for daytime and nighttime were obtained in all controls and 21 COVID participants. Average systolic BP, diastolic BP, and mean BP were quantified separately for daytime, nighttime, and 24 hrs. Nocturnal dip was calculated as percentage difference between average daytime and night-time systolic BP (270). Ambulatory BP variability was quantified as standard deviation of daytime BP (SD_{day}), nighttime BP (SD_{night}), 24-hr SD weighted for daytime and nighttime BP variability (SD_{dn} = $\frac{(day SD \times day hours)+(night SD \times night hours)}{day hours+night hours}$) (271), and average real variability (ARV = $\frac{1}{N-1} \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} |BP_{k+1} - BP_k|$, where N denotes the number of BPs and k denotes the chronological order of the measurements) (272). Beat-to-beat BP variability was also quantified from the 5-min Finometer derived BP measures which were calibrated to the average of 3 automated sphygmomanometer readings for systolic BP, diastolic BP, and mean BP to ensure absolute values were matched. Following parameters of BP variability were then calculated: SD, coefficient of variation (CV% = [SD/mean] × 100), and ARV (272).

Statistical analysis

Normality was assessed using the Shapiro–Wilk test. All comparisons between control and COVID were made using Student's t-test for independent samples or Mann-Whitney *U* test when data was not normally distributed (SPSS, version 25). To examine the relationship between time since diagnosis and the outcome variables, we performed curve-fitting analysis to determine the nature of the relationship between the independent and dependent variables and observed that the data fit both a linear model and an exponential model. However, the difference between these models were not significant and did not change the interpretation of the data. Therefore, we performed a linear regression analysis to determine the relationship between time since COVID-19 diagnosis and measures of BP, BP variability, and PWV. All data are presented as mean \pm SD, and the significance level was set *a priori* at $\alpha < 0.05$.

Results

Participant characteristics

The control and COVID groups were matched for age (control, 23 ± 3 yrs; COVID, 23 ± 4 yrs; P = 0.757), body mass index (control, 23.0 ± 2.6 kg/m²; COVID, 24.5 ± 3.1 kg/m²; P = 0.172), and physical activity levels (control, 4177 ± 3624 METmin/week; COVID, 5080 ± 4912 METmin/week; P = 0.909). Resting HR was also not different between the groups (control, 58 ± 8 beats/min; COVID, 62 ± 11 beats/min; P = 0.244). For the COVID group, the mean time since diagnosis was 11 ± 6 (range: 3 to 22) weeks. All COVID participants had mild illness (185) and none had required hospitalization. Twelve participants reported having 1 - 3 persistent symptoms (loss of smell and/or taste, fatigue, and muscle pain after exertion) while 16 reported having no symptoms at the time of testing. However, there were no differences in any of the reported experimental measures between those with and without symptoms (data not shown, P> 0.05 for all measures).

Ambulatory and laboratory BP and arterial stiffness

There was no difference in ambulatory daytime or nighttime systolic BP, diastolic BP, or mean BP between control and COVID groups (Figure 1). Similar results were obtained for the overall 24-hr period (P > 0.05 for all). There was also no difference in nocturnal dipping between the two groups (control, $14 \pm 5\%$; COVID, $14 \pm 4\%$; P = 0.844). Similarly, there were no differences in laboratory measured brachial systolic BP, diastolic

BP, or mean BP between control and COVID groups (Table 1). Lastly, central systolic BP (control, 100 ± 7 mmHg; COVID, 103 ± 9 mmHg; P = 0.334), diastolic BP (control, 68 ± 6 mmHg; COVID, 72 ± 7 mmHg; P = 0.168), mean BP (control, 79 ± 6 mmHg; COVID, 82 ± 8 mmHg; P = 0.207), and PWV (control, 5.5 ± 0.7 m/s; COVID, 5.4 ± 0.9 m/s; P = 0.552) were not different between groups.

Relationships with time since diagnosis

Ambulatory daytime and nighttime systolic BP, diastolic BP and mean BP were inversely related with time since COVID-19 diagnosis (Figure 2). Similar results were observed for 24-hr systolic BP (r = -0.516; P = 0.017), diastolic BP (r = -0.574; P = 0.006), and mean BP (r = -0.592; P = 0.005). Likewise, laboratory brachial systolic BP (r = -0.474; P = 0.011), diastolic BP (r = -0.449; P = 0.017), and mean BP (r = -0.462; P = 0.013), were inversely correlated with time since diagnosis, whereas no relationships were found for central systolic, diastolic, or mean BP (all P > 0.05). PWV was also inversely related with time since diagnosis (Figure 3). This relationship remained after accounting for the potential influence of laboratory measured BP on PWV (r = 0.699, P < 0.001). Both time since diagnosis (P = 0.016) and mean BP (P = 0.020) were significant determinants of PWV.

Ambulatory and beat-to-beat BP variability

There was no difference in ambulatory BP variability for systolic BP, diastolic BP, or mean BP (i.e., SD_{day}, SD_{night}, SD_{dn}, and ARV) between control and COVID groups (Table 2). Likewise, beat-to-beat BP variability measurements were not different between control and COVID groups (Table 1). There were also no significant relationships between

time since COVID-19 diagnosis and ambulatory or beat-to-beat BP variability with the exception of CV% for beat-to-beat diastolic BP variability (Table 3).

Discussion

To our knowledge, this was the first study to comprehensively investigate the effects of COVID-19 on ambulatory BP and BP variability in young adults. Contrary to our hypothesis, ambulatory BP was not different between young adults who had COVID-19 and controls who never had COVID-19. However, we found that ambulatory daytime, nighttime, and 24-hr BP as well as laboratory brachial BP was inversely correlated with time since COVID-19 diagnosis, with higher BP presenting closer to the onset of infection. Interestingly, a similar inverse relationship was observed between time since diagnosis and central arterial stiffness. In addition, we show that COVID-19 does not adversely impact ambulatory or laboratory BP variability in young adults and no relationship to time since COVID-19 diagnosis was found when studying individuals within 6 months from diagnosis. Collectively, these data suggest that COVID-19 does not have major effects on BP in young adults; however, transient effects of COVID-19 to increase BP and central arterial stiffness closer to diagnosis may be present.

We (265) and others (202, 232) have previously reported that brachial artery BP measured in the laboratory setting is not different between young adults who had COVID-19 and those who never had COVID-19. While measuring BP in the laboratory setting is conventional and provides important information, it does not allow for the measurement of BP over an extended time period during regular daily activities, nor does it consider nocturnal dipping, the presence of whitecoat hypertension, or masked hypertension. Indeed, elevated daytime, nighttime, and 24-hr ambulatory BP as well as having either

reduced or exaggerated nocturnal dipping are strong independent predictors of adverse cardiovascular outcomes (177, 178). In the current study, we found that ambulatory daytime, nighttime, 24-hr BP, and nocturnal dipping were not different between young adults who are within 6 months from diagnosis and those without a history of COVID-19. Ambulatory and beat-to-beat BP variability, which are known to offer independent prognostic information on cardiovascular outcomes, (164, 272) were also unaffected by COVID-19. For our study, we recruited control participants during the pandemic since that would ensure better matching of participants with regards to any lifestyle changes that may have been unavoidable during this period. One caveat to this is that it is impossible to know whether some of the control participants may have had asymptomatic infection. Nevertheless, given the growing research indicating an elevated cardiovascular disease risk associated with COVID-19 (5, 249), these negative findings are promising in that we found no major effects on BP or BP variability in young adults who had COVID-19. Nevertheless, comprehensive studies of BP in those who are older, have more severe acute illness, and those with persistent sequalae from COVID-19 are warranted.

Our findings also indicated that central BP was not elevated following COVID-19. This is in contrast to findings by Szeghy et al. (219) who reported that central systolic BP and mean BP were elevated in young adults who had COVID-19 compared to controls. Notably, a key difference is that all participants (n = 15) in the study by Szeghy et al. (219) were within 4 weeks from diagnosis, whereas only 4 participants in the current study were within that time frame at the time of testing. Hence, the difference in the timing since infection may have contributed to the divergent findings between studies. Indeed, in line with this hypothesis, in the current study we found that ambulatory as well as laboratory brachial BP was inversely correlated with time since diagnosis, with individuals who were closer to COVID-19 diagnosis presenting with greater BP values compared to those further

away from diagnosis up to 6 months. Likewise, arterial stiffness was also shown to be inversely related to time since diagnosis. These findings are in agreement with the findings of a recent follow up study by Szeghy et al. (233) which showed improvement in carotidfemoral PWV over the first 6 month from diagnosis in young otherwise healthy adults who had COVID-19. Although no significant relationship with time since diagnosis was found for central BP in the current study, Szeghy et al. (233) reported an improvement in central systolic BP and mean BP at 6 months compared to one month after diagnosis. Collectively, these findings provide evidence for a potential transient impact of COVID-19 on indices of cardiovascular health in young adults.

Data from previous studies lend some insight into factors that may contribute to a transient elevation in BP. For example, studies have demonstrated that during the early phase of the illness, young adults who had COVID-19 exhibit impaired vasodilation (202) and the potential for increased vasoconstriction with elevated sympathetic nervous system activity (266). Central artery stiffness and central BP has also been shown to be higher within 3-4 weeks from COVID-19 diagnosis compared to controls (202). Findings from studies that included individuals further out from diagnosis suggests no elevation in arterial stiffness (265), and no impairment in vascular function (232), or impairment in only those with persistent symptoms (265). While the temporal relationship between vascular dysfunction, elevated arterial stiffness, and elevated BP is a topic of some debate, it has been suggested that increased peripheral vascular resistance due to alterations in smaller arteries (i.e., impaired vasodilation and increased vasoconstriction) leads to elevated brachial BP, which causes greater large artery stiffness (131, 273), followed by a rise in central BP. Increased central BP is then thought to contribute to structural changes in the smaller arteries, which again leads to a rise in brachial BP (131, 273). Although previous studies suggest that central BP is elevated within 4 weeks from COVID-19 diagnosis (219),

our data indicates that the effects of COVID-19 on brachial BP and arterial stiffness in young adults is likely not sufficient to cause a significant impact on central BP, nor cause permanent structural alterations on the vasculature.

Perspectives and Significance

Despite previous studies reporting negative effects of COVID-19 on the peripheral vasculature and autonomic function in young adults, it is encouraging to see that the impact of COVID-19 on BP, a primary risk factor for development of cardiovascular disease, is likely minimal and not persistent in this age group. Indeed, this is important because to date, nearly 15 million young adults (i.e., $\sim 30\%$ of those between 18 - 29 years) have been affected by COVID-19 in the United States alone (27). Given that SARS-CoV-2 virus is continuously changing and evolving into new variants with varying virulence, investigating the long-term effects of COVID-19 becomes complex and challenging. However, longitudinal studies are necessary to fully understand the risk of future cardiovascular disease with COVID-19. In contrast to our findings in young adults, several studies have reported new onset hypertension post COVID-19 in older adults and those with preexisting comorbidities (235, 236, 274). Whether this is a permanent outcome of COVID-19 in this population is still unknown and warrants further investigation. Moreover, the exact mechanisms that trigger negative vascular alterations following COVID-19 are still unclear. However, two plausible mechanisms are direct vascular inflammation (190, 191) and imbalance in the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system as a result of viral binding and downregulation of angiotensin converting enzyme-2 receptors (275). Additional studies investigating the role of these potential mechanisms in causing

adverse cardiovascular outcomes are needed to better understand the short and long-term influence of COVID-19 on overall cardiovascular health.
Tables and Figures

Parameter		Control	COVID	P value
	BP	110 ± 7	111 ± 8	0.722
Systolic	SD	5.0 ± 1.0	4.4 ± 0.9	0.134
(mmHg)	CV%	4.5 ± 1.1	4.0 ± 0.8	0.116
	ARV	2.1 ± 0.6	2.3 ± 0.7	0.471
	BP	66 ± 4	69 ± 6	0.135
Diastolic	SD	3.5 ± 0.8	3.5 ± 0.8	0.900
(mmHg)	CV%	5.2 ± 1.2	5.1 ± 1.2	0.683
	ARV^{a}	1.8 ± 0.9	1.8 ± 0.7	0.590
	BP	81 ± 5	83 ± 6	0.334
Mean (mmHg)	SD^{a}	3.7 ± 0.6	3.7 ± 0.9	0.732
	CV%	4.6 ± 0.8	4.5 ± 1.1	0.809
	ARV	1.3 ± 0.5	1.3 ± 0.3	0.977

Table 1. Laboratory brachial blood pressure and blood pressure variability

Values are means \pm SD. ARV, average real variability; BP, blood pressure; CV, coefficient of variation; SD, standard deviation. Independent sample t-tests were used to compare between control (n = 10; 4 males) and COVID (n = 28; 11 males) groups. ^aNon-normalized data was analyzed using Mann-Whitney U test.

Parameter		Control	COVID	P value
	SD_{day}	9.3 ± 2.5	10.4 ± 2.0	0.175
Systolic BP	SD_{night}	8.3 ± 2.9	8.8 ± 3.0	0.615
(mmHg)	$\mathrm{SD}_{\mathrm{dn}}$	9.0 ± 2.1	9.8 ± 1.7	0.228
	ARV ^a	9.0 ± 1.6	9.6 ± 1.6	0.201
	$\mathrm{SD}_{\mathrm{day}}{}^{\mathrm{a}}$	8.1 ± 1.5	9.0 ± 2.5	0.441
Diastolic BP	SD_{night}	6.7 ± 1.9	6.6 ± 2.2	0.905
(mmHg)	$\mathrm{SD}_{\mathrm{dn}}$	7.6 ± 1.2	8.2 ± 2.0	0.414
	ARV	7.4 ± 1.0	7.8 ± 1.5	0.428
	$\mathrm{SD}_{\mathrm{day}}$	7.7 ± 1.8	8.7 ± 2.3	0.244
Mean BP	SD_{night}	6.8 ± 1.9	6.6 ± 2.4	0.803
(mmHg)	$\mathrm{SD}_{\mathrm{dn}}$	7.4 ± 1.4	7.9 ± 1.9	0.456
	ARV	7.2 ± 0.9	7.6 ± 1.4	0.363

Table 2. Ambulatory blood pressure variability

Values are means \pm SD. ARV, average real variability; BP, blood pressure; SD_{day}, daytime standard deviation; SD_{night}, nighttime standard deviation; SD_{dn}, 24-hr standard deviation weighted for daytime and nighttime variability. Independent sample t-tests were used to compare between control (n = 10; 4 males), and COVID (n = 21; 8 males) groups. ^aNon-normalized data was analyzed using Mann-Whitney U test.

	Ambulatory BP variability		Beat-to-beat BP variability			
Parameter		r	P value		r	P value
Systolic BP (mmHg)	SD_{day}	-0.212	0.357	SD	0.025	0.901
	SD_{night}	-0.143	0.537	CV%	0.205	0.295
	SD_{dn}	-0.240	0.295	ARV	0.058	0.771
	ARV	-0.109	0.639			
Diastolic BP	SD_{day}	0.020	0.932	SD	0.298	0.124
	$\mathrm{SD}_{\mathrm{night}}$	-0.265	0.246	CV%	0.460	0.014
(mmHg)	SD_{dn}	-0.095	0.681	ARV	0.343	0.074
	ARV	0.050	0.828			
Mean BP (mmHg)	SD_{day}	0.020	0.931	SD	0.119	0.548
	$\mathrm{SD}_{\mathrm{night}}$	-0.181	0.433	CV%	0.262	0.178
	SD_{dn}	-0.094	0.686	ARV	0.095	0.632
	ARV	0.004	0.986			

Table 3. Relationship between time since COVID-19 diagnosis and blood pressure variability

n = 21 (8 males) for ambulatory BP variability and n = 28 (11 males) for beat-to-beat BP variability. ARV, average real variability; BP, blood pressure; SD, standard deviation; CV, coefficient of variation; SD_{day}, daytime standard deviation; SD_{night}, nighttime standard deviation; SD_{dn}, 24-hr standard deviation weighted for daytime and nighttime variability; r, correlation coefficient.



Figure 1. Group and individual data for ambulatory daytime (A, B, and C) and nighttime (D, E, and F) systolic blood pressure (BP), diastolic BP, and mean BP between control (white bars and circles; n = 10; 4 males) and COVID (grey bars and triangles; n = 21; 8M males). Black symbols represent males and white symbols represent females. Comparisons between groups were made using Student's t-test for independent samples.



Figure 2. Relationship between time since diagnosis and ambulatory daytime (A, B, and C) and nighttime (D, E, and F) systolic blood pressure (BP), diastolic BP, and mean BP in the COVID group (n = 21; 8 males). Black symbols represent males and white symbols represent females. r = correlation coefficient.



Figure 3. Relationship between time since diagnosis and carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity (PWV) in the COVID group (n = 28; 11 males). Black symbols represent males and white symbols represent females. r = correlation coefficient.

CHAPTER 5: CARDIOVASCULAR HEALTH IN POST-ACUTE SEQUALAE OF COVID-19 (PASC) AND THE INFLUENCE OF SYMPTOM BURDEN

Manuscript in preparation

Abstract

Many individuals who had COVID-19 experience debilitating persistent symptoms [i.e., post-acute sequalae of COVID-19 (PASC)] including adverse cardiovascular outcomes. Although studies show detrimental effects of COVID-19 on vascular health, findings in PASC are limited and equivocal. Whether this is due to the heterogenicity of symptomology of PASC patients is unknown and warrants investigation. We hypothesized that peripheral and cerebral vascular function would be blunted, and central arterial stiffness would be elevated in PASC patients compared to age-matched controls, and that impairments in vascular health would be greater in PASC patients with greater symptom burden. Brachial artery flow-mediated dilation (FMD) and reactive hyperemia, cerebral vasomotor reactivity to hypercapnia (CVMR), carotid femoral pulse wave velocity, (PWV), and resting brachial and central blood pressure (BP) were measured in 10 females with diagnosed PASC and 10 age-matched controls. FMD and reactive hyperemia were not different between groups (P > 0.05 for both). Brachial BP (e.g., systolic BP: 128 ± 20 vs. $109 \pm 8 \text{ mmHg}$; P = 0.013) central BP (e.g., systolic BP: P = 0.002), and PWV (7.2 \pm 1.3 vs. 6.1 ± 0.8 m/s; P = 0.032) were higher in PASC compared to controls. CVMR was not different between groups. Severity of brain fog was inversely correlated with resting middle cerebral artery blood velocity (r = -0.675; P = 0.046) and cerebrovascular conductance index (r = -0.743; P = 0.022). Total symptom burden was not correlated with measures of vascular health. Collectively, these findings indicate that BP and arterial stiffness are elevated in PASC patients, whereas peripheral and cerebral vascular function are unaffected. Further, those with greater severity of brain fog appear to have lower resting cerebral blood flow.

New and Noteworthy

We demonstrate for the first time that blood pressure and central arterial stiffness are elevated in PASC patients. In contrast, peripheral and cerebral vascular function appear to be unaffected. In addition, while there was no relationship between total PASC symptom burden and measures of vascular health, severity of brain fog was inversely correlated with resting cerebral blood flow. These findings provide novel insight into the cardiovascular consequences of PASC and the influence of symptomology.

Introduction

Recent data indicates that between 40 - 50% of individuals who had COVID-19, the illness caused by SARS-CoV-2 experience new, returning, or ongoing symptoms or health complications that persist beyond the acute illness (20, 245). This condition, referred to as "long COVID" and a diagnosis of "post-acute sequalae of COVID-19 (PASC), is more prevalent among females (23, 276), results in debilitating symptoms and is observed among not only those who had severe acute COVID-19 but also in those who had mild acute infection (24, 276) and even those with breakthrough infections (277). Thus, given the large number of individuals who have been and continue to be diagnosed with COVID-19, PASC is becoming a concerning health burden of substantial magnitude. Emerging data has demonstrated more than 50 long-term effects of COVID-19 involving multiple organ systems (24), including many cardiovascular complications (26). However, to date, it is not well understood what drives these post-acute cardiovascular sequalae of COVID-19.

A growing number of studies investigating the long-term impact of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health suggest that detrimental effects of COVID-19 on the vasculature may gradually improve with time (221, 233, 234, 278). Moreover, data from our lab (265) and others (223) indicate that vascular impairments may be related to COVID-19 symptomology, and symptom resolution appears to be associated with improvement in vascular health (234, 265). Although these studies provide preliminary insight into the potential association between COVID-19 symptomology and vascular alterations, limited studies have investigated vascular health in those with a diagnosis of PASC (200, 227). Notably, findings from these studies are equivocal with reports of impaired forearm microvascular function in some, but not all patients with PASC (227), or similar impairment in brachial artery flow-mediated dilation (FMD) in those with and without a PASC diagnosis (200). Neither study related vascular function measures to symptomology

of PASC patients and the latter study included only those who required hospitalization during acute SARS-CoV-2 infection, thus limiting the interpretation regarding peripheral vascular function in PASC. In addition, among PASC patients, neurological symptoms such as impairment in memory and concentration (i.e., brain fog), dizziness, and recurrent headaches are frequently reported (24). To date, one study has reported a lower cerebral vasoreactivity to a breath hold test assessed using transcranial doppler ultrasound in those with persistent neurological symptoms following COVID-19 (231). However, participants in this study were within 2 months from COVID-19 diagnosis and it was not reported whether they had a PASC diagnosis. To our knowledge, no studies have investigated cerebral vascular function, and the potential link between cerebral vascular function and symptomology in patients with PASC.

Importantly, the symptomology of PASC patients varies greatly in terms of the particular symptoms they experience (22, 24) and the perceived severity of each symptom (279). Therefore, it is possible that the inconsistency in measures of cardiovascular health between studies is due to the heterogenicity of symptomology of the participants; however, to date, this has not been investigated. Herein, we sought to assess cardiovascular function in patients with PASC with a focus on examining a potential link to symptomology. We hypothesized that patients with PASC will have blunted peripheral and cerebral vascular function, and elevated arterial stiffness compared to age-matched controls. We further hypothesized that impairments in cardiovascular outcome measures would be greatest in those with the highest symptom burden.

Methods

Study Population

Ten females who had a previously documented COVID-19 diagnosis (positive antigen or PCR test), persistent COVID-19 related symptoms beyond 4 weeks after COVID-19 diagnosis, and a physician diagnosis of PASC were recruited from the University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, Texas, COVID-recover clinic. Ten age-matched females without PASC were recruited from the Dallas-Fort Worth community and studied as the control group. All participants were non-smokers and were not pregnant or breast-feeding. After verbal explanation of the experimental protocol, participants provided informed written consent. All experimental procedures conformed to the Declaration of Helsinki and were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Texas at Arlington.

Participants were instructed to abstain from food, caffeine, and any medication for at least 12-hours and alcohol and exercise for at least 24-hours prior to the study. After consenting, all participants completed a detailed questionnaire on their medical history. Recent physical activity was quantified using the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) (280). In addition, PASC participants completed a questionnaire regarding their COVID-19 related persistent symptoms. Current severity of each symptom was ranked on a scale of 1 - 10 with a higher score indicating greater symptom severity.

Experimental Protocol

Experiments were performed in a temperature-controlled (20 - 22 °C) dimly lit room. Participants were instrumented with standard lead II electrocardiogram (model Q710, Quinton, Bothell, WA) to continuously measure heart rate (HR) and respiratory excursions were monitored using a pneumobelt (Pneumotrace II 1132, UFI, Morro Bay, CA). Subjects rested supine for 20 minutes prior to data collection. Peripheral vascular function was assessed using the brachial artery FMD technique according to current guidelines and as previously reported (64, 265). Briefly, brachial artery diameter and blood velocity were obtained using duplex Doppler ultrasonography (GE Logiq P9, Milwaukee, WI) and an 11-MHz linear array transducer. Baseline data were obtained for 5 min, after which a rapidly inflating cuff (Hokanson, Bellevue, WA) placed 2 cm distal to the antecubital fossa was inflated to a suprasystolic pressure (220 mmHg) for 5 min. Brachial artery blood velocity and diameter were continuously recorded for 30 seconds before and 3 min after the cuff was released. FMD data is for 10 PASC and 9 control participants since data from one control participant could not be used due to a movement artifact.

Following FMD, central arterial stiffness was measured as carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity as previously described (PWV) (265). Carotid and femoral pulses were palpated at the strongest points and a cuff was placed on the thigh. Distance measurements were made between the carotid artery and sternal notch, sternal notch and thigh cuff, and femoral artery and thigh cuff. While the thigh cuff was inflated, a handheld tonometer placed over the carotid artery was used to detect the arterial blood pressure (BP) waveform (SphygmoCor, Atcor Medical device and XCEL 1.3 software, Sydney, Australia). PWV was calculated as the carotid-femoral artery distance divided by the pulse transit time. In addition, an estimate of central BP was acquired via pulse wave analysis of the brachial waveform obtained from a brachial BP measurement (SphygmoCor, Atcor XCEL 1.3 software, Sydney, Australia). Following this, a venous blood sample was obtained and sent to a commercial blood processing laboratory (Labcorp) for measurement of complete metabolic panel, lipid panel, and high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP).

Next, participants were instrumented to measure beat-to-beat arterial BP using finger photoplethysmography (Finometer PRO, Finapres Medical Systems, Amsterdam,

The Netherlands) from the left hand, and automated sphygmomanometer BPs (Welch Allyn, Skaneateles Falls, NY) from the right arm during 5-mins of quiet rest. HR and beatto-beat BP were continuously recorded while automated BPs were obtained every min for baseline participant characterization. A pneumobelt was placed around the abdomen (Pneumotrace II 1132, UFI, Morro Bay, CA) to monitor for respiratory excursions. Following this, a 2-MHz transcranial doppler (Multigon Industries Inc., Yonkers, NY) ultrasound probe was held in place over the left temporal window using a headband to obtain middle cerebral artery blood velocity (MCAv) measurements. A rebreathing protocol was performed for the assessment of cerebral vasomotor reactivity (CVMR) as described previously (265). Briefly, participants were fitted with a nose clip and breathed through a mouthpiece attached to a 3-way valve (Hans Rudolph Inc., Kansas City, KS,). A 5-L rebreathing bag was connected to one end of the valve and filled with the participants expired air. Following a 3-min baseline period where participants breathed room air, the valve was switched so that the participant breathed from the rebreathing bag until they reached an increase in end tidal carbon dioxide concentration ($\Delta P_{ET}CO_2$) of at least 15 mmHg from baseline, indicated to stop, or diastolic BP (DBP) increased above 100 mmHg. The valve was then switched back to room air for 3 min of recovery. Oxygen (O_2) was introduced into the rebreathing bag throughout the protocol to maintain normal arterial O₂ saturation (SpO₂) (259). P_{ET}CO₂ and SpO₂ were measured through a sampling line connected to the mouthpiece and pulse oximeter on their index finger respectively, which were connected to a capnograph (Capnocheck Plus, Smiths Medical, Dublin, OH). One participant from each group opted not to perform this test, and the protocol was stopped early in two control and one PASC participant due to the rise in DBP > 100 mmHg, or participant request. Therefore, CVMR data are reported for eight control and nine PASC participants who reached at least a $\Delta PETCO_2$ level of 12 mmHg.

Following a minimum interval of 1 hour, for assessment of physical function, all PASC participants completed a 6-min walk test. Participants were instructed to walk as far as possible in 6 mins at a comfortable pace on a flat surface. The 6-min walk test took place in a 30-m corridor with two turning points and markers every 5 meters. In addition, they completed a 32-item questionnaire on physical functioning (adapted from the late life function and disability instrument [LLFDI](281)) with a 5 point scale for each question giving a total score ranging from 32 to 160. Quality of life (QOL) was assessed using the SF-12 health survey (SF12v2 Standard, US Version 2.0) (282).

Data Analysis

Brachial artery diameter and mean blood velocity were analyzed using a customized offline wall tracking and edge detection software (LabView, National Instruments, Austin, TX). Macrovascular function was quantified as FMD% = (3-beat average peak diameter - baseline diameter)/baseline diameter \times 100. Shear rate was calculated as 8 \times mean blood velocity/diameter. The shear stimulus for brachial artery dilation was calculated as the hyperemic shear rate area under the curve (AUC) to peak brachial artery dilatation using the sum of trapezoids method. Microvascular function was quantified as the 3-beat average peak blood velocity. For PWV, PWA, and central BP, the average of 2 consistent measurements were used according to recommended guidelines (140).

HR, beat-to-beat BP, and respiration were recorded continuously at 1,000Hz using PowerLab (ADInstruments, Bella Vista, Australia). For baseline subject characterization, HR was averaged over the 5 min resting period and BP was calculated from 4 automated sphygmomanometer readings obtained during the 5 min resting period. The first measurement was discarded to avoid including potential erroneous readings at the start of data collection. For quantification of CVMR, Finometer derived mean arterial pressure (MAP) values were square wave calibrated to the average of two automated BPs obtained during the baseline of the rebreathing protocol. Values for $P_{ET}CO_2$, MCAv, corrected MAP, and cerebral vascular conductance index (CVCi = MCAv/corrected MAP) were averaged over the last 1 min of baseline. During the rebreathe, 3-breath averages of MCAv and CVCi were calculated. CVMR was quantified as percent increase in MCAv (Δ MCAv%) and CVCi (Δ CVCi%) at Δ 12 mmHg $P_{ET}CO_2$ and the linear regression slope of Δ MCAv% and Δ CVCi% vs. $\Delta P_{ET}CO_2$. Only slopes with a correlation coefficient above 0.5 were included in the analysis.

Total symptom burden for each participant was calculated as the sum of severity of all reported symptoms where a higher score represents greater symptom burden. For physical function, 6-min walk distance and total score from the physical function questionnaire were calculated separately. A higher 6-min walk distance and lower physical function score indicated better function. For quantification of QOL, the total score for physical health domain and mental health domain were combined to obtain an overall QOL score. A higher score denoted better quality of life (283).

Statistical Analysis

Normality of the data were assessed using the Shapiro–Wilk test. All comparisons between control and PASC group, were made using Student's t-test for independent samples or Mann-Whitney *U* test when data were not normally distributed (SPSS, version 25). FMD was corrected for differences in shear stress using analysis of covariance. The relationship between symptom severity, physical function, and QOL, and cardiovascular outcomes were determined using Pearson's correlation coefficient (Graphpad prism, v9.4.0). All data are presented as mean \pm SD, and the significance level was set *a priori* at $\alpha < 0.05$.

Results

Participant characteristics

The PASC and control groups were matched for age (48 ± 10 yrs vs. 52 ± 12 yrs; P = 0.482) and body mass index (29.2 ± 3.6 kg/m² vs. 26.1 ± 5.8 kg/m²; P = 0.165). Resting HR (Table 1) and recent physical activity assessed using the IPAQ (PASC, 3708 ± 4150 METmin/week vs. control, 3994 ± 3081 METmin/week; P = 0.696) was not different between groups. However, resting SBP, DBP, and MAP were higher in PASC compared to controls (Table 1). There was no difference in hsCRP (PASC, 3.8 ± 3.5 mg/L vs. control, 2.1 ± 2.6 mg/L; P = 0.071), fasting blood sugar or LDL-cholesterol between the groups (Table 1). In contrast, HDL-cholesterol was lower, and triglycerides were higher in PASC compared to controls (Table 1). The number of participants with diagnosed medical conditions and on prescription medication are reported in Table 2.

Median time since COVID-19 diagnosis for the PASC groups was 531 days (range 82 to 691). Four PASC patients had been hospitalized during the acute illness (1 day, 2 days, 13 days, and 17 days each), and two patients required supplemental O_2 for 10 -12 weeks. A total of 18 persistent symptoms were reported by PASC patients (Table 2), of which fatigue (n = 10), shortness of breath (n = 9), and brain fog (n = 9) were the 3 commonest symptoms. Two of the control participants had a past diagnosis of COVID-19 (48 and 91 days since diagnosis at the time of testing); however, both had mild acute illness and neither had persistent symptoms beyond 4 weeks from diagnosis.

Peripheral vascular function and central arterial stiffness

Brachial artery baseline diameter (PASC, 0.321 ± 0.028 cm; control, 0.299 ± 0.037 cm; P = 0.165) and blood velocity (PASC, 6.7 ± 2.4 cm/s; control, 8.5 ± 4.0 cm/s; P = 0.254) were not different between PASC and control groups. FMD% was also not different between groups (Figure 1A). Likewise, there was no difference between the groups for absolute brachial artery dilation (PASC, 0.013 ± 0.006 cm vs. control, 0.019 ± 0.011 cm; P = 0.178) or FMD% when corrected for shear AUC to peak diameter (PASC, $4.49\% \pm 2.78\%$; control, $6.02 \pm 2.79\%$; P = 0.258). Reactive hyperemia assessed as peak blood velocity following cuff release (Figure 1B) or hyperemic blood velocity AUC to 30s, 60s or 120s was not different between the two groups (P > 0.05 for all).

PWV was greater in PASC compared to controls (Figure 2A). Likewise, central SBP, DBP (Figure 2B and 2C respectively), and MAP (PASC, 96 ± 11 mmHg; control, 82 ± 5 mmHg; P = 0.003), and pulse pressure (PASC, 41 ± 9 mmHg; control, 33 ± 3 mmHg; P = 0.014) were higher in PASC compared with controls.

Cerebral vascular function

There was no difference in baseline MCAv ($72 \pm 8 \text{ cm/s vs. } 69 \pm 9 \text{ cm/s}$; P = 0.503) and CVCi (0.77 ± 0.16 cm/s/mmHg vs. 0.84 ± 0.12 cm/s/mmHg) between PASC and control. CVMR to hypercapnia was not different between groups when assessed as percent change in MCAv and CVCi at $\Delta P_{ET}CO_2$ of 12 mmHg or the respective slopes (Figure 3). The mean correlation coefficients (r) for the slopes were not different between the groups ($\Delta MCAv\%$ slope r: PASC, 0.94 ± 0.04 vs. control, 0.91 ± 0.10; P = 0.424; $\Delta CVCi\%$ slope r: PASC, 0.83 ± 0.10 vs, control, 0.78 ± 0.17; P = 0.464).

Relationship between symptom burden, and measures of cardiovascular health, physical functioning, and quality of life

There were no correlations between total symptom burden and measures of peripheral vascular function, central arterial stiffness, cerebral vascular function, or blood pressure (Table 3). However, total symptom burden was directly correlated with the physical function questionnaire score, and inversely correlated with 6-min walk distance and overall QOL score (Table 3). Baseline MCAv (r = -0.67; P = 0.046) and CVCi (r = -0.74; P = 0.022) were inversely correlated (Figure 4), and the CVMR slope for Δ CVCi% was positively correlated (r = 0.683; P = 0.043) with the severity of brain fog. However, the slope for Δ MCAv% did not show a correlation with the severity of brain fog (r = 0.287; P = 0.454).

Discussion

This study was the first to investigate peripheral and cerebral indices of cardiovascular health in PASC and explore the relationship to symptom burden. A major novel finding of this study is that patients with PASC exhibit higher resting BP and central arterial stiffness compared to controls. In contrast, peripheral vascular function and cerebral vascular function were not different between PASC and controls. In addition, we found that there was no relationship between total symptom burden and measures of cardiovascular health in PASC patients with the exception that severity of brain fog was inversely correlated with resting cerebral blood velocity and cerebral vascular conductance index. Although indices of cardiovascular health were not correlated with total symptom burden indicating that those with greater symptom burden experience poor physical function and QOL.

Collectively, these data indicate that PASC patients are likely at risk of developing high BP regardless of symptomology, while lower resting cerebral blood flow may contribute to brain fog and total symptom burden to physical function and QOL.

Previous studies have reported higher BP in a subset of individuals following COVID-19 (235, 236). However, these studies did not assess persistent symptomology, and to our knowledge the current study is the first to report elevated BP in PASC patients. Indeed, two PASC patients in the current study had received a new diagnosis of hypertension while two others had resting BP level classifiable as stage II hypertension, one with stage I hypertension, and two with elevated BP based on the current guidelines (158). PASC patients also exhibited higher central arterial stiffness. Notably, while elevated arterial stiffness has been previously reported in individuals who had COVID-19 (221–223, 235, 236), findings from some studies suggest an improvement BP and arterial stiffness over the course of 6 months (221, 278). However, these studies were not in PASC patients. Therefore, in contrast to the potential transient impact of COVID-19 on BP and arterial stiffness, findings from the current study suggests that high BP and arterial stiffness are likely long-term cardiovascular outcomes of PASC.

There is robust evidence from previous studies showing blunted peripheral vascular function following COVID-19, an impairment that appears to persist well beyond the acute phase of the illness (200, 207, 220, 223, 225, 226, 265). Limited studies have reported that peripheral macro and micro vascular function are blunted in PASC (200, 227). However, in contrast to these findings, our data demonstrates that peripheral macro- and microvascular function are not blunted in PASC patients. Several differences between the previous studies that included patients with a PASC diagnosis, and the current study may explain these equivocal findings. In the study by Oikonomou and colleagues (200), brachial artery FMD was reported to be blunted at 6 months following SARS-CoV-2 infection in

those with and without a long COVID diagnosis who had required hospitalization for a median duration of 14 days during the acute illness. In contrast to the participants in the aforementioned study, the median time since COVID-19 diagnosis of the PASC patients in the current study was 17.5 months, and only 2 patients had required hospitalization for an extended period. Moreover, Oikonomou and colleagues (200) showed improvement in brachial artery FMD from the acute stage of the illness to up to 6 months, in patients with and without Long COVID. In the study by Haffke et al. (227), it was reported that forearm microvascular function is blunted only in 30% of PASC patients at 9 months since initial SARS-CoV-2 infection. Collectively, these findings would suggest that the impairment in peripheral vascular function observed following COVID-19 is likely a transient detrimental consequence of COVID-19 that is unrelated to PASC. Data from the current study strengthens these findings.

Similar to peripheral vascular function, we found no impairment in cerebral vasodilator function in PASC patients compared to controls. A previous study by Marcic et al. found that cerebrovascular reactivity to hypercapnia induced by a breath hold test was blunted in those who had non-specific neurological symptoms 30 - 60 days post COVID-19 diagnosis compared to controls without a history of COVID-19 (231). However, this study did not include a group without neurological symptoms, and therefore, it is not possible to infer whether the impairment in cerebrovascular reactivity was related to symptomology and the timing of when participants were studies prevents the ability to make any inference on long-term effects. Our data suggest that similar to peripheral vascular dysfunction, cerebral vascular dysfunction may also be a consequence of COVID-19 but not PASC.

Interestingly, we found that resting MCAv and CVCi were inversely correlated with the severity of brain fog. Although TCD does not provide a measure of vessel diameter, this may suggest that lower resting cerebral blood flow and greater resting cerebral vascular tone is associated with greater impairment in cognitive function. These findings are in agreement with studies that have assessed cerebral blood flow in other conditions that are associated with brain fog such as chronic fatigue syndrome (284). Interestingly, CVMR to hypercapnia assessed as the slope of Δ CVCi% vs. Δ P_{ET}CO₂ was positively correlated with the severity of brain fog although the slope of Δ MCAv% vs. Δ P_{ET}CO₂ was not correlated. These data may indicate that PASC patients with greater severity of brain fog had a greater cerebrovascular conductance reserve due to the low baseline conductance as has been documented with aging by some researchers (116). However further studied are warranted to better understand the potential role of cerebral blood flow and its regulation in PASC-related cognitive dysfunction.

Beyond the association between cerebral blood flow and brain fog, we did not find any relationships between measures of peripheral vascular function, arterial stiffness or BP and symptom burden. The heterogenous nature of the symptomology of PASC patients could be contributing to these non-associations. Indeed, a total of 18 symptoms were reported among all PASC patients with varying degrees of severity. However, we observed that physical function and QOL were inversely correlated with total symptom burden, thus providing objective evidence that symptomology does play a role in overall health.

To date, the mechanisms contributing to persistent symptoms of PASC are not well understood. However, it is postulated that several mechanisms may be involved (247, 285). Notably, a preliminary study involving two case studies has shown improvement in long COVID symptoms including brain fog following stellate ganglion blockade, a procedure that blocks the sympathetic outflow to the head and neck region. While these findings suggest that sympathetic overactivity may contribute to PASC symptomology, others have reported autonomic dysregulation in individuals with persistent COVID-19 related symptoms (286–289). Our findings of elevated BP in PASC could be at least in part caused by elevated sympathetic activity though future studies are needed to identify the potential contribution of autonomic dysfunction in causing adverse effects of PASC.

Conclusion

In conclusion, we demonstrate that patients with a diagnosis of PASC exhibit elevated resting BP and central arterial stiffness. In contrast, peripheral and cerebral vascular function appears to be unaffected in PASC. Furthermore, peripheral vascular function, arterial stiffness, and BP were not associated with symptom burden whereas resting cerebral blood flow was inversely correlated to severity of brain fog and total symptom burden was inversely correlated to measures of physical function and QOL. Collectively, these findings suggest that although peripheral and cerebral vascular function appear to be unaffected, brain fog appears to be greater in those with lower resting cerebral blood flow and elevated BP and central arterial stiffness are adverse cardiovascular outcomes of PASC.

Tables and Figures

Table 1. Resting hemodynamics and metabolic parameters					
	Control	PASC	Dyrahua		
	(n = 10)	(n = 10)	r value		
Heart rate, beats per min	59 ± 4	62 ± 9	0.434		
Brachial SBP, mmHg	109 ± 8	128 ± 20	0.013		
Brachial DBP, mmHg	68 ± 4	78 ± 8	0.003		
Brachial MAP, mmHg	82 ± 5	95 ± 11	0.005		
Fasting blood glucose, mg/dl	94 ± 8	101 ± 33	0.539		
LDL-cholesterol, mg/dl	104 ± 18	125 ± 42	0.153		
HDL-cholesterol, mg/dl	68 ± 19	54 ± 7	0.045		
Triglycerides, mg/dl	70 ± 22	144 ± 78	0.010		

Table 1. Resting hemodynamics and metabolic parameters

Data are mean \pm SD. SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure, MAP, mean arterial pressure; LDL, low density lipoprotein; HDL, high density lipoprotein. Independent sample t-test between control and PASC.

	Control $(n = 10)$	PASC $(n = 10)$
Diagnosed medical conditions ^a		
Hypertension	1	3 (2)
Diabetes	0	2 (1)
Dyslipidemia	1	2 (1)
Depression	2	4(1)
Anxiety	2	5 (2)
Hypothyroidism	2	2 (0)
Lupus	0	1 (1)
Medication		
β-blockers	0	2
Ca-channel blockers	0	1
ACE inhibitors/ARB	0	2
Diuretics	1	1
Statins	1	2
Aspirin	1	2
SSRI/SNRI/NDRI	2	4
Over the counter vitamins/supplements	9	8
Persistent COVID-19 related symptoms		
Fatigue	-	10
Brain fog	-	9
Shortness of breath	-	9
Muscle pain	-	7
Joint pain	-	6
Palpitations	-	6
Chest pain	-	5
Sleep disturbances	-	4
Tingling/numbness in extremities	-	3
Altered smell/taste	-	2
Cough	-	2
Swelling in extremities	-	2
Muscle weakness	-	1
Hair loss	-	1
Fainting episodes	-	1
Diarrhea	-	1
Recurrent headaches	-	1
Extremities changing color	-	1

Table 2. Medical conditions, medication, and persistent COVID-19 related symptoms

n, number of participants. PASC, Post-acute sequalae of COVID-19; OTC, over the counter; ACE, angiotensin converting enzyme; ARB, angiotensin receptor blockers; SSRI, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; SNRI, serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor; NDRI, norepinephrine and dopamine reuptake inhibitors.

^avalues within parentheses for medical conditions are the number of participants who were diagnosed after their COVID-19 diagnosis.

	r	P value	
Brachial SBP, mmHg	0.279	0.453	
Brachial DBP, mmHg	0.232	0.518	
Brachial MAP, mmHg	0.270	0.451	
FMD, %	0.451	0.191	
Peak blood velocity, cm/s	-0.020	0.956	
PWV, m/s	-0.188	0.603	
Central SBP, mmHg	0.154	0.671	
Central DBP, mmHg	-0.096	0.793	
Central MAP, mmHg	0.016	0.965	
ΔMCAv slope, %/mmHg	0.184	0.636	
∆CVCi slope, %/mmHg	0.295	0.441	
Physical function score	0.694	0.026	
6-min walk distance	-0.864	0.001	
QOL score	-0.795	0.006	

Table 3. Relationship between measures of vascular health and total symptom burden in PASC patients

PASC, Post-acute sequalae of COVID-19; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; MAP, mean arterial pressure; FMD, flow-mediated dilation; PWV, pulse wave velocity; MCAv, middle cerebral artery blood velocity; CVCi, cerebrovascular conductance index; QOL, quality of life; r, Pearson's correlation coefficient.



Figure 1. Group means and individual data for flow-mediated dilation (FMD, A) and peak blood velocity following cuff release (B) between controls (n = 9) and patients with post-acute sequalae of COVID-19 (PASC, n = 10). Group comparisons were made using two-tailed independent samples t-test.



Figure 2. Group means and individual data for carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity (PWV, A), central systolic blood pressure (SBP, B). and diastolic BP (DBP, C) between controls (n = 10) and patients with post-acute sequalae of COVID-19 (PASC, n = 10). Group comparisons were made using two-tailed independent samples t-test.



Figure 3. Group means and individual data for percent change in middle cerebral artery blood velocity (Δ MCAv%) and cerebral vascular conductance index (Δ CVCi%) at an increase in end-tidal carbon dioxide (Δ PETCO₂) of 12 mmHg (A and B respectively) and the slope of Δ MCAv% vs. Δ PETCO₂) and Δ CVCi% vs. Δ PETCO₂ (C and D respectively) between controls (n = 8) and patients with post-acute sequalae of COVID-19 (PASC, n = 9). Group comparisons were made using two-tailed independent samples t-test.

^an = 6 controls for $\Delta CVCi\%$ vs. $\Delta PETCO_2$ slope due to correlation coefficient being below the threshold in 2 controls.



Figure 4. Relationship between severity of brain fog and resting middle cerebral artery blood velocity (MCAv, A) and cerebral vascular conductance index (CVCi, B) in patients with post-acute sequalae of COVID-19. r = correlation coefficient.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus -2 (SARS-CoV-2) is a continuing health burden with adverse effects that extend well beyond the acute illness. One such long-term consequence of COVID-19 is its potential to increase the future risk of developing cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (5). Given that millions of individuals have been, and continue to become infected by SARS-CoV-2, the already existing enormous burden of CVD (6, 7) could be substantially increased in the future. Therefore, it is important to identify factors that may lead to this augmented CVD risk following COVID-19 in order to identify potential targets to direct preventive and/or therapeutic strategies. The studies described in this dissertation aimed to provide novel fundamental information regarding the impact of COVID-19 on key components of cardiovascular health that are known to contribute to the development of CVD.

Vascular dysfunction, as evidenced by blunted vasodilator function is a known risk factor for CVD (8–10). In chapter 3 of this dissertation, we show that young adults who continue to experience symptoms beyond the acute phase of COVID-19 exhibit blunted peripheral macro-and microvascular function. Peripheral vascular function was not impaired in those who had recovered from symptoms. These results, for the first time suggest a potential association between COVID-19 symptomology and peripheral vascular function. In this study, we also found that cerebral vascular function and central arterial stiffness is unaffected by COVID-19 beyond the acute phase of the illness. While these latter findings are encouraging, it is important to realize that this study was in young otherwise healthy adults with mild acute illness. Indeed, since this original work, others have reported blunted peripheral vascular function (200, 220, 222–227), cerebral vascular

function (230, 231), and elevated arterial stiffness (221, 223) beyond the acute illness in older age groups with varying COVID-19 disease severity. Thus, collectively, it is evident that COVID-19 exert detrimental effects on the vasculature that appear to extend beyond the acute illness.

Extending our findings from chapter 3 and work of others suggesting persistent adverse effects of COVID-19 on vascular function and arterial stiffness, in young adults, in chapter 4 we aimed to comprehensively assess the influence of COVID-19 on blood pressure (BP) in this population given that vascular homeostasis is vital for regulation of BP. In this study, we additionally aimed to investigate the influence of time since COVID-19 diagnosis on BP using both ambulatory and laboratory BP measurement techniques. We demonstrate that the impact of COVID-19 on BP in young adults is likely transient, with BP being higher in individuals closer to COVID-19 diagnosis compared to those further out, up to 6 months from infection. A similar inverse relationship was observed between central arterial stiffness and time since COVID-19 diagnosis. While these findings indicate that COVID-19 likely does not exert permanent damage to the vasculature in young adults who had mild acute illness, others have also shown similar promising results of improvement in measures of vascular health over time in older individuals who had COVID-19 (200, 234).

Overall, our data and work from others indicate that the detrimental effects of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health may extend beyond the acute illness but recover over time. However, post-acute sequalae of COVID-19 (PASC) is a condition that arises from SARS-CoV-2 infection which is characterized by debilitating symptoms and health effect that persist, recur, or are newly developed following COVID-19, indicating the presence of more long-lasting adverse consequences of COVID-19. Findings from chapter 5 of this dissertation demonstrates that PASC patients exhibit high BP and central arterial stiffness

but not impairments in peripheral or cerebral vascular function. We also show an inverse association between the severity of brain fog in PASC patients and resting cerebral blood flow which points to a potential link between PASC symptoms and alterations in cerebral blood flow regulation.

Collectively, these data provide direct evidence of the impact of COVID-19 on long-term cardiovascular health in two extremes of COVID-19: young previously healthy adults who had mild acute illness and patients with PASC, a significant proportion of who also were previously healthy. Importantly, some research (233, 234), including findings from chapter 4 of this dissertation suggests that some adverse effects of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health may not be permanent, but merely takes time to resolve. While this is encouraging, it is unknown whether there is complete resolution of detrimental effects of COVID-19 on cardiovascular health. SARS-CoV-2 continues to evolve into different variants with varying degrees of infectiousness and disease severity. Notably, we recently showed that cardiovascular health appears to be unaffected in young adults who contracted the Omicron variant (290). The differing pathogenicity of the virus and the introduction of vaccines against COVID-19 makes investigation of the long-term impact of COVID-19 challenging and interpretations complex. Nonetheless, large scale follow-up studies, and future studies investigating the impact of new SARS-COV-2 variants would provide important information on the long-term impact of COVID-19 on CVD risk and overall health.

Importantly, it should be recognized that PASC is a condition in which those affected experience ongoing debilitating symptoms without any signs of recovery even after one year since initial SARS-CoV-2 infection. This prompts the question whether the elevated CVD risk following COVID-19 could in fact be due to PASC. Indeed, our data suggests that elevated BP may be a complication of PASC. Given that hypertension is a primary risk factor for other CVD, understanding the mechanisms leading to elevated BP in PASC is important. In this regard, recent studies have reported persistence of viral particle for several months post SARS-CoV-2 infection (291, 292), including preliminary studies showing the presence of the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein in patients with PASC (293). Persistence of viral particles indicate the possibility of an ongoing inflammatory response. Indeed, a recent study reported the presence of an ongoing, sustained inflammatory response in PASC patients with high levels of circulating pro-inflammatory mediators (294). It is well known that inflammation and oxidative stress can trigger and mediate the progression of hypertension and other CVD (295, 296). Whether persistent inflammation contributes to adverse cardiovascular outcomes of PASC is still unknown. Indeed, although it is plausible that inflammation may lead to elevated arterial stiffness and high BP in PASC, it could be expected that inflammation would cause vascular dysfunction as well. However, we did not observe vascular dysfunction in PASC patients, and therefore, further studies are warranted to determine the potential contribution of inflammation to CVD risk in PASC. In addition, several clinical reports have indicated that a significant proportion of individuals who experience persistent COVID-19 related symptoms show clinical features suggestive of autonomic dysregulation (286, 297-299). Given that the sympathetic nervous system plays a vital role in the regulation of BP, it is reasonable to postulate that autonomic dysregulation in the form of augmented sympathetic activity may cause high BP in this population. In fact, a recent study involving stellate ganglion block, which blocks the sympathetic outflow to the head and neck region and upper limbs, was shown to improve PASC symptoms in two patients (253). While these findings provide preliminary evidence of involvement of sympathetic overactivity in PASC, further studies are needed to confirm these findings.

Collectively, the work presented in this dissertation provides novel information regarding the impact of COVID-19 and PASC on long-term cardiovascular health and CVD risk. Findings from these studies pave the way for future studies to explore potential therapeutic options that could reverse and/or mitigate the elevated CVD risk following COVID-19 and PASC.

References

- World Health Organization (WHO). Novel Coronavirus China [Online]. World Heal. Organ. Dis. outbreak news: 14–16, 2020. https://www.who.int/emergencies/disease-outbreak-news/item/2020-DON233 [17 Jun. 2022].
- 2. World Health Organization (WHO). WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 11 March 2020 [Online]. WHO Dir. Gen. speeches: 4, 2020. https://www.who.int/director-general/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020 [17 Jun. 2022].
- 3. **Elflein J.** Coronavirus (COVID-19) disease pandemic- Statistics & Facts _ Statista [Online]. 2022. https://www.statista.com/topics/5994/the-coronavirusdisease-covid-19-outbreak/#dossierKeyfigures [9 Jun. 2022].
- 4. Abou Ghayda R, Lee KH, Han YJ, Ryu S, Hong SH, Yoon S, Jeong GH, Yang JW, Lee HJ, Lee J, Lee JY, Effenberger M, Eisenhut M, Kronbichler A, Solmi M, Li H, Jacob L, Kovanagi A, Radua J, Park MB, Aghaveva S, Ahmed MLCB, Al Serouri A, Al-Shamsi HO, Amir-Behghadami M, Baatarkhuu O, Bashour H, Bondarenko A, Camacho-Ortiz A, Castro F, Cox H, Davtyan H, Douglas K, Dragioti E, Ebrahim S, Ferioli M, Harapan H, Mallah SI, Ikram A, Inoue S, Jankovic S, Jayarajah U, Jesenak M, Kakodkar P, Kebede Y, Kifle M, Koh D, Males VK, Kotfis K, Lakoh S, Ling L, Llibre-Guerra J, Machida M, Makurumidze R, Mamun MA, Masic I, Van Minh H, Moiseev S, Nadasdy T, Nahshon C, Ñamendys-Silva SA, Yongsi BN, Nielsen HB, Nodjikouambaye ZA, Ohnmar O, Oksanen A, Owopetu O, Parperis K, Perez GE, Pongpirul K, Rademaker M, Rosa S, Sah R, Sallam D, Schober P, Singhal T, Tafaj S, Torres I, Torres-Roman JS, Tsartsalis D, Tsolmon J, Tuychiev L, Vukcevic B, Wanghi G, Wollina U, Xu R, Yang L, Zaidi Z, Smith L, Shin J II. The global case fatality rate of coronavirus disease 2019 by continents and national income: A meta-analysis. J Med Virol 94: 2402-2413, 2022. doi: 10.1002/jmv.27610.
- 5. Xie Y, Xu E, Bowe B, Al-Aly Z. Long-term cardiovascular outcomes of COVID-19. Nat Med 28: 583–590, 2022. doi: 10.1038/s41591-022-01689-3.
- 6. **GBD-NHLBI-JACC Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases Writing Group.** Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases and Risk Factors, 1990-2019: Update From the GBD 2019 Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 76: 2982–3021, 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.11.010.
- 7. Tsao CW, Aday AW, Almarzooq ZI, Alonso A, Beaton AZ, Bittencourt MS, Boehme AK, Buxton AE, Carson AP, Commodore-Mensah Y, Elkind MS V, Evenson KR, Eze-Nliam C, Ferguson JF, Generoso G, Ho JE, Kalani R, Khan SS, Kissela BM, Knutson KL, Levine DA, Lewis TT, Liu J, Loop MS, Ma J, Mussolino ME, Navaneethan SD, Perak AM, Poudel R, Rezk-Hanna M, Roth GA, Schroeder EB, Shah SH, Thacker EL, VanWagner LB, Virani
SS, Voecks JH, Wang N-Y, Yaffe K, Martin SS. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2022 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation 145: e153–e639, 2022. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000001052.

- 8. **Simionescu M.** Implications of Early Structural-Functional Changes in the Endothelium for Vascular Disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27: 266–274, 2007. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000253884.13901.e4.
- 9. Widlansky ME, Gokce N, Keaney JF, Vita JA. The clinical implications of endothelial dysfunction. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 42 Elsevier Inc.: 1149–1160, 2003.
- 10. **Jay Widmer R, Lerman A.** Endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular disease. Glob Cardiol Sci Pract 2014: 43, 2014. doi: 10.5339/gcsp.2014.43.
- 11. **Teuwen LA, Geldhof V, Pasut A, Carmeliet P.** COVID-19: the vasculature unleashed. Nat Rev Immunol 2020 207 20: 389–391, 2020. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0343-0.
- Cunningham JW, Vaduganathan M, Claggett BL, Jering KS, Bhatt AS, Rosenthal N, Solomon SD. Clinical Outcomes in Young US Adults Hospitalized With COVID-19. JAMA Intern Med 181: 379, 2020. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.5313.
- 13. **Ranard LS, Engel DJ, Kirtane AJ, Masoumi A.** Coronary and cerebral thrombosis in a young patient after mild COVID-19 illness: a case report. Eur Hear journal Case reports 4: 1–5, 2020. doi: 10.1093/ehjcr/ytaa270.
- 14. Shams A, Ata F, Mushtaq K, Munir W, Yousaf Z. Coronary thrombosis in a young male with COVID-19. IDCases 21: e00923, 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.idcr.2020.e00923.
- 15. **Fara MG, Stein LK, Skliut M, Morgello S, Fifi JT, Dhamoon MS.** Macrothrombosis and stroke in patients with mild Covid-19 infection. J Thromb Haemost 18: 2031–2033, 2020. doi: 10.1111/jth.14938.
- Italian National Institute of Health COVID-19 Mortality Group. Clinical Characteristics of Hospitalized Individuals Dying With COVID-19 by Age Group in Italy. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 75: 1796–1800, 2020. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa146.
- Pediatric Mortality Investigation Team. SARS-CoV-2-Associated Deaths Among Persons Aged <21 Years - United States, February 12-July 31, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 69: 1324–1329, 2020. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6937e4.
- 18. Oxley TJ, Mocco J, Majidi S, Kellner CP, Shoirah H, Singh IP, De Leacy RA, Shigematsu T, Ladner TR, Yaeger KA, Skliut M, Weinberger J, Dangayach NS, Bederson JB, Tuhrim S, Fifi JT. Large-Vessel Stroke as a Presenting Feature of Covid-19 in the Young. N Engl J Med 382: e60, 2020. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2009787.
- 19. Taylor BES, Khandelwal P, Rallo MS, Patel P, Smith L, Sun H, Nanda A, Singla A, Roychowdhury S, Cheng RC, Lee K, Gupta G, Johnson SA. Outcomes and Spectrum of Major Neurovascular Events Among COVID-19 Patients: A 3-Center Experience. Neurosurg Open 1, 2020. doi: 10.1093/neuopn/okaa008.

- 20. Groff D, Sun A, Ssentongo AE, Ba DM, Parsons N, Poudel GR, Lekoubou A, Oh JS, Ericson JE, Ssentongo P, Chinchilli VM. Short-term and Long-term Rates of Postacute Sequelae of SARS-CoV-2 Infection. JAMA Netw Open 4: e2128568, 2021. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.28568.
- 21. **Callard F, Perego E.** How and why patients made Long Covid. Soc Sci Med 268: 113426, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113426.
- 22. Logue JK, Franko NM, McCulloch DJ, McDonald D, Magedson A, Wolf CR, Chu HY. Sequelae in Adults at 6 Months After COVID-19 Infection. JAMA Netw Open 4: e210830, 2021. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.0830.
- 23. **Taquet M, Dercon Q, Luciano S, Geddes JR, Husain M, Harrison PJ.** Incidence, co-occurrence, and evolution of long-COVID features: A 6-month retrospective cohort study of 273,618 survivors of COVID-19. PLOS Med 18: e1003773, 2021. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003773.
- 24. Lopez-Leon S, Wegman-Ostrosky T, Perelman C, Sepulveda R, Rebolledo PA, Cuapio A, Villapol S. More than 50 long-term effects of COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep 11: 16144, 2021. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-95565-8.
- 25. Augustin M, Schommers P, Stecher M, Dewald F, Gieselmann L, Gruell H, Horn C, Vanshylla K, Cristanziano V Di, Osebold L, Roventa M, Riaz T, Tschernoster N, Altmueller J, Rose L, Salomon S, Priesner V, Luers JC, Albus C, Rosenkranz S, Gathof B, Fätkenheuer G, Hallek M, Klein F, Suárez I, Lehmann C. Post-COVID syndrome in non-hospitalised patients with COVID-19: a longitudinal prospective cohort study. Lancet Reg Heal - Eur 6: 100122, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100122.
- 26. Al-Aly Z, Xie Y, Bowe B. High-dimensional characterization of post-acute sequelae of COVID-19. Nature 594: 259–264, 2021. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03553-9.
- 27. **Elflein J.** Total number of COVID-19 cases by age U.S. 2022 [Online]. Statista: 2022. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1254271/us-total-number-of-covid-cases-by-age-group/ [11 Apr. 2022].
- 28. Leinonen M, Saikku P. Evidence for infectious agents in cardiovascular disease and atherosclerosis. Lancet Infect Dis 2: 11–17, 2002. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(01)00168-2.
- 29. **Deanfield JE, Halcox JP, Rabelink TJ.** Endothelial function and dysfunction: testing and clinical relevance. Circulation 115: 1285–95, 2007. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.652859.
- 30. Vanhoutte PM, Shimokawa H, Feletou M, Tang EHC. Endothelial dysfunction and vascular disease a 30th anniversary update. Acta Physiol 219: 22–96, 2017. doi: 10.1111/apha.12646.
- Willie CK, Tzeng Y-C, Fisher JA, Ainslie PN. Integrative regulation of human brain blood flow. J Physiol 592: 841–859, 2014. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.268953.

- 32. **Furchgott RF, Zawadzki J V.** The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. Nature 288: 373–376, 1980. doi: 10.1038/288373a0.
- 33. **Barbato JE, Tzeng E.** Nitric oxide and arterial disease. J Vasc Surg 40: 187–93, 2004. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2004.03.043.
- 34. Yanagisawa M, Kurihara H, Kimura S, Tomobe Y, Kobayashi M, Mitsui Y, Yazaki Y, Goto K, Masaki T. A novel potent vasoconstrictor peptide produced by vascular endothelial cells. Nature 332: 411–5, 1988. doi: 10.1038/332411a0.
- 35. **D'Orléans-Juste P, Labonté J, Bkaily G, Choufani S, Plante M, Honoré JC.** Function of the endothelinB receptor in cardiovascular physiology and pathophysiology. Pharmacol Ther 95: 221–238, 2002. doi: 10.1016/S0163-7258(02)00235-8.
- 36. Hosoda K, Nakao K, Hiroshi-Arai, Suga S, Ogawa Y, Mukoyama M, Shirakami G, Saito Y, Nakanishi S, Imura H. Cloning and expression of human endothelin-1 receptor cDNA. FEBS Lett 287: 23–6, 1991. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(91)80007-p.
- Böhm F, Pernow J. The importance of endothelin-1 for vascular dysfunction in cardiovascular disease. Cardiovasc Res 76: 8–18, 2007. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2007.06.004.
- 38. **Sparks MA, Crowley SD, Gurley SB, Mirotsou M, Coffman TM.** Classical Renin-Angiotensin System in Kidney Physiology. In: Comprehensive Physiology. Wiley, 2014, p. 1201–1228.
- 39. **Fyhrquist F, Saijonmaa O.** Renin-angiotensin system revisited. J Intern Med 264: 224–36, 2008. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2008.01981.x.
- 40. **Paul M, Poyan Mehr A, Kreutz R.** Physiology of Local Renin-Angiotensin Systems. Physiol Rev 86: 747–803, 2006. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00036.2005.
- 41. **Tipnis SR, Hooper NM, Hyde R, Karran E, Christie G, Turner AJ.** A human homolog of angiotensin-converting enzyme. Cloning and functional expression as a captopril-insensitive carboxypeptidase. J Biol Chem 275: 33238–43, 2000. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M002615200.
- 42. Donoghue M, Hsieh F, Baronas E, Godbout K, Gosselin M, Stagliano N, Donovan M, Woolf B, Robison K, Jeyaseelan R, Breitbart RE, Acton S. A novel angiotensin-converting enzyme-related carboxypeptidase (ACE2) converts angiotensin I to angiotensin 1-9. Circ Res 87: E1-9, 2000. doi: 10.1161/01.res.87.5.e1.
- 43. **Touyz RM, Montezano AC.** Angiotensin-(1–7) and Vascular Function. Hypertension 71: 68–69, 2018. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.117.10406.
- 44. Lovren F, Pan Y, Quan A, Teoh H, Wang G, Shukla PC, Levitt KS, Oudit GY, Al-Omran M, Stewart DJ, Slutsky AS, Peterson MD, Backx PH, Penninger JM, Verma S. Angiotensin converting enzyme-2 confers endothelial protection and attenuates atherosclerosis. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 295: H1377-84, 2008. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00331.2008.
- 45. **Oudit GY, Crackower MA, Backx PH, Penninger JM.** The role of ACE2 in cardiovascular physiology. Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 13 Elsevier: 93–101, 2003.

- 46. **Joyner MJ, Charkoudian N, Wallin BG.** A sympathetic view of the sympathetic nervous system and human blood pressure regulation. Exp Physiol 93: 715–724, 2008. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2007.039545.
- 47. **Bruno RM, Ghiadoni L, Seravalle G, Dell'Oro R, Taddei S, Grassi G.** Sympathetic regulation of vascular function in health and disease. Front Physiol 3: 1–15, 2012. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2012.00284.
- 48. **Patel KP, Li YF, Hirooka Y.** Role of nitric oxide in central sympathetic outflow. Exp. Biol. Med. 226 SAGE PublicationsSage UK: London, England: 814–824, 2001.
- 49. **Mortensen LH.** Endothelin and the central and peripheral nervous systems: a decade of endothelin research. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 26: 980–4, 1999. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1681.1999.03175.x.
- 50. **Grassi G.** Renin–angiotensin–sympathetic crosstalks in hypertension: reappraising the relevance of peripheral interactions. J Hypertens 19: 1713–1716, 2001. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200110000-00003.
- 51. Lundman P, Eriksson MJ, Stühlinger M, Cooke JP, Hamsten A, Tornvall P. Mild-to-moderate hypertriglyceridemia in young men is associated with endothelial dysfunction and increased plasma concentrations of asymmetric dimethylarginine. J Am Coll Cardiol 38: 111–6, 2001. doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(01)01318-3.
- 52. Ford MA, McConnell JP, Lavi S, Rihal CS, Prasad A, Sandhu GS, Hartman SJ, Lerman LO, Lerman A. Coronary artery endothelial dysfunction is positively correlated with low density lipoprotein and inversely correlated with high density lipoprotein subclass particles measured by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Atherosclerosis 207: 111–115, 2009. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2009.04.039.
- 53. **Yang Z, Kaye DM.** Endothelial dysfunction and impaired L-arginine transport in hypertension and genetically predisposed normotensive subjects. Trends Cardiovasc Med 16: 118–24, 2006. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2006.02.003.
- 54. **Solzbach U, Hornig B, Jeserich M, Just H.** Vitamin C improves endothelial dysfunction of epicardial coronary arteries in hypertensive patients. Circulation 96: 1513–1519, 1997. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.96.5.1513.
- 55. **Caballero AE.** Endothelial dysfunction in obesity and insulin resistance: a road to diabetes and heart disease. Obes Res 11: 1278–89, 2003. doi: 10.1038/oby.2003.174.
- 56. Lavi S, Prasad A, Yang EH, Mathew V, Simari RD, Rihal CS, Lerman LO, Lerman A. Smoking is associated with epicardial coronary endothelial dysfunction and elevated white blood cell count in patients with chest pain and early coronary artery disease. Circulation 115: 2621–2627, 2007. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.641654.
- 57. Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Spiegelhalter DJ, Georgakopoulos D, Robinson J, Deanfield JE. Aging is associated with endothelial dysfunction in healthy men years before the age-related decline in women. J Am Coll Cardiol 24: 471–476, 1994. doi: 10.1016/0735-1097(94)90305-0.

- 58. Clarkson P, Celermajer DS, Powe AJ, Donald AE, Henry RMA, Deanfield JE. Endothelium-dependent dilatation is impaired in young healthy subjects with a family history of premature coronary disease. Circulation 96: 3378–3383, 1997. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.96.10.3378.
- 59. Li LJ, Geng SR, Yu CM. Endothelial dysfunction in normotensive Chinese with a family history of essential hypertension. Clin Exp Hypertens 27: 1–8, 2005. doi: 10.1081/CEH-200044242.
- 60. **Savoia C, Schiffrin EL.** Inhibition of the renin angiotensin system: Implications for the endothelium. Curr Diab Rep 6: 274–278, 2006. doi: 10.1007/s11892-006-0060-5.
- 61. **Sverrisdóttir YB, Jansson LM, Hägg U, Gan L-M.** Muscle sympathetic nerve activity is related to a surrogate marker of endothelial function in healthy individuals. PLoS One 5: e9257, 2010. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009257.
- 62. **Kaplon RE, Walker AE, Seals DR.** Plasma norepinephrine is an independent predictor of vascular endothelial function with aging in healthy women. J Appl Physiol 111: 1416–1421, 2011. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00721.2011.
- 63. Working Group on Endothelins and Endothelial Factors of the European Society of Hypertension. Endothelial function and dysfunction. Part II: Association with cardiovascular risk factors and diseases. A statement by the Working Group on Endothelins and Endothelial Factors of the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens 23: 233–46, 2005. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200502000-00001.
- 64. Thijssen DHJ, Bruno RM, Van Mil ACCM, Holder SM, Faita F, Greyling A, Zock PL, Taddei S, Deanfield JE, Luscher T, Green DJ, Ghiadoni L. Expert consensus and evidence-based recommendations for the assessment of flowmediated dilation in humans. Eur Heart J 40: 2534–2547, 2019. doi: 10.1093/EURHEARTJ/EHZ350.
- 65. Harris RA, Nishiyama SK, Wray DW, Richardson RS. Ultrasound assessment of flow-mediated dilation. Hypertension 55: 1075–1085, 2010. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.150821.
- 66. Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Gooch VM, Spiegelhalter DJ, Miller OI, Sullivan ID, Lloyd JK, Deanfield JE. Non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis. Lancet 340: 1111– 1115, 1992. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(92)93147-F.
- 67. Anderson TJ, Uehata A, Gerhard MD, Meredith IT, Knab S, Delagrange D, Lieberman EH, Ganz P, Creager MA, Yeung AC, Selwyn AP. Close relation of endothelial function in the human coronary and peripheral circulations. J Am Coll Cardiol 26: 1235–1241, 1995. doi: 10.1016/0735-1097(95)00327-4.
- 68. Takase B, Uehata A, Akima T, Nagai T, Nishioka T, Hamabe A, Satomura K, Ohsuzu F, Kurita A. Endothelium-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation in coronary and brachial arteries in suspected coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 82: 1535–1539, 1998. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9149(98)00702-4.

- 69. **Inaba Y, Chen JA, Bergmann SR.** Prediction of future cardiovascular outcomes by flow-mediated vasodilatation of brachial artery: A meta-analysis. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 26: 631–640, 2010. doi: 10.1007/s10554-010-9616-1.
- 70. **Ras RT, Streppel MT, Draijer R, Zock PL.** Flow-mediated dilation and cardiovascular risk prediction: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol 168: 344–351, 2013. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.09.047.
- 71. **Green DJ, Jones H, Thijssen D, Cable NT, Atkinson G.** Flow-Mediated Dilation and Cardiovascular Event Prediction. Hypertension 57: 363–369, 2011. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.167015.
- 72. Xu Y, Arora RC, Hiebert BM, Lerner B, Szwajcer A, McDonald K, Rigatto C, Komenda P, Sood MM, Tangri N. Non-invasive endothelial function testing and the risk of adverse outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Hear J Cardiovasc Imaging 15: 736–746, 2014. doi: 10.1093/ehjci/jet256.
- 73. **Matsuzawa Y, Kwon T, Lennon RJ, Lerman LO, Lerman A.** Prognostic Value of Flow-Mediated Vasodilation in Brachial Artery and Fingertip Artery for Cardiovascular Events: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Am Heart Assoc 4, 2015. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002270.
- 74. Yeboah J, Folsom AR, Burke GL, Johnson C, Polak JF, Post W, Lima JA, Crouse JR, Herrington DM. Predictive value of brachial flow-mediated dilation for incident cardiovascular events in a population-based study: The multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. Circulation 120: 502–509, 2009. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.864801.
- 75. **Green DJ, Dawson EA, Groenewoud HMM, Jones H, Thijssen DHJ**. Is flowmediated dilation nitric oxide mediated?: A meta-analysis. Hypertension 63: 376– 382, 2014. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.02044.
- 76. **Rosenberry R, Nelson MD.** Reactive hyperemia: a review of methods, mechanisms, and considerations. Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol 318: R605–R618, 2020. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00339.2019.
- 77. Limberg JK, Casey DP, Trinity JD, Nicholson WT, Wray DW, Tschakovsky ME, Green DJ, Hellsten Y, Fadel PJ, Joyner MJ, Padilla J. Assessment of resistance vessel function in human skeletal muscle: guidelines for experimental design, Doppler ultrasound, and pharmacology. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 318: H301–H325, 2020. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00649.2019.
- 78. **Hayoz D, Weber R, Rutschmann B, Darioli R, Burnier M, Waeber B, Brunner HR.** Postischemic Blood Flow Response in Hypercholesterolemic Patients. Hypertension 26: 497–502, 1995. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.26.3.497.
- 79. Vita JA, Keaney JF, Larson MG, Keyes MJ, Massaro JM, Lipinska I, Lehman BT, Fan S, Osypiuk E, Wilson PWF, Vasan RS, Mitchell GF, Benjamin EJ. Brachial Artery Vasodilator Function and Systemic Inflammation in the Framingham Offspring Study. Circulation 110: 3604–3609, 2004. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000148821.97162.5E.
- 80. Wilker EH, Ljungman PL, Rice MB, Kloog I, Schwartz J, Gold DR, Koutrakis P, Vita JA, Mitchell GF, Vasan RS, Benjamin EJ, Hamburg NM, Mittleman MA. Relation of Long-Term Exposure to Air Pollution to Brachial

Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation and Reactive Hyperemia. Am J Cardiol 113: 2057–2063, 2014. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.03.048.

- 81. Philpott AC, Lonn E, Title LM, Verma S, Buithieu J, Charbonneau F, Anderson TJ. Comparison of New Measures of Vascular Function to Flow Mediated Dilatation as a Measure of Cardiovascular Risk Factors. Am J Cardiol 103: 1610–1615, 2009. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2009.01.376.
- 82. Huang AL, Silver AE, Shvenke E, Schopfer DW, Jahangir E, Titas MA, Shpilman A, Menzoian JO, Watkins MT, Raffetto JD, Gibbons G, Woodson J, Shaw PM, Dhadly M, Eberhardt RT, Keaney JF, Gokce N, Vita JA. Predictive Value of Reactive Hyperemia for Cardiovascular Events in Patients With Peripheral Arterial Disease Undergoing Vascular Surgery. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27: 2113–2119, 2007. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.147322.
- 83. Anderson TJ, Charbonneau F, Title LM, Buithieu J, Rose MS, Conradson H, Hildebrand K, Fung M, Verma S, Lonn EM. Microvascular Function Predicts Cardiovascular Events in Primary Prevention. Circulation 123: 163–169, 2011. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.953653.
- 84. **Peterson EC, Wang Z, Britz G.** Regulation of cerebral blood flow. Int J Vasc Med 2011: 823525, 2011. doi: 10.1155/2011/823525.
- 85. **Brian JE, Faraci FM, Heistad DD.** Recent insights into the regulation of cerebral circulation. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 23: 449–457, 1996. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1681.1996.tb02760.x.
- 86. **Kety SS, Schmidt CF.** The effects of altered arterial tensions of carbon dioxide and oxygen on cerebral blood flow and cerebral oxygen consumption of normal young men. J Clin Invest 27: 484–492, 1948. doi: 10.1172/JCI101995.
- 87. **Hoiland RL, Fisher JA, Ainslie PN.** Regulation of the Cerebral Circulation by Arterial Carbon Dioxide. In: Comprehensive Physiology. Wiley, 2019, p. 1101–1154.
- 88. Willie CK, Macleod DB, Shaw AD, Smith KJ, Tzeng YC, Eves ND, Ikeda K, Graham J, Lewis NC, Day TA, Ainslie PN. Regional brain blood flow in man during acute changes in arterial blood gases. J Physiol 590: 3261–3275, 2012. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.228551.
- Boedtkjer E. Acid–base regulation and sensing: Accelerators and brakes in metabolic regulation of cerebrovascular tone. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 38: 588– 602, 2018. doi: 10.1177/0271678X17733868.
- 90. Kontos HA, Raper AJ, Patterson JL. Analysis of vasoactivity of local pH, PCO2 and bicarbonate on pial vessels. Stroke 8: 358–360, 1977. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.8.3.358.
- 91. Kontos HA, Wei EP, Raper AJ, Patterson JL. Local mechanism of CO2 action of cat pial arterioles. Stroke 8: 226–229, 1977. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.8.2.226.
- 92. **Tian R, Vogel P, Lassen NA, Mulvany MJ, Andreasen F, Aalkjær C.** Role of Extracellular and Intracellular Acidosis for Hypercapnia-Induced Inhibition of Tension of Isolated Rat Cerebral Arteries. Circ Res 76: 269–275, 1995. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.76.2.269.

- 93. Lavi S, Egbarya R, Lavi R, Jacob G. Role of nitric oxide in the regulation of cerebral blood flow in humans: Chemoregulation versus mechanoregulation. Circulation 107: 1901–1905, 2003. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000057973.99140.5A.
- 94. **Zimmermann C, Haberl RL.** L-arginine improves diminished cerebral CO2 reactivity in patients. Stroke 34: 643–647, 2003. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000056526.35630.47.
- 95. **Halvorson B, Frisbee J.** Cerebral Vascular Tone Regulation: Integration and Impact of Disease. In: Basic and Clinical Understanding of Microcirculation. IntechOpen, 2020, p. 13.
- 96. **Hurr C, Patik JC, Kim KY, Brothers RM.** Blunted cerebral vascular responsiveness to hypercapnia in obese individuals. Exp Physiol 102: 1300–1308, 2017. doi: 10.1113/EP086446.
- 97. **Kitayama J, Faraci FM, Lentz SR, Heistad DD.** Cerebral vascular dysfunction during hypercholesterolemia. Stroke 38: 2136–2141, 2007. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.481879.
- 98. Kadoi Y, Hinohara H, Kunimoto F, Saito S, Ide M, Hiraoka H, Kawahara F, Goto F. Diabetic Patients Have an Impaired Cerebral Vasodilatory Response to Hypercapnia Under Propofol Anesthesia. Stroke 34: 2399–2403, 2003. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000090471.28672.65.
- 99. Lavi S, Gaitini D, Milloul V, Jacob G. Impaired cerebral CO 2 vasoreactivity: association with endothelial dysfunction. Am J Physiol Circ Physiol 291: H1856–H1861, 2006. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00014.2006.
- 100. Bakker SLM, De Leeuw FE, Den Heijer T, Koudstaal PJ, Hofman A, Breteler MMB. Cerebral haemodynamics in the elderly: The Rotterdam study. Neuroepidemiology 23: 178–184, 2004. doi: 10.1159/000078503.
- 101. Vicenzini E, Ricciardi MC, Altieri M, Puccinelli F, Bonaffini N, Di Piero V, Lenzi GL. Cerebrovascular reactivity in degenerative and vascular dementia: A transcranial doppler study. Eur Neurol 58: 84–89, 2007. doi: 10.1159/000103642.
- 102. Gupta A, Chazen JL, Hartman M, Delgado D, Anumula N, Shao H, Mazumdar M, Segal AZ, Kamel H, Leifer D, Sanelli PC. Cerebrovascular reserve and stroke risk in patients with carotid stenosis or occlusion: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Stroke 43 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins Hagerstown, MD: 2884–2891, 2012.
- 103. **Portegies MLP, de Bruijn RFAG, Hofman A, Koudstaal PJ, Ikram MA.** Cerebral Vasomotor Reactivity and Risk of Mortality. Stroke 45: 42–47, 2014. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.002348.
- 104. Fierstra J, Sobczyk O, Battisti-Charbonney A, Mandell DM, Poublanc J, Crawley AP, Mikulis DJ, Duffin J, Fisher JA. Measuring cerebrovascular reactivity: what stimulus to use? J Physiol 591: 5809–5821, 2013. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.259150.
- 105. Vorstrup S, Brun B, Lassen NA. Evaluation of the cerebral vasodilatory capacity by the acetazolamide test before EC-IC bypass surgery in patients with occlusion of the internal carotid artery. Stroke 17: 1291–1298, 1986. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.17.6.1291.

- 106. **Yonas H, Smith HA, Durham SR, Pentheny SL, Johnson DW.** Increased stroke risk predicted by compromised cerebral blood flow reactivity. J Neurosurg 79: 483–489, 1993. doi: 10.3171/jns.1993.79.4.0483.
- 107. Karnik R, Valentin A, Winkler W-B, Khaffaf N, Donath P, Slany J. Sex-Related Differences in Acetazolamide-Induced Cerebral Vasomotor Reactivity. Stroke 27: 56–58, 1996. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.27.1.56.
- 108. Gambhir S, Inao S, Tadokoro M, Nishino M, Ito K, Ishigaki T, Kuchiwaki H, Yoshida J. Comparison of vasodilatory effect of carbon dioxide inhalation and intravenous acetazolamide on brain vasculature using positron emission tomography. Neurol Res 19: 139–144, 1997. doi: 10.1080/01616412.1997.11740787.
- 109. **Markus HS, Harrison MJG.** Estimation of cerebrovascular reactivity using transcranial Doppler, including the use of breath-holding as the vasodilatory stimulus. Stroke 23: 668–673, 1992. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.23.5.668.
- 110. Müller M, Voges M, Piepgras U, Schimrigk K. Assessment of Cerebral Vasomotor Reactivity by Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound and Breath-Holding. Stroke 26: 96–100, 1995. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.26.1.96.
- 111. Kastrup A, Krüger G, Neumann-Haefelin T, Moseley ME. Assessment of cerebrovascular reactivity with functional magnetic resonance imaging: comparison of CO2 and breath holding. Magn Reson Imaging 19: 13–20, 2001. doi: 10.1016/S0730-725X(01)00227-2.
- 112. **Brothers RM, Lucas RAI, Zhu Y, Crandall CG, Zhang R.** Cerebral vasomotor reactivity: steady-state versus transient changes in carbon dioxide tension. Exp Physiol 99: 1499–1510, 2014. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2014.081190.
- 113. **Hurr C, Kim K, Harrison ML, Brothers RM.** Attenuated cerebral vasodilatory capacity in response to hypercapnia in college-aged African Americans. Exp Physiol 100: 35–43, 2015. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2014.082362.
- 114. Claassen JAHRHR, Zhang R, Fu Q, Witkowski S, Levine BD. Transcranial Doppler estimation of cerebral blood flow and cerebrovascular conductance during modified rebreathing. J Appl Physiol 102: 870–877, 2007. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00906.2006.
- 115. **Hwang J, Kim K, Brothers RM, Castelli DM, Gonzalez-Lima F.** Association between aerobic fitness and cerebrovascular function with neurocognitive functions in healthy, young adults. Exp Brain Res 236: 1421–1430, 2018. doi: 10.1007/s00221-018-5230-6.
- 116. **Tomoto T, Riley J, Turner M, Zhang R, Tarumi T.** Cerebral vasomotor reactivity during hypo- and hypercapnia across the adult lifespan. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 40: 600–610, 2020. doi: 10.1177/0271678X19828327.
- 117. Tomoto T, Tarumi T, Chen J, Pasha EP, Cullum CM, Zhang R, De La Torre J. Cerebral Vasomotor Reactivity in Amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment. J Alzheimer's Dis 77: 191–202, 2020. doi: 10.3233/JAD-200194.
- 118. Willie CK, Colino FL, Bailey DM, Tzeng YC, Binsted G, Jones LW, Haykowsky MJ, Bellapart J, Ogoh S, Smith KJ, Smirl JD, Day TA, Lucas SJ, Eller LK, Ainslie PN. Utility of transcranial Doppler ultrasound for the

integrative assessment of cerebrovascular function. J Neurosci Methods 196: 221–237, 2011. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2011.01.011.

- 119. **Aaslid R, Markwalder T-M, Nornes H.** Noninvasive transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording of flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. J Neurosurg 57: 769–774, 1982. doi: 10.3171/jns.1982.57.6.0769.
- 120. Verbree J, Bronzwaer A-SGT, Ghariq E, Versluis MJ, Daemen MJAP, van Buchem MA, Dahan A, van Lieshout JJ, van Osch MJP. Assessment of middle cerebral artery diameter during hypocapnia and hypercapnia in humans using ultra-high-field MRI. J Appl Physiol 117: 1084–1089, 2014. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00651.2014.
- 121. Serrador JM, Picot PA, Rutt BK, Shoemaker JK, Bondar RL. MRI Measures of Middle Cerebral Artery Diameter in Conscious Humans During Simulated Orthostasis. Stroke 31: 1672–1678, 2000. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.31.7.1672.
- 122. **Bishop CCR, Powell S, Rutt D, Browse NL.** Transcranial Doppler measurement of middle cerebral artery blood flow velocity: a validation study. Stroke 17: 913–915, 1986. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.17.5.913.
- 123. Valdueza JM, Balzer JO, Villringer A, Vogl TJ, Kutter R, Einhäupl KM. Changes in blood flow velocity and diameter of the middle cerebral artery during hyperventilation: Assessment with MR and Transcranial Doppler sonography. In: American Journal of Neuroradiology. 1997, p. 1929–1934.
- 124. **Ainslie PN, Hoiland RL.** Transcranial Doppler ultrasound: Valid, invalid, or both? J Appl Physiol 117: 1081–1083, 2014. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00854.2014.
- 125. **Coverdale NS, Gati JS, Opalevych O, Perrotta A, Shoemaker JK.** Cerebral blood flow velocity underestimates cerebral blood flow during modest hypercapnia and hypocapnia. J Appl Physiol 117: 1090–1096, 2014. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00285.2014.
- 126. Zieman SJ, Melenovsky V, Kass DA. Mechanisms, pathophysiology, and therapy of arterial stiffness. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins: 932–943, 2005.
- 127. Wilkinson IB, Franklin SS, Cockcroft JR. Nitric Oxide and the Regulation of Large Artery Stiffness. Hypertension 44: 112–116, 2004. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000138068.03893.40.
- 128. **Bank AJ, Wilson RF, Kubo SH, Holte JE, Dresing TJ, Wang H.** Direct effects of smooth muscle relaxation and contraction on in vivo human brachial artery elastic properties. Circ Res 77: 1008–1016, 1995. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.77.5.1008.
- Kinlay S, Creager MA, Fukumoto M, Hikita H, Fang JC, Selwyn AP, Ganz P. Endothelium-derived nitric oxide regulates arterial elasticity in human arteries in vivo. Hypertension 38: 1049–1053, 2001. doi: 10.1161/hy1101.095329.
- 130. Stewart AD, Millasseau SC, Kearney MT, Ritter JM, Chowienczyk PJ. Effects of Inhibition of Basal Nitric Oxide Synthesis on Carotid-Femoral Pulse Wave Velocity and Augmentation Index in Humans. Hypertension 42: 915–918, 2003. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000092882.65699.19.

- 131. Safar ME, Asmar R, Benetos A, Blacher J, Boutouyrie P, Lacolley P, Laurent S, London G, Pannier B, Protogerou A, Regnault V. Interaction between hypertension and arterial stiffness an expert reappraisal. Hypertension 72: 796–805, 2018. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.11212.
- 132. Mitchell GF, Hwang S-J, Vasan RS, Larson MG, Pencina MJ, Hamburg NM, Vita J a, Levy D, Benjamin EJ. Arterial stiffness and cardiovascular events: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 121: 505–11, 2010. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.886655.
- 133. Zhong Q, Hu M-J, Cui Y-J, Liang L, Zhou M-M, Yang Y-W, Huang F. Carotid–Femoral Pulse Wave Velocity in the Prediction of Cardiovascular Events and Mortality: An Updated Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Angiology 69: 617–629, 2018. doi: 10.1177/0003319717742544.
- 134. Cecelja M, Chowienczyk P. Dissociation of Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity With Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Disease Other Than Hypertension. Hypertension 54: 1328–1336, 2009. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.137653.
- 135. Kaess BM, Rong J, Larson MG, Hamburg NM, Vita JA, Levy D, Benjamin EJ, Vasan RS, Mitchell GF. Aortic Stiffness, Blood Pressure Progression, and Incident Hypertension. JAMA 308: 875, 2012. doi: 10.1001/2012.jama.10503.
- Liao D, Arnett DK, Tyroler HA, Riley WA, Chambless LE, Szklo M, Heiss G. Arterial Stiffness and the Development of Hypertension. Hypertension 34: 201–206, 1999. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.34.2.201.
- 137. Koivistoinen T, Lyytikäinen L-P, Aatola H, Luukkaala T, Juonala M, Viikari J, Lehtimäki T, Raitakari OT, Kähönen M, Hutri-Kähönen N. Pulse Wave Velocity Predicts the Progression of Blood Pressure and Development of Hypertension in Young Adults. Hypertension 71: 451–456, 2018. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.117.10368.
- 138. Van Bortel LM, Laurent S, Boutouyrie P, Chowienczyk P, Cruickshank JK, De Backer T, Filipovsky J, Huybrechts S, Mattace-Raso FUS, Protogerou AD, Schillaci G, Segers P, Vermeersch S, Weber T. Expert consensus document on the measurement of aortic stiffness in daily practice using carotidfemoral pulse wave velocity. J Hypertens 30: 445–448, 2012. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e32834fa8b0.
- 139. Laurent S, Cockcroft J, Van Bortel L, Boutouyrie P, Giannattasio C, Hayoz D, Pannier B, Vlachopoulos C, Wilkinson I, Struijker-Boudier H. Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: methodological issues and clinical applications. Eur Heart J 27: 2588–2605, 2006. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehl254.
- 140. Townsend RR, Wilkinson IB, Schiffrin EL, Avolio AP, Chirinos JA, Cockcroft JR, Heffernan KS, Lakatta EG, McEniery CM, Mitchell GF, Najjar SS, Nichols WW, Urbina EM, Weber T. Recommendations for Improving and Standardizing Vascular Research on Arterial Stiffness. Hypertension 66: 698–722, 2015. doi: 10.1161/HYP.000000000000033.
- 141. Vlachopoulos C, Aznaouridis K, Stefanadis C. Prediction of Cardiovascular Events and All-Cause Mortality With Arterial Stiffness. J Am Coll Cardiol 55: 1318–1327, 2010. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.10.061.

- 142. Wilkinson IB, McEniery CM, Schillaci G, Boutouyrie P, Segers P, Donald A, Chowienczyk PJ. ARTERY Society guidelines for validation of non-invasive haemodynamic measurement devices: Part 1, arterial pulse wave velocity. Artery Res 4: 34, 2010. doi: 10.1016/j.artres.2010.03.001.
- 143. Segers P, Rietzschel ER, Chirinos JA. How to Measure Arterial Stiffness in Humans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 40: 1034–1043, 2020. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.313132.
- 144. Wimmer NJ, Townsend RR, Joffe MM, Lash JP, Go AS, Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort Study Investigators. Correlation between pulse wave velocity and other measures of arterial stiffness in chronic kidney disease. Clin Nephrol 68: 133–43, 2007.
- 145. **Pereira T, Maldonado J.** Comparative study of two generations of the Complior device for aortic pulse wave velocity measurements. Blood Press Monit 15: 316–321, 2010. doi: 10.1097/MBP.0b013e32833f5685.
- 146. Wright JS, Cruickshank JK, Kontis S, Doré C, Gosling RG. Aortic compliance measured by non-invasive Doppler ultrasound: Description of a method and its reproducibility. Clin Sci 78: 463–468, 1990. doi: 10.1042/cs0780463.
- 147. Salvi P, Lio G, Labat C, Ricci E, Pannier B, Benetos A. Validation of a new non-invasive portable tonometer for determining arterial pressure wave and pulse wave velocity. J Hypertens 22: 2285–2293, 2004. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200412000-00010.
- 148. Wilkinson IB, MacCallum H, Flint L, Cockcroft JR, Newby DE, Webb DJ. The influence of heart rate on augmentation index and central arterial pressure in humans. J Physiol 525: 263, 2000. doi: 10.1111/J.1469-7793.2000.T01-1-00263.X.
- 149. Wilkinson IB, Mohammad NH, Tyrrell S, Hall IR, Webb DJ, Paul VE, Levy T, Cockcroft JR. Heart rate dependency of pulse pressure amplification and arterial stiffness. Am J Hypertens 15: 24–30, 2002. doi: 10.1016/S0895-7061(01)02252-X.
- Sharman JE, Davies JE, Jenkins C, Marwick TH. Augmentation Index, Left Ventricular Contractility, and Wave Reflection. Hypertension 54: 1099–1105, 2009. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.133066.
- 151. **Beevers G.** ABC of hypertension: The pathophysiology of hypertension. BMJ 322: 912–916, 2001. doi: 10.1136/bmj.322.7291.912.
- 152. **Mitchell GF.** Arterial Stiffness and Hypertension. Hypertension 64: 13–18, 2014. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.00921.
- 153. **Brandes RP.** Endothelial Dysfunction and Hypertension. Hypertension 64: 924–928, 2014. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.03575.
- 154. **Mancia G, Grassi G.** The autonomic nervous system and hypertension. Circ Res 114: 1804–14, 2014. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.302524.
- 155. Wu J-S, Lu F-H, Yang Y-C, Lin T-S, Chen J-J, Wu C-H, Huang Y-H, Chang C-J. Epidemiological study on the effect of pre-hypertension and family history

of hypertension on cardiac autonomic function. J Am Coll Cardiol 51: 1896–901, 2008. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.12.053.

- 156. Ferrara LA, Moscato TS, Pisanti N, Marotta T, Krogh V, Capone D, Mancini M. Is the sympathetic nervous system altered in children with familial history of arterial hypertension? Cardiology 75: 200–5, 1988. doi: 10.1159/000174371.
- 157. Lewington S, Clarke R, Qizilbash N, Peto R, Collins R, Prospective Studies Collaboration. Age-specific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies. Lancet 360: 1903–1913, 2002. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11911-8.
- 158. Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE, Collins KJ, Dennison Himmelfarb C, DePalma SM, Gidding S, Jamerson KA, Jones DW, MacLaughlin EJ, Muntner P, Ovbiagele B, Smith SC, Spencer CC, Stafford RS, Taler SJ, Thomas RJ, Williams KA, Williamson JD, Wright JT. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA Guideline for the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Management of High Blood Pressure in Adults. J Am Coll Cardiol 71: e127–e248, 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.11.006.
- 159. Luo D, Cheng Y, Zhang H, Ba M, Chen P, Li H, Chen K, Sha W, Zhang C, Chen H. Association between high blood pressure and long term cardiovascular events in young adults: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 370: m3222, 2020. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m3222.
- 160. Ettehad D, Emdin CA, Kiran A, Anderson SG, Callender T, Emberson J, Chalmers J, Rodgers A, Rahimi K. Blood pressure lowering for prevention of cardiovascular disease and death: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 387: 957–967, 2016. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01225-8.
- 161. Mancia G, Ferrari A, Gregorini L, Parati G, Pomidossi G, Bertinieri G, Grassi G, di Rienzo M, Pedotti A, Zanchetti A. Blood pressure and heart rate variabilities in normotensive and hypertensive human beings. Circ Res 53: 96– 104, 1983. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.53.1.96.
- 162. **Rosei EA, Chiarini G, Rizzoni D.** How important is blood pressure variability? Eur Hear J Suppl 22: E1–E6, 2020. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/suaa061.
- 163. Parati G, Schumacher H. Blood pressure variability over 24 h: prognostic implications and treatment perspectives. An assessment using the smoothness index with telmisartan–amlodipine monotherapy and combination. Hypertens Res 2014 373 37: 187–193, 2013. doi: 10.1038/hr.2013.145.
- 164. Wei FF, Li Y, Zhang L, Xu TY, Ding FH, Wang JG, Staessen JA. Beat-tobeat, reading-to-reading, and day-to-day blood pressure variability in relation to organ damage in untreated chinese. Hypertension 63: 790–796, 2014. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.02681.
- 165. Webb AJS, Mazzucco S, Li L, Rothwell PM. Prognostic Significance of Blood Pressure Variability on Beat-to-Beat Monitoring After Transient Ischemic Attack and Stroke. Stroke 49: 62–67, 2018. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.019107.

- 166. Young BE, Kaur J, Vranish JR, Stephens BY, Barbosa TC, Cloud JN, Wang J, Keller DM, Fadel PJ. Augmented resting beat-to-beat blood pressure variability in young, healthy, non-Hispanic black men. Exp Physiol 105: 1102–1110, 2020. doi: 10.1113/EP088535.
- 167. Muntner P, Lewis CE, Diaz KM, Carson AP, Kim Y, Calhoun D, Yano Y, Viera AJ, Shimbo D. Racial Differences in Abnormal Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring Measures: Results From the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) Study. Am J Hypertens 28: 640–648, 2015. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpu193.
- 168. Muntner P, Shimbo D, Carey RM, Charleston JB, Gaillard T, Misra S, Myers MG, Ogedegbe G, Schwartz JE, Townsend RR, Urbina EM, Viera AJ, White WB, Wright JT. Measurement of Blood Pressure in Humans: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Hypertension 73: E35–E66, 2019. doi: 10.1161/HYP.00000000000087.
- 169. **TRUE Consortium.** Recommended standards for assessing blood pressure in human research where blood pressure or hypertension is a major focus. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) 19: 108–113, 2017. doi: 10.1111/jch.12948.
- Parati G, Ongaro G, Bilo G, Glavina F, Castiglioni P, Di Rienzo M, Mancia G. Non-invasive beat-to-beat blood pressure monitoring: new developments. Blood Press Monit 8: 31–6, 2003. doi: 10.1097/00126097-200302000-00007.
- 171. Carlson DJ, Dieberg G, Mcfarlane JR, Smart NA. Blood pressure measurements in research: suitability of auscultatory, beat-to-beat, and ambulatory blood pressure measurements. Blood Press Monit 24: 18–23, 2019. doi: 10.1097/MBP.00000000000355.
- 172. O'Brien E, Parati G, Stergiou G. Ambulatory Blood Pressure Measurement. Hypertension 62: 988–994, 2013. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.02148.
- 173. JCS Joint Working Group. Guidelines for the Clinical Use of 24 Hour Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring (ABPM) (JCS 2010) - Digest Version -. Circ J 76: 508–519, 2012. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-88-0020.
- 174. Mancia G, Verdecchia P. Clinical Value of Ambulatory Blood Pressure: Evidence and Limits. Circ Res 116: 1034–1045, 2015. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303755.
- 175. **Thakkar H V, Pope A, Anpalahan M.** Masked Hypertension: A Systematic Review. Hear Lung Circ 29: 102–111, 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2019.08.006.
- 176. Mancia G, Bombelli M, Facchetti R, Madotto F, Corrao G, Trevano FQ, Grassi G, Sega R. Long-term prognostic value of blood pressure variability in the general population: Results of the Pressioni Arteriose Monitorate e Lassociazioni Study. Hypertension 49: 1265–1270, 2007. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.088708.
- 177. Yang W-Y, Melgarejo JD, Thijs L, Zhang Z-Y, Boggia J, Wei F-F, Hansen TW, Asayama K, Ohkubo T, Jeppesen J, Dolan E, Stolarz-Skrzypek K, Malyutina S, Casiglia E, Lind L, Filipovský J, Maestre GE, Li Y, Wang J-G, Imai Y, Kawecka-Jaszcz K, Sandoya E, Narkiewicz K, O'Brien E,

Verhamme P, Staessen JA. Association of Office and Ambulatory Blood Pressure With Mortality and Cardiovascular Outcomes. JAMA 322: 409, 2019. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.9811.

- 178. Banegas JR, Ruilope LM, de la Sierra A, Vinyoles E, Gorostidi M, de la Cruz JJ, Ruiz-Hurtado G, Segura J, Rodríguez-Artalejo F, Williams B. Relationship between Clinic and Ambulatory Blood-Pressure Measurements and Mortality. N Engl J Med 378: 1509–1520, 2018. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1712231.
- 179. **Mariano G, Farthing RJ, Lale-Farjat SLM, Bergeron JRC.** Structural Characterization of SARS-CoV-2: Where We Are, and Where We Need to Be. Front Mol Biosci 7: 605236, 2020. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2020.605236.
- 180. **Coleman CM, Frieman MB.** Coronaviruses: important emerging human pathogens. J Virol 88: 5209–12, 2014. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03488-13.
- 181. Cui J, Li F, Shi Z-L. Origin and evolution of pathogenic coronaviruses. Nat Rev Microbiol 17: 181–192, 2019. doi: 10.1038/s41579-018-0118-9.
- 182. **Zhu Z, Lian X, Su X, Wu W, Marraro GA, Zeng Y.** From SARS and MERS to COVID-19: a brief summary and comparison of severe acute respiratory infections caused by three highly pathogenic human coronaviruses. Respir Res 21: 224, 2020. doi: 10.1186/s12931-020-01479-w.
- 183. **Else H.** The pandemic's true health cost: how much of our lives has COVID stolen? Nature 605: 410–413, 2022. doi: 10.1038/d41586-022-01341-7.
- 184. **CDC.** COVID-19 Death Data and Resources National Vital Statistics System [Online]. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/covid-19.htm [9 May 2022].
- 185. NIH. Clinical Spectrum | COVID-19 Treatment Guidelines. 2021. https://www.covid19treatmentguidelines.nih.gov/overview/clinical-spectrum/ [9 June 2021]
- 186. Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Krüger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S, Schiergens TS, Herrler G, Wu N-H, Nitsche A, Müller MA, Drosten C, Pöhlmann S. SARS-CoV-2 Cell Entry Depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is Blocked by a Clinically Proven Protease Inhibitor. Cell 181: 271-280.e8, 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052.
- 187. Wu J, Deng W, Li S, Yang X. Advances in research on ACE2 as a receptor for 2019-nCoV. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 78 Springer Science and Business Media Deutschland GmbH: 531–544, 2021.
- 188. Hamming I, Timens W, Bulthuis MLC, Lely AT, Navis GJ, van Goor H. Tissue distribution of ACE2 protein, the functional receptor for SARS coronavirus. A first step in understanding SARS pathogenesis. J Pathol 203: 631– 7, 2004. doi: 10.1002/path.1570.
- 189. Mosleh W, Chen K, Pfau SE, Vashist A. Endotheliitis and Endothelial Dysfunction in Patients with COVID-19: Its Role in Thrombosis and Adverse Outcomes. J Clin Med 9: 1862, 2020. doi: 10.3390/jcm9061862.
- 190. Varga Z, Flammer AJ, Steiger P, Haberecker M, Andermatt R, Zinkernagel AS, Mehra MR, Schuepbach RA, Ruschitzka F, Moch H. Endothelial cell infection and endotheliitis in COVID-19. Lancet 395: 1417–1418, 2020. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30937-5.

- 191. Ackermann M, Verleden SE, Kuehnel M, Haverich A, Welte T, Laenger F, Vanstapel A, Werlein C, Stark H, Tzankov A, Li WW, Li VW, Mentzer SJ, Jonigk D. Pulmonary Vascular Endothelialitis, Thrombosis, and Angiogenesis in Covid-19. N Engl J Med 383: 120–128, 2020. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2015432.
- 192. Lei Y, Zhang J, Schiavon CR, He M, Chen L, Shen H, Zhang Y, Yin Q, Cho Y, Andrade L, Shadel GS, Hepokoski M, Lei T, Wang H, Zhang J, Yuan JX-J, Malhotra A, Manor U, Wang S, Yuan Z-Y, Shyy JYJ. SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein Impairs Endothelial Function via Downregulation of ACE 2. Circ Res 128: 1323–1326, 2021. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.318902.
- 193. Zipeto D, Palmeira J da F, Argañaraz GA, Argañaraz ER. ACE2/ADAM17/TMPRSS2 Interplay May Be the Main Risk Factor for COVID-19. Front Immunol 11: 576745, 2020. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.576745.
- 194. **Kuriakose J, Montezano AC, Touyz RM.** ACE2/Ang-(1-7)/Mas1 axis and the vascular system: Vasoprotection to COVID-19-associated vascular disease. Clin. Sci. 135 Portland Press Ltd: 387–407, 2021.
- 195. **Cook JR, Ausiello J.** Functional ACE2 deficiency leading to angiotensin imbalance in the pathophysiology of COVID-19. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 23: 151–170, 2022. doi: 10.1007/s11154-021-09663-z.
- 196. Silva RAP, Chu Y, Miller JD, Mitchell IJ, Penninger JM, Faraci FM, Heistad DD. Impact of ACE2 Deficiency and Oxidative Stress on Cerebrovascular Function With Aging. Stroke 43: 3358–3363, 2012. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.667063.
- 197. **Okamoto H, Ichikawa N.** The pivotal role of the angiotensin-II–NF-κB axis in the development of COVID-19 pathophysiology. Hypertens Res 44: 126–128, 2021. doi: 10.1038/s41440-020-00560-7.
- 198. **Trott DW, Fadel PJ.** Inflammation as a mediator of arterial ageing. Exp Physiol 104: 1455–1471, 2019. doi: 10.1113/EP087499.
- 199. **de Lang A, Osterhaus ADME, Haagmans BL.** Interferon-γ and interleukin-4 downregulate expression of the SARS coronavirus receptor ACE2 in Vero E6 cells. Virology 353: 474–481, 2006. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2006.06.011.
- 200. Oikonomou E, Souvaliotis N, Lampsas S, Siasos G, Poulakou G, Theofilis P, Papaioannou TG, Haidich A-B, Tsaousi G, Ntousopoulos V, Sakka V, Charalambous G, Rapti V, Raftopoulou S, Syrigos K, Tsioufis C, Tousoulis D, Vavuranakis M. Endothelial dysfunction in acute and long standing COVID-19: A prospective cohort study. Vascul Pharmacol 144: 106975, 2022. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2022.106975.
- 201. Heubel AD, Viana AA, Linares SN, Amaral VT, Schafauser NS, Oliveira GYO, Ramírez PC, Martinelli B, Silva Alexandre T, Borghi-Silva A, Ciolac EG, Mendes RG. Determinants of endothelial dysfunction in noncritically ill hospitalized COVID-19 patients: A cross-sectional study. Obesity 30: 165–171, 2022. doi: 10.1002/oby.23311.
- 202. Ratchford SM, Stickford JL, Province VM, Stute N, Augenreich MA, Koontz LK, Bobo LK, Stickford ASLL. Vascular alterations among young adults with

SARS-CoV-2. Am J Physiol - Hear Circ Physiol 320: H404–H410, 2021. doi: 10.1152/AJPHEART.00897.2020.

- 203. Jud P, Kessler HH, Brodmann M. Case Report: Changes of Vascular Reactivity and Arterial Stiffness in a Patient With Covid-19 Infection. Front Cardiovasc Med 8: 671669, 2021. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.671669.
- 204. Oliveira MR, Back GD, da Luz Goulart C, Domingos BC, Arena R, Borghi-Silva A. Endothelial function provides early prognostic information in patients with COVID-19: A cohort study. Respir Med 185: 106469, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2021.106469.
- 205. Sabioni L, De Lorenzo A, Lamas C, Muccillo F, Castro-Faria-Neto HC, Estato V, Tibirica E. Systemic microvascular endothelial dysfunction and disease severity in COVID-19 patients: Evaluation by laser Doppler perfusion monitoring and cytokine/chemokine analysis. Microvasc Res 134: 104119, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2020.104119.
- 206. Trinity JD, Craig JC, Fermoyle CC, McKenzie AI, Lewis MT, Park SH, Rondina MT, Richardson RS. Impact of presymptomatic COVID-19 on vascular and skeletal muscle function: a case study. J Appl Physiol 130: 1961– 1970, 2021. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00236.2021.
- 207. Mejia-Renteria H, Travieso A, Sagir A, Martínez-Gómez E, Carrascosa-Granada A, Toya T, Núñez-Gil IJ, Estrada V, Lerman A, Escaned J. In-vivo evidence of systemic endothelial vascular dysfunction in COVID-19. Int J Cardiol 345: 153–155, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2021.10.140.
- 208. Cristina-Oliveira M, Meireles K, Gil S, Cavalcante Assis F, Geber-Júnior JC, Shinjo SK, de Souza HP, Cruz Santana AN, Swinton PA, Drager LF, Gualano B, Roschel H, Peçanha T. Carotid intima-media thickness and flowmediated dilation do not predict acute in-hospital outcomes in patients hospitalized with COVID-19. Am J Physiol Circ Physiol 322: H906–H913, 2022. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00026.2022.
- 209. Klok FA, Kruip MJHA, van der Meer NJM, Arbous MS, Gommers DAMPJ, Kant KM, Kaptein FHJ, van Paassen J, Stals MAM, Huisman M V., Endeman H. Incidence of thrombotic complications in critically ill ICU patients with COVID-19. Thromb Res 191: 145–147, 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.013.
- Fifi JT, Mocco J. COVID-19 related stroke in young individuals. Lancet Neurol. 19 Lancet Publishing Group: 713–715, 2020.
- 211. Berekashvili K, Dmytriw AA, Vulkanov V, Agarwal S, Khaneja A, Nandakumar T, Liff J, Turkel-Parrella D, Farkas J, Zhou T, Frontera JA, Kahn DE, Kim S, Humbert KA, Sanger MD, Yaghi S, Lord AS, Arcot KM, Tiwari A. Etiologic subtypes of ischemic stroke in SARS-COV-2 virus patients in a cohort of New York city hospitals. medRxiv: 2020.
- 212. Tsivgoulis G, Palaiodimou L, Zand R, Lioutas VA, Krogias C, Katsanos AH, Shoamanesh A, Sharma VK, Shahjouei S, Baracchini C, Vlachopoulos C, Gournellis R, Sfikakis PP, Sandset EC, Alexandrov A V, Tsiodras S. COVID-

19 and cerebrovascular diseases: a comprehensive overview. Ther Adv Neurol Disord 13: 1756286420978004, 2020. doi: 10.1177/1756286420978004.

- 213. Hernández-Fernández F, Sandoval Valencia H, Barbella-Aponte RA, Collado-Jiménez R, Ayo-Martín Ó, Barrena C, Molina-Nuevo JD, García-García J, Lozano-Setién E, Alcahut-Rodriguez C, Martínez-Martín Á, Sánchez-López A, Segura T. Cerebrovascular disease in patients with COVID-19: neuroimaging, histological and clinical description. Brain 143: 3089–3103, 2020. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa239.
- 214. Sonkaya AR, Öztrk B, Karadaş Ö. Cerebral hemodynamic alterations in patients with Covid-19. Turkish J Med Sci 51: 435–439, 2021. doi: 10.3906/sag-2006-203.
- 215. Jain S, Khera R, Corrales–Medina VF, Townsend RR, Chirinos JA.
 "Inflammation and arterial stiffness in humans." Atherosclerosis 237: 381–390, 2014. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.09.011.
- 216. Vlachopoulos C, Dima I, Aznaouridis K, Vasiliadou C, Ioakeimidis N, Aggeli C, Toutouza M, Stefanadis C. Acute Systemic Inflammation Increases Arterial Stiffness and Decreases Wave Reflections in Healthy Individuals. Circulation 112: 2193–2200, 2005. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.535435.
- 217. Schnaubelt S, Oppenauer J, Tihanyi D, Mueller M, Maldonado-Gonzalez E, Zejnilovic S, Haslacher H, Perkmann T, Strassl R, Anders S, Stefenelli T, Zehetmayer S, Koppensteiner R, Domanovits H, Schlager O. Arterial stiffness in acute COVID-19 and potential associations with clinical outcome. J Intern Med 290: 437–443, 2021. doi: 10.1111/joim.13275.
- 218. Kumar S, Singh V, Kumar A, Kumar A, Singh PK, Bhushan D, Kumar N, Kumar A. The COSEVAST Study Outcome: Evidence of COVID-19 Severity Proportionate to Surge in Arterial Stiffness. Indian J Crit Care Med 25: 1113– 1119, 2021. doi: 10.5005/jp-journals-10071-24000.
- 219. Szeghy RE, Province VM, Stute NL, Augenreich MA, Koontz LK, Stickford JL, Stickford ASL, Ratchford SM. Carotid stiffness, intima-media thickness and aortic augmentation index among adults with SARS-CoV-2. Exp Physiol1–14, 2021. doi:10.1113/EP089481.
- 220. Gao Y-P, Zhou W, Huang P-N, Liu H-Y, Bi X-J, Zhu Y, Sun J, Tang Q-Y, Li L, Zhang J, Zhu W-H, Cheng X-Q, Liu Y-N, Deng Y-B. Persistent Endothelial Dysfunction in Coronavirus Disease-2019 Survivors Late After Recovery. Front Med 9: 92, 2022. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.809033.
- 221. Zanoli L, Gaudio A, Mikhailidis DP, Katsiki N, Castellino N, Lo Cicero L, Geraci G, Sessa C, Fiorito L, Marino F, Antonietta Di Rosolini M, Colaci M, Longo A, Montineri A, Malatino L, Castellino P, Aparo P, Arena A, Barchitta M, Castelletti F, Di Noto M, Di Pino A, Giarrusso O, Isaia I, Lentini P, Magnano San Lio P, Manuele R, Marino E, Morale W, Sciuto A, Scuto SS, Xourafa A, Zocco S. Vascular Dysfunction of COVID-19 Is Partially Reverted in the Long-Term. Circ Res 130: 1276–1285, 2022. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.320460.

- 222. Jud P, Gressenberger P, Muster V, Avian A, Meinitzer A, Strohmaier H, Sourij H, Raggam RB, Stradner MH, Demel U, Kessler HH, Eller K, Brodmann M. Evaluation of Endothelial Dysfunction and Inflammatory Vasculopathy After SARS-CoV-2 Infection—A Cross-Sectional Study. Front Cardiovasc Med 8: 1310, 2021. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.750887.
- 223. Lambadiari V, Mitrakou A, Kountouri A, Thymis J, Katogiannis K, Korakas E, Varlamos C, Andreadou I, Tsoumani M, Triantafyllidi H, Bamias A, Thomas K, Kazakou P, Grigoropoulou S, Kavatha D, Antoniadou A, Dimopoulos M, Ikonomidis I. Association of COVID-19 with impaired endothelial glycocalyx, vascular function and myocardial deformation 4 months after infection. Eur J Heart Fail 23: 1916–1926, 2021. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.2326.
- 224. Santoro L, Falsetti L, Zaccone V, Nesci A, Tosato M, Giupponi B, Savastano MC, Moroncini G, Gasbarrini A, Landi F, Santoliquido A, On Behalf Of Gemelli Against Covid-Post-Acute Care Study Group. Impaired Endothelial Function in Convalescent Phase of COVID-19: A 3 Month Follow Up Observational Prospective Study. J Clin Med 11: 1774, 2022. doi: 10.3390/jcm11071774.
- 225. Ambrosino P, Calcaterra I, Molino A, Moretta P, Lupoli R, Spedicato GA, Papa A, Motta A, Maniscalco M, Di Minno MND. Persistent Endothelial Dysfunction in Post-Acute COVID-19 Syndrome: A Case-Control Study. Biomedicines 9: 957, 2021. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines9080957.
- 226. Riou M, Oulehri W, Momas C, Rouyer O, Lebourg F, Meyer A, Enache I, Pistea C, Charloux A, Marcot C, de Blay F, Collange O, Mertes M, Andrès E, Talha S, Geny B. Reduced Flow-Mediated Dilatation Is Not Related to COVID-19 Severity Three Months after Hospitalization for SARS-CoV-2 Infection. J Clin Med 10: 1318, 2021. doi: 10.3390/jcm10061318.
- 227. Haffke M, Freitag H, Rudolf G, Seifert M, Doehner W, Scherbakov N, Hanitsch L, Wittke K, Bauer S, Konietschke F, Paul F, Bellmann-Strobl J, Kedor C, Scheibenbogen C, Sotzny F. Endothelial dysfunction and altered endothelial biomarkers in patients with post-COVID-19 syndrome and chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS). J Transl Med 20: 138, 2022. doi: 10.1186/s12967-022-03346-2.
- 228. Chioh FW, Fong SW, Young BE, Wu KX, Siau A, Krishnan S, Chan YH, Carissimo G, Teo LL, Gao F, Tan RS, Zhong L, Koh AS, Tan SY, Tambyah PA, Renia L, Ng LF, Lye DC, Cheung C. Convalescent covid-19 patients are susceptible to endothelial dysfunction due to persistent immune activation. Elife 10, 2021. doi: 10.7554/eLife.64909.
- 229. Fogarty H, Townsend L, Morrin H, Ahmad A, Comerford C, Karampini E, Englert H, Byrne M, Bergin C, O'Sullivan JM, Martin-Loeches I, Nadarajan P, Bannan C, Mallon PW, Curley GF, Preston RJS, Rehill AM, McGonagle D, Ni Cheallaigh C, Baker RI, Renné T, Ward SE, O'Donnell JS, O'Connell N, Ryan K, Kenny D, Fazavana J. Persistent endotheliopathy in the pathogenesis of long COVID syndrome. J Thromb Haemost 19: 2546–2553, 2021. doi: 10.1111/jth.15490.

- 230. Abdo-Cuza AA, Hall-Smith C, Suárez-López J, Castellanos-Gutiérrez R, Blanco-González MÁ, Machado-Martínez R, Pi-Ávila J, Gómez-Peire F, Espinosa-Nodarse N, López-González JC. Cerebral Hemodynamic Reserve Abnormalities Detected Via Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound in Recovered COVID-19 Patients. MEDICC Rev 24: 28, 2021. doi: 10.37757/MR2022.V24.N1.3.
- 231. Marcic M, Marcic L, Marcic B, Capkun V, Vukojevic K. Cerebral Vasoreactivity Evaluated by Transcranial Color Doppler and Breath-Holding Test in Patients after SARS-CoV-2 Infection. J Pers Med 11: 379, 2021. doi: 10.3390/jpm11050379.
- 232. **Dillon GA, Wolf ST, Alexander LM.** Nitric oxide-mediated cutaneous microvascular function is not altered in young adults following mild-to-moderate SARS CoV-2 infection. Am J Physiol Circ Physiol 322: H319–H327, 2022. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00602.2021.
- 233. Szeghy RE, Stute NL, Province VM, Augenreich MA, Stickford JL, Stickford ASL, Ratchford SM. Six-month longitudinal tracking of arterial stiffness and blood pressure in young adults following SARS-CoV-2 infection. J Appl Physiol 132: 1297–1309, 2022. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00793.2021.
- 234. Ikonomidis I, Lambadiari V, Mitrakou A, Kountouri A, Katogiannis K, Thymis J, Korakas E, Pavlidis G, Kazakou P, Panagopoulos G, Andreadou I, Chania C, Raptis A, Bamias A, Thomas K, Kazakou P, Grigoropoulou S, Kavatha D, Antoniadou A, Dimopoulos MA, Filippatos G. Myocardial work and vascular dysfunction are partially improved at 12 months after COVID-19 infection. European journal of heart failure 24.4: 727-729, 2022.
- 235. Akpek M. Does COVID-19 Cause Hypertension? Angiology 0: 000331972110539, 2021. doi: 10.1177/00033197211053903.
- 236. Wasim D, Alme B, Jordal S, Lind Eagan TM, Tadic M, Mancia G, Guttormsen AB, Saeed S. Characteristics of 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in a COVID-19 survivor. Future Cardiol 17: 1321–1326, 2021. doi: 10.2217/fca-2020-0235.
- 237. Townsend L, Moloney D, Finucane C, McCarthy K, Bergin C, Bannan C, Kenny R-A. Fatigue following COVID-19 infection is not associated with autonomic dysfunction. PLoS One 16: e0247280, 2021. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0247280.
- 238. Lam MH-B. Mental Morbidities and Chronic Fatigue in Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Survivors. Arch Intern Med 169: 2142, 2009. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2009.384.
- 239. Ngai JC, Ko FW, Ng SS, To K-W, Tong M, Hui DS. The long-term impact of severe acute respiratory syndrome on pulmonary function, exercise capacity and health status. Respirology 15: 543–50, 2010. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1843.2010.01720.x.
- 240. Lee SH, Shin H-S, Park HY, Kim JL, Lee JJ, Lee H, Won S-D, Han W. Depression as a Mediator of Chronic Fatigue and Post-Traumatic Stress

Symptoms in Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Survivors. Psychiatry Investig 16: 59–64, 2019. doi: 10.30773/pi.2018.10.22.3.

- 241. **Moldofsky H, Patcai J.** Chronic widespread musculoskeletal pain, fatigue, depression and disordered sleep in chronic post-SARS syndrome; a case-controlled study. BMC Neurol 11: 1–7, 2011. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-11-37.
- Long COVID or Post-COVID Conditions | CDC [Online]. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/long-term-effects/index.html [20 May 2022].
- 243. World Health Organization. A clinical case definition of post COVID-19 condition by a Delphi consensus, 6 October 2021. 2021.
- 244. **Pavli A, Theodoridou M, Maltezou HC.** Post-COVID Syndrome: Incidence, Clinical Spectrum, and Challenges for Primary Healthcare Professionals. Arch Med Res 52: 575–581, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2021.03.010.
- 245. Chen C, Haupert SR, Zimmermann L, Shi X, Fritsche LG, Mukherjee B. Global Prevalence of Post-Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Condition or Long COVID: A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 2022..
- 246. O'Keefe JB, Minton HC, Morrow M, Johnson C, Moore MA, O'Keefe GAD, Benameur K, Higdon J, Fairley JK. Postacute Sequelae of SARS-CoV-2 Infection and Impact on Quality of Life 1–6 Months After Illness and Association With Initial Symptom Severity. Open Forum Infect Dis 8, 2021. doi: 10.1093/ofid/ofab352.
- 247. **Yong SJ.** Long COVID or post-COVID-19 syndrome: putative pathophysiology, risk factors, and treatments. Infect Dis (Auckl) 53: 737–754, 2021. doi: 10.1080/23744235.2021.1924397.
- 248. Serviente C, Decker ST, Layec G. From heart to muscle: pathophysiological mechanisms underlying long-term physical sequelae from SARS-CoV-2 infection. J Appl Physiol 132: 581–592, 2022. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00734.2021.
- 249. Martínez-Salazar B, Holwerda M, Stüdle C, Piragyte I, Mercader N, Engelhardt B, Rieben R, Döring Y. COVID-19 and the Vasculature: Current Aspects and Long-Term Consequences. Front Cell Dev Biol 10: 1–23, 2022. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2022.824851.
- 250. Hickie I, Davenport T, Wakefield D, Vollmer-Conna U, Cameron B, Vernon SD, Reeves WC, Lloyd A, Dubbo Infection Outcomes Study Group. Post-infective and chronic fatigue syndromes precipitated by viral and non-viral pathogens: prospective cohort study. BMJ 333: 575, 2006. doi: 10.1136/bmj.38933.585764.AE.
- 251. Scherbakov N, Szklarski M, Hartwig J, Sotzny F, Lorenz S, Meyer A, Grabowski P, Doehner W, Scheibenbogen C. Peripheral endothelial dysfunction in myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome. ESC Hear Fail 7: 1064–1071, 2020. doi: 10.1002/ehf2.12633.
- 252. Kedor C, Freitag H, Meyer-Arndt L, Wittke K, Zoller T, Steinbeis F, Haffke M, Rudolf G, Heidecker B, Volk H, Skurk C, Paul F, Bellmann-Strobl J,

Scheibenbogen C. Chronic COVID-19 Syndrome and Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS) following the first pandemic wave in Germany – a first analysis of a prospective observational study. MedRxiv, 2021.

- Liu LD, Duricka DL. Stellate ganglion block reduces symptoms of Long COVID: A case series. J Neuroimmunol 362: 577784, 2022. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577784.
- 254. Kang C-K, Oh S-T, Chung RK, Lee H, Park C-A, Kim Y-B, Yoo JH, Kim DY, Cho Z-H. Effect of stellate ganglion block on the cerebrovascular system: magnetic resonance angiography study. Anesthesiology 113: 936–44, 2010. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e3181ec63f5.
- 255. **CDC.** CDC COVID Data Tracker [Online]. Centers Dis. Control Prev.: 7–11, 2020. https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/#datatracker-home [25 Jun. 2021].
- 256. Nalbandian A, Sehgal K, Gupta A, Madhavan M V., McGroder C, Stevens JS, Cook JR, Nordvig AS, Shalev D, Sehrawat TS, Ahluwalia N, Bikdeli B, Dietz D, Der-Nigoghossian C, Liyanage-Don N, Rosner GF, Bernstein EJ, Mohan S, Beckley AA, Seres DS, Choueiri TK, Uriel N, Ausiello JC, Accili D, Freedberg DE, Baldwin M, Schwartz A, Brodie D, Garcia CK, Elkind MSV V, Connors JM, Bilezikian JP, Landry DW, Wan EY, Madhavan VM, McGroder C, Stevens JS, Cook JR, Nordvig AS, Shalev D, Sehrawat TS, Ahluwalia N, Bikdeli B, Dietz D, Der-Nigoghossian C, Liyanage-Don N, Rosner GF, Bernstein EJ, Mohan S, Beckley AA, Seres DS, Choueiri TK, Uriel N, Ausiello JC, Accili D, Freedberg DE, Baldwin M, Schwartz A, Brodie D, Garcia CK, Elkind MSV V, Connors JM, Bilezikian JP, Landry DW, Wan EY. Post-acute COVID-19 syndrome. Nat Med 27: 601–615, 2021. doi: 10.1038/s41591-021-01283-z.
- 257. Graham EL, Clark JR, Orban ZS, Lim PH, Szymanski AL, Taylor C, DiBiase RM, Jia DT, Balabanov R, Ho SU, Batra A, Liotta EM, Koralnik IJ. Persistent neurologic symptoms and cognitive dysfunction in non-hospitalized Covid-19 "long haulers." Ann Clin Transl Neurol 8: 1073–1085, 2021. doi: 10.1002/acn3.51350.
- 258. Stephens BY, Kaur J, Vranish JR, Barbosa TC, Blankenship JK, Smith SA, Fadel PJ. Effect of acute high-phosphate intake on muscle metaboreflex activation and Vascular function. Am J Physiol - Hear Circ Physiol 317: H308– H314, 2019. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00082.2019.
- 259. Claassen JAHR, Zhang R, Fu Q, Witkowski S, Levine BD. Transcranial Doppler estimation of cerebral blood flow and cerebrovascular conductance during modified rebreathing. J Appl Physiol 102: 870–877, 2007. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00906.2006.
- 260. de Melo GD, Lazarini F, Levallois S, Hautefort C, Michel V, Larrous F, Verillaud B, Aparicio C, Wagner S, Gheusi G, Kergoat L, Kornobis E, Donati F, Cokelaer T, Hervochon R, Madec Y, Roze E, Salmon D, Bourhy H, Lecuit M, Lledo P-M. COVID-19–related anosmia is associated with viral persistence and inflammation in human olfactory epithelium and brain infection in hamsters. Sci Transl Med 13: eabf8396, 2021. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abf8396.

- 261. Marchesi S, Lupattelli G, Lombardini R, Sensini A, Siepi D, Mannarino M, Vaudo G, Mannarino E. Acute inflammatory state during influenza infection and endothelial function. Atherosclerosis 178: 345–350, 2005. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2004.08.036.
- 262. Hingorani AD, Cross J, Kharbanda RK, Mullen MJ, Bhagat K, Taylor M, Donald AE, Palacios M, Griffin GE, Deanfield JE, MacAllister RJ, Vallance P. Acute systemic inflammation impairs endothelium-dependent dilatation in humans. Circulation 102: 994–999, 2000. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.102.9.994.
- 263. Lavine JS, Bjornstad ON, Antia R. Immunological characteristics govern the transition of COVID-19 to endemicity. Science (80-) 371: 741–745, 2021. doi: 10.1126/science.abe6522.
- 264. CDC. COVID-19 Hospitalization and Death by Age Hospitalization and Death by Age Rate ratios compared to 18-29 year olds. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigationsdiscovery/hospitalization-death-by-age.html
- 265. Nandadeva D, Young BE, Stephens BY, Grotle A-K, Skow RJ, Middleton AJ, Haseltine FP, Fadel PJ. Blunted peripheral but not cerebral vasodilator function in young otherwise healthy adults with persistent symptoms following COVID-19. Am J Physiol Circ Physiol 321: H479–H484, 2021. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00368.2021.
- 266. Stute NL, Stickford JL, Province VM, Augenreich MA, Ratchford SM, Stickford ASL. COVID-19 is getting on our nerves: sympathetic neural activity and haemodynamics in young adults recovering from SARS-CoV-2. J Physiol 599: 4269–4285, 2021. doi: 10.1113/JP281888.
- 267. **Hagströmer M, Oja P, Sjöström M.** The International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ): a study of concurrent and construct validity. Public Health Nutr 9: 755–762, 2006. doi: 10.1079/PHN2005898.
- 268. Wilkinson IB, Fuchs SA, Jansen IM, Spratt JC, Murray GD, Cockcroft JR, Webb DJ. Reproducibility of pulse wave velocity and augmentation index measured by pulse wave analysis. J Hypertens 16, 1998.
- 269. Parati G, Stergiou G, O'Brien E, Asmar R, Beilin L, Bilo G, Clement D, De La Sierra A, De Leeuw P, Dolan E, Fagard R, Graves J, Head GA, Imai Y, Kario K, Lurbe E, Mallion JM, Mancia G, Mengden T, Myers M, Ogedegbe G, Ohkubo T, Omboni S, Palatini P, Redon J, Ruilope LM, Shennan A, Staessen JA, Van Montfrans G, Verdecchia P, Waeber B, Wang J, Zanchetti A, Zhang Y. European society of hypertension practice guidelines for ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. J Hypertens 32: 1359–1366, 2014. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0000000000221.
- 270. **Bloomfield D, Park A.** Night time blood pressure dip. World J Cardiol 7: 373, 2015. doi: 10.4330/WJC.V7.I7.373.
- 271. Bilo G, Giglio A, Styczkiewicz K, Caldara G, Maronati A, Kawecka-Jaszcz K, Mancia G, Parati G. A new method for assessing 24-h blood pressure variability after excluding the contribution of nocturnal blood pressure fall. J Hypertens 25: 2058–2066, 2007. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e32829c6a60.

- 272. **Mena L, Pintos S, Queipo N V, Aizpúrua JA, Maestre G, Sulbarán T.** A reliable index for the prognostic significance of blood pressure variability. J Hypertens 23: 505–511, 2005. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000160205.81652.5a.
- 273. Laurent S, Boutouyrie P. The Structural Factor of Hypertension. Circ Res 116: 1007–1021, 2015. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303596.
- 274. Chen G, Li X, Gong Z, Xia H, Wang Y, Wang X, Huang Y, Barajas-Martinez H, Hu D. Hypertension as a sequela in patients of SARS-CoV-2 infection. PLoS One 16: e0250815, 2021. doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0250815.
- 275. Amraei R, Rahimi N. COVID-19, Renin-Angiotensin System and Endothelial Dysfunction. Cells 9: 1652, 2020. doi: 10.3390/cells9071652.
- 276. **Sivan M, Parkin A, Makower S, Greenwood DC.** Post-COVID syndrome symptoms, functional disability, and clinical severity phenotypes in hospitalized and nonhospitalized individuals: A cross-sectional evaluation from a community COVID rehabilitation service. J Med Virol 94: 1419–1427, 2022. doi: 10.1002/jmv.27456.
- 277. Al-Aly Z, Bowe B, Xie Y. Long COVID after breakthrough SARS-CoV-2 infection. Nature Medicine. 1-7, 2022.
- 278. Nandadeva D, Skow RJ, Grotle A-K, Stephens BY, Young BE, Fadel PJ. Impact of COVID-19 on Ambulatory Blood Pressure in Young Adults: A Crosssectional Analysis Investigating Time Since Diagnosis. ournal of Applied Physiology. 2022.
- 279. Davis HE, Assaf GS, McCorkell L, Wei H, Low RJ, Re'em Y, Redfield S, Austin JP, Akrami A. Characterizing long COVID in an international cohort: 7 months of symptoms and their impact. eClinicalMedicine 38, 2021. doi: 10.1101/2020.12.24.20248802.
- 280. Bassett DR, Troiano RP, Mcclain JJ, Wolff DL. Accelerometer-based Physical Activity. Med Sci Sport Exerc 47: 833–838, 2015. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000468.
- 281. Haley SM, Jette AM, Coster WJ, Kooyoomjian JT, Levenson S, Heeren T, Ashba J. Late Life Function and Disability Instrument: II. Development and Evaluation of the Function Component. Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci 57: M217–M222, 2002. doi: 10.1093/gerona/57.4.M217.
- 282. Ware J, Kosinski M, Keller SD. A 12-Item Short-Form Health Survey: construction of scales and preliminary tests of reliability and validity. Med Care 34: 220–33, 1996. doi: 10.1097/00005650-199603000-00003.
- 283. Ware JE, Ware J, Turner-Bowker DM. How to score SF-12 items Estimation of medical care total expenditures View project SEE PROFILE. 2002.
- 284. **Ocon AJ.** Caught in the thickness of brain fog: exploring the cognitive symptoms of Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. Front Physiol 4: 63, 2013. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2013.00063.
- 285. **Proal AD, VanElzakker MB.** Long COVID or Post-acute Sequelae of COVID-19 (PASC): An Overview of Biological Factors That May Contribute to Persistent Symptoms. Front Microbiol 12: 698169, 2021. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2021.698169.

- 286. Shouman K, Vanichkachorn G, Cheshire WP, Suarez MD, Shelly S, Lamotte GJ, Sandroni P, Benarroch EE, Berini SE, Cutsforth-Gregory JK, Coon EA, Mauermann ML, Low PA, Singer W. Autonomic dysfunction following COVID-19 infection: an early experience. Clin Auton Res 1: 3, 2021. doi: 10.1007/s10286-021-00803-8.
- 287. Johansson M, Ståhlberg M, Runold M, Nygren-Bonnier M, Nilsson J, Olshansky B, Bruchfeld J, Fedorowski A. Long-Haul Post-COVID-19 Symptoms Presenting as a Variant of Postural Orthostatic Tachycardia Syndrome: The Swedish Experience. JACC Case reports 3: 573–580, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.jaccas.2021.01.009.
- 288. **Desai AD, Boursiquot BC, Moore CJ, Gopinathannair R, Waase MP, Rubin GA, Wan EY.** Autonomic dysfunction post–acute COVID-19 infection. Heartrhythm Case Reports 8: 143–146, 2022. doi: 10.1016/j.hrcr.2021.11.019.
- 289. Aranyó J, Bazan V, Lladós G, Dominguez MJ, Bisbal F, Massanella M, Sarrias A, Adeliño R, Riverola A, Paredes R, Clotet B, Bayés-Genís A, Mateu L, Villuendas R. Inappropriate sinus tachycardia in post-COVID-19 syndrome. Sci Rep 12: 298, 2022. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-03831-6.
- 290. Skow RJ, Nandadeva D, Grotle A-K, Stephens BY, Wright AN, Fadel PJ. Impact of breakthrough COVID-19 cases during the omicron wave on vascular health and cardiac autonomic function in young adults. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 323: H59–H64, 2022. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00189.2022.
- 291. Wang X, Huang K, Jiang H, Hua L, Yu W, Ding D, Wang K, Li X, Zou Z, Jin M, Xu S. Long-Term Existence of SARS-CoV-2 in COVID-19 Patients: Host Immunity, Viral Virulence, and Transmissibility. Virol Sin 35: 793–802, 2020. doi: 10.1007/s12250-020-00308-0.
- 292. Vibholm LK, Nielsen SSF, Pahus MH, Frattari GS, Olesen R, Andersen R, Monrad I, Andersen AHF, Thomsen MM, Konrad C V., Andersen SD, Højen JF, Gunst JD, Østergaard L, Søgaard OS, Schleimann MH, Tolstrup M. SARS-CoV-2 persistence is associated with antigen-specific CD8 T-cell responses. EBioMedicine 64: 103230, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103230.
- 293. Swank Z, Senussi Y, Alter G, Walt DR. Persistent circulating SARS-CoV-2 spike is associated with post-acute COVID-19 sequelae. medRxiv, 2022.
- 294. Phetsouphanh C, Darley DR, Wilson DB, Howe A, Munier CML, Patel SK, Juno JA, Burrell LM, Kent SJ, Dore GJ, Kelleher AD, Matthews G V. Immunological dysfunction persists for 8 months following initial mild-tomoderate SARS-CoV-2 infection. Nat Immunol 2022 232 23: 210–216, 2022. doi: 10.1038/s41590-021-01113-x.
- 295. **Patrick DM, Van Beusecum JP, Kirabo A.** The role of inflammation in hypertension: novel concepts. Curr Opin Physiol 19: 92–98, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.cophys.2020.09.016.
- 296. Steven S, Frenis K, Oelze M, Kalinovic S, Kuntic M, Bayo Jimenez MT, Vujacic-Mirski K, Helmstädter J, Kröller-Schön S, Münzel T, Daiber A. Vascular Inflammation and Oxidative Stress: Major Triggers for Cardiovascular

Disease. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2019: 7092151, 2019. doi: 10.1155/2019/7092151.

- 297. Marques KC, Silva CC, Trindade S da S, Santos MC de S, Rocha RSB, Vasconcelos PF da C, Quaresma JAS, Falcão LFM. Reduction of Cardiac Autonomic Modulation and Increased Sympathetic Activity by Heart Rate Variability in Patients With Long COVID. Front Cardiovasc Med 9: 1046, 2022. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.862001.
- 298. Acanfora D, Nolano M, Acanfora C, Colella C, Provitera V, Caporaso G, Rodolico GR, Bortone AS, Galasso G, Casucci G. Impaired Vagal Activity in Long-COVID-19 Patients. Viruses 14: 1035, 2022. doi: 10.3390/v14051035.
- 299. Buoite Stella A, Furlanis G, Frezza NA, Valentinotti R, Ajcevic M, Manganotti P. Autonomic dysfunction in post-COVID patients with and witfhout neurological symptoms: a prospective multidomain observational study. J Neurol 1: 1–10, 2021. doi: 10.1007/s00415-021-10735-y.